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Mark T. Bertolini 
Chairman, Chief Executive 
Officer and President 

Last year, Aetna built a sound foundation for the evolving health c.are industry. Starting with our 
expertise in health benefits solutions and hea~th information technology, we added new 
relationships, new technology solutions, and new capabilities to chart a path that we believe will 
lead to better health care systems in the United States and around the globe. 

In the U.S., we fundamentally believe the American health c~e system needs reform. Much of the 
public and political dialogue has been focused on access to care. However, achieving reform that 
fully addresses access, cost and quality will be a journey that extends well beyond any one piece of 
legislation. We believe the most fundamental flaw to be addressed is that our current system pays 
health care providers according to activity, rather than the quality o~ result of care delivered. This 
payment model chjyes health care. cost_s higher than nece.ssary, witho~t providing any clear 

. advantage.in terms. of quality. As such, quality and affordability are at the top of our list of reform 
goals. · 

We believe Accountable Care Organizations, where health care providers are incented to help 
people get and stay healthy, are the future of the provider and health'plan relationship. In 2011, we 
built our own Accountable Care Solutions business to bring the full power of our investments in 
technology and our intellectual property to the task of working with health care providers to form 
and maintain market-leading Accountable Care Organizations. With each Accountable Care 
Organization, we move further down.the path toward changing the way health care is delivered, 
and improving quality and affordability of care. 

The solutions we are developing to improve the quality and affordability ofh~alth care in the U.S. 
will be valuable in the global marketplace. Nations around the world are looking for more 
efficient ways to provide care and to do s9 with tighter budgets. As a global neighbor and industry 
leader, we are active in formulating public policies that will influence economies and health care 
systems in ways that can benefit generations to come. 

Making quality health care more affordable, accessible and easy to use for people around the globe 
is a worthy and attainable caµse . We believe.the health information technologies we are 
developing will help nations, physician.s, and consumers use the heal¢ care system in smarter and 
simpler ways that will improve choice and affordability. In return, our customers gain greater 
value for their health care dollar and access to higher quality care. 



Exhibit 9-D Aetila's 2011 Annual Report to . Shareholders (including 
audited consolidated Financial Statements . and the. 
independent auditors' report thereon). 



. ·. . . 

2011 
. . . . ·. 

Aetna Annual Report, 
Financial ·Report to Shareh·oiders 



I am confident that the opportunities ahead of us will create greater value for our stakeholders, 
relevant solutions for our customers, and a chance for our employees to help make the world a 
healthier place. 

Mark T. Bertolini 
April 2012 

Note: As we have done in recent years, in an effort t~ conserve e~vi~onment~I reso~rces, our 
traditional summary Annual Report will be available in an online format. Please visit 
www.aetna.com/2011annualreport to learn how we are providing consumers with the connections 
they need to access the right care at the right time. The summary Annual Report is not part of any 
proxy solicitation and is not incorporated by reference in any Aetna proxy materials. 



2011 Aetna Annual Report, Financial Report to Shareholders 

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the terms we, our, or. us, used throughout this 2011 Annual 
.Reporl. Finrmcial Report to Shareholders (the "Annual Report") refer to Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) 
("Aema ") and its subsidiaries. 

I 

For your reference, we provide the following index to the Annual Report: 
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Description · · · · 

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
("MD&A") The MD&A provides a review of our operating results for the years 2009 through 2011, as 
well as our fmancial condition at December 31, 2011and2010. The MD&A should be read iri 
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. The MD&A is comprised of the 
following: 

Overview - We begin o~r MD&A with an overview of earnings. cash jlo.ws and significant 
developments.for the last three years and our outlook for 2012. 

Health Carl! - We discuss the factors affecting Health Care revenues and operating earnings in this 
section. 

Group Insurance - We discuss the factors affecting Group Insurance revenues and operating earnings 
. in this section. . 

Large Case PensiOns - We_ discuss the factors affecting Large Case Pensions operating earnings, 
including the results of our discontinued products, in this section. · 

Investments - As an insurer, we have a significant investment portfolio to support our liabilities and 
capital. In this section, we diScuss our investments and realized capital gains and losses and describe 
our evaluation of the risk of our market-sensitive instruments. · 

Liquidity and Capital Resources - In this section, we discuss our cash flows, financing resources. 
contractual obligation~ and other matters that may affect our liquidity and cash flows. 

Critical Accounting Estimates ~ In this section, we discuss the accounting estimates we consider 
· critical in preparing our financial statements. 

Regulatory E1Zvironment- In this section, we discuss the regulatory environment in which we operate. 

Forward"Looking Information!Risk Factors - ·We condude our MD&A with a diScussion of certain 
risks and uncertainties that, if developed into actual events, could have a material adverse impact on 
our business, cash flows, financial condition and/or operating results. -, 

Selected Financial Data - We provide selected annual fma:ilcial data for the most recent five years. 

Consolidated Financial Statements - We include our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 201 ( 
and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each.-: 
of the years 2009 through 2011. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial State·ments 

Reports of Management aild our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm - We include a 
report on our responsibilities for internal control over financial reporiing and financial statements, the 
oversight of our Audit Committee and KPMG LLP's opinion on our consolidated financial statements and 
internal control over fuiancial reporting. · · · · · · · · · · · · 

Quarterly Data (unaudited) - We provide selected quarter1y financial data for each of the last eight 
quarters. 

Corporate Performance Graph - We provide a graph comparing the cumulative total shareholder return 
on our common stock to the cumulative total return on certain published indices for the years 2006 
through 2011. 

Board of Directors, Management and Corporate Secretary 

Shareholder Information 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") 

OVERVIEW 

We are one of the nation's leading diversified health care benefits companies, serving approximately 36.4 million 
people with information and resources to help them make better informed decisions about their health care. We 
offer a broad range of traditional and consumer-directed health insurance products and related services, including 
medical, pharmacy, dental, behavioral health, group life and disability plans, medical management capabilities, 
Medicaid health care management services and health information excti~ge technology services. Our customers 
include employer groups, individuals, college students, part-time and hourly ·workers, health plans, health care 
providers, governmental units, government-sponsored plans, labor groups and expatriates. Our operations are 
conducted in three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions, 

Summarized Results 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenue: 

Health Care s 31,254.0 $ 31,604.0 $ 32,073.3 

Group Insurance 2,025.6 2,118.6 2,143.0 

Large Case Pensions 50o.? 523.4 547.8 

Total revenue 33,779.8 . 34,246.0 34,764.1 

Net income· 1,985.7 1,766.8 1,276.5 

.Operating earnings: <ll 

Health Care 1,955.7 1,650.1 1,412.7 

Group Insurance 153.0 128.0 103.8 

Large Case Pensions 20.7" 27.8 32.2 

Cash flows from operations 2,507.8 1,412.1 2,488.3 

(I) Our discussion of operating results for our reportable business segments is based on operating earnings, which is a non-GAAP measure 
of net income (the term "GAAP" refers to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles). Refer to "Segment Results and Use ofNon­
GAAP Measures in this Document" beginning on page 5 for a discussion of non-GAAP measures. Refer to pages 7, I 0 and 11 for a 
reconciliation of operating earnings to net income for Health Care, Group insurance and Large Case Pensions, respectively. 

We analyze our operating results based on operating earnings, which excludes net realized capital gains and losses 
as well as other items from net income. Operating earnings for the past three years were primarily generated from 
our Health Care segment. This segment produced higher operating earnings in 2011than2010 and 2009. 

Operating earnings in 2011 were higher ·than 20 l 0 and 2009 primarily as a result of higher Commercial 
undeIWriting margins (calculated as premiums less heaJth care costs) in our Health <:;are segment. In 2011, 
underwriting margins in the Health Care segment were higher than 2010 primarily as a result oflow medical 
utiliz.ation, continued pricing discipline, medical cost management and unit cost controls. In 20 l 0, undeIWriting 
margins in the Health Care segment were higher than 2009 primarily due to higher Commercial underwriting 
margins, driven by management actions to appropriately price the business and members' lower medical utilization, 
partially offset by the effect of lower Commercial Insured membership in 2010. Our underwriting margins in 2011 
and 2010 included $207 million and $118 million, respectiveiy, of before tax favo.rable development of prior-years 
health care cost estimates. 

Total revenue declined during e<_tch of 2011 and 2010 when compared to the corresponding prior year primarily due 
to a decline iii Health Care premiilm as a result of lower Commercial Insured membership due primarily to lapsed 
customers and in-group attrition that exceeded new sales. During 2011, the decline in total revenue was partially 
offset by higher Health Care fees and other revenue, primarily as a result of our 2011 acqui.sitions. 

In 2011, our Health Care segment experienced lower medical Insured membership (where we assume all or a 
. majority of the risk for medical and dental care costs) and higher medical membership in our administrative. 
services contract ("ASC") products (where the plan sponsor assumes all or a majority of the risk for medical and 
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dental care costs). During 2011, membership for our dental products was flat, while membership for pharmacy 
benefit management services products decreased. At December 31, 2011, we served approximately 18.5 million 
medical members (consisting of approximately 31% Insured members and 69% ASC members), 13.7 million dental 
members and 8.8 million pharmacy benefit management services members. At December 31, 2010, we served 
approximately l 8.5 million medical members (consisting of approximately 32% Insured members and 68% ASC 
members), 13.7 million dental members and 9.4 million pharmacy benefit management services members. Refer to 
"Health Care - Membership" on page 9 for further information. 

During the past three years our cash flows supported. both n·ew and ongoing initiatives. 
We generated substantial cash_flows fyom our businesses in the past thiee years, which we used to support our 
growth strategies, repurchase our common stock and contribute to our pension pl~. 

We completed the acquisitions of Medi city Inc. ("Medicity"), Prodigy Health Group ("Prodigy"), Genworth 
Financial, lnc.'s (''Genworth") Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force business and PayFlex 
Holdings, Inc. ("PayFlex") in 2011, and Horizon Behavioral Services, LLC ("Horizon") in 2009. 

Horizon Behavioral Services, LLC 
In November 2009, we acquired Horizon, a leading provider of employee assistance programs, for 
approximately $70 million, net of cash acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of 

. approximately $56 million in .2009; of which $37 million will .be tax deductible.. · 

Medicity Inc. 
In January 2011, we acquired Medicity,. a health information exchange company, for approximately $490 
million, net of cash acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of approximately $385 
million, an immaterial amount of which will be tax deductible. This acqu.isition enables us to offer a set of 
convenient, easy-to-access technology solutions for physicians, hospitals and other health care providers. 

Prodigy Health Group 
In June 2011, we acquired Prodigy, a third-party administrator of self-funded health care plans, for 
approximately $600 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill related to this 
transaction of approximately $446 million; of which approximately $52 million will be tax deductible. 
Prodigy extends our capabilities in the third-party administrator business while providing a separate option 
under the Prodigy brands that. addresses affordability and quality for middle-sized and small businesses and, 
customers who are primarily price-focused. ::: 

Genworth Financial, Inc. s Medicare Supplement Business and Related Blocks of Jn-Force Business 
In October 2011, we .acquired Genworth's Medicare Supplement business and related bl9cks of in-force '• 
business for approximately $225 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded $52 million of : . 
goodwill related to this transaction. The excess of the purchase price over the fair market value of the net 
assets we acquired, including goodwill, is tax deductible as a result of the transaction being treated as an 
asset purchase for tax purposes. This acquisition brought members and enhances our capabilities to grow 

· ... · our Medicare Supplement business; which include access fo c(jmnicrdal retiiees·and 1'.·fodicare Prescription 
Drug Plan members, multi·channel distribution and our other product offerings. 

PayFlex Holdings, Inc. 
In October 2011, we acquired PayFl'ex, one of the nation's largest independent account-based health plan 
administrators, for approximately $200 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill 
related to this transaction of approximately $147 million, an immaterial amount of which will be tax 
deductible. Acquiring PayFlex extends our ability to provide members with flexible, customized, easy-to­
use tools and solutions to better manage their health care expenses. 

Refer to Notes 3 and 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on pages 74 and 77, respectively 
for ~dditional inf onnation. . · · 
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In 2011, 2010 and 2009, we repurchased approximately 45 million, 52 million and 29 million shares of our common 
stock at a cost of approximately $1.8 billion, $1.6 billion and $773 million, respectively, under share repurchase 
programs authorized by Aetna's Board of Directors (our "Board"). 

We have contributed to our tax-qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the "Aetna Pension Plan") 
in each of the past three years. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, we made voluntary cash contributions of$60 million, 
$505 million, and $45 million, respectively. We do not have any required contribution in 2012, although we may 
voluntarily contribute approximately $60 million to the Aetna Pension Plan in 2012. 

Voluntary Early Retirement Program 
In July 2011, we announced a voluntary early retirement program. In connection with the voluntary early 
retirement program, we recorded a one-time charge for enhanced severance and benefits of$89 million ($137 
million pretax) in the third quarter of 2011. 

Medicare Update 
On June 13, 201 l, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") lifted the intermediate sanctions it had 
previously imposed on us that required us to suspend the enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna 
Medicare Advantage and Standalone Prescription Drug Plan ("PDP") contracts. We have resumed marketing our 
Medicare Advantage and PDP products and have been enrolling beneficiaries with effective dates on and after July 
1, 2011. CMS still is not assigning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPs at this time. However, low 
income subsidy members can make their own choice to enroll in Aetna products. As a result of these sanctions, our 
2011 Medicare membership and operating results were adversely affected because we did not participate in the 
annual enrollment process for 2011. We continue to cooperate fully with CMS to address residual matters identified 
in cotUlection with the sanction review. 

Board of Directors Update 
Fernando Aguirre was appointed to our Board in July 2011, for a term that will run until our 2012 Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders. Mr. Aguirre is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Chiquita Brands International, Inc. He 
also serves on our Board's Audit Committee and Medical Affairs Conunittee. With the addition of Mr. Aguirre, our 
Boatd consists of thirteen directors. 

Management Update 
On February 25, 2011, the Board elected Mark T. Bertolini Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Board's 
Executive Committee, each effective April 8, 2011, upon the retirement of Ronald A. Williams, our previous 
executive Chairman. 

Health Care Reform Legislation 
In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health 
Care and Education Reconciliation Act of2010 (collectively, "Health Care Reform"), which makes broad-based 
changes to the U.S. health care system which could significantly affect the U.S. economy and has and will 
significantly impact our business operations and financial results, including our pricing and medical benefit 
ratios. Health Care Reform presents us with new business opportunities, but also with new financial and other 
challenges. It is reasonably possible that Health Care Refonn, in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect. 
on our business operations and financial results. 

Components of the legislation will be phased in over the next six years. We are dedicating and will continue to be 
required to dedicate material resources and incur material expenses during that time to implement. and comply with 
Health Care Reform as well as state level health care reform. While the federal government has issued a number of 
regulations implementing Health Care Reform, many significant parts of the legislation, including health insurance 
exchanges ("Insurance Exchanges"), premium rate review, the scope of "essential health benefits", employer 
penalties and the implementation of minimum medical loss ratios ("MLRs"), require further guidance and 
clarification at the federal level and/or in the form of regulations and actions by state legislatures to implement the 
law. As a result, many of the impacts of Health Care Reform will not be known for several years. Pending efforts 
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in ihe U.S. Congress to repeal, amend or restrict funding for various aspects of Health Care Reform, the pending 
litigation challenging the constitutionality of Health Care Refonn and the 2012 presidential election create 
:idciitional uncertainty about the ultimate impact of the legislation. 

Beginning in 2012, we will be required to make premium rebate payments to customers that are enrolled under 
certain of our health insurance policies if specific minimum annual MLRs are not met iii the prior year. Our results 
for full-year 2011 include an estimate of the minimum MLR rebates we will pay in 2012. . . .· . . . . ' 

In addition, during 2012 we expect to continue makirig coinpliii.nce-related investments, including approximately 
$50 million for Health Care Reform and .$40 million for expenses relating to implementing new standardized codes 
for describing health conditions ('.'ICD-IO"). 

For additional information on Heaith Care Reform, refer to "Regulatory Enviroilment" beginning o·n page 25 and 
"Forward-Looking Infonnation/Risk Factors" beginning on page 41. 

Outlook for 2012 
We expect to face continued external challenges in our business during 2012, including the adverse and uncertain 
economic environment, the implementation of Health Care Reform (including minim'l;Ull MLR rebates and 
increas"ed governmental premium raie review) and a cO'ntinued low interest'rate.enviroilinent for our investa'ie~ts. 
At the same time, we project that our total medical membership, particularly Commercial ASC membership, will 
decline in the first quarter of2012 compared to year-end 2011, and we project that medical cost trends will increase 
from their 2011 levels to more normal levels in 2012. We are seeking to offset these factors by pricing our products 
and services appropriately, managing our expenses, making strategic investments designed to diversify our revenue 
streams and position us for the future and effectively managing our capital. 

Our primary business goals for 2012 are to drive profitable growth and prepare Aetna for success in 2013 and 
beyond. 

Refer to "Forward-Looking Inforrilation/Risk Factors" begiru1ing on page 41 for information regarding qther . 
important factors that may cause our actuai results' to differ from those currently projected in ,;Outlook for 2012" 
and/or otherwise materially affect us. · 

Segment Results and Use ofNon-GAAP Measures in this Document .- · 
The following discussion of operating results is presented based on our reportable segments in accordance with the 
accounting guidance for segment reporting and consistent with our segment disclosure included in Note 19 of Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 108. Our operations are conducted in three business 
segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions. Our Corporate Financing segment is not a 
business segm-ent; it Is added to our business segments to reconcile our consolidated results. The Corporate 
Financing segment includes interest expense on om outstanding debt and the financing components of our pension 
and other postretitement benefit plans ("OPEB") expel).Se (the service costand prior ser\i'~ce cost components of this 
expense are allocated to our business segments). 

Our discussion of our operating results is based on operating ear:nings, which is tl_le measure reported to our Chief 
Executi\re Officer for pUiposes of assessing financial perfonnance and making operating decisions, such as 
allocating resources to each segment. Operating earnings exclude net realized capital gains or losses as well as 
olher items, if any, from net income reported in accordance with GAAP. We believe excluding net realized capital 
gains or losses from net income to arrive at operating earnings provides more meaningful informatiein about our 
underlying business performance. Net realized capital gains and losses arise from various types of transactions, 
primarily in the course of managing a portfolio of assets that support the payment of liabilities; however, these 
transactions do not directly relate to the underwriting or servicing of products for our customers and are not directly 
related to the core performance of our business operations. We also may exclude other' items that neither relate to 
the ordinary course of our business nor reflect our underlying business performance from net income to arrive at 

_ operating' earnings. In each segment discussion in this MD&A, we provide a table that reconciles operating 
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earnings to net income. Ea~h table details the net realized capital gains or losses and any other items excluded from 
net income, and the footnotes to each table describe the nature of each other item and why we beiieve it is 
appropriate to exclude that item from net income. 

HEALTHCARE 

Health Care consists of medical, pharmacy benefit management services, dental, behavioral health and vision plans 
offered on both an Insured basis and an ASC basis. Medical products include point-of-service ("POS"), preferred 
provider organization ("PPO~'), health maintenance organization ("Hl\110") and indemnity benefit plans. Medical 
products also in~lude health savings accounts ("HSAs") and Aetna HealthFund®, consumer-directed health plans 
that combine traditional POS or PPO and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit 
account. We also offer Medicare and Medicaid products and services, as well as specialty products, such <IS health 
information exchange technology services, medical management and data analytics services, medical stop loss 
insurance and products that provide access to our provider networks in select markets. We separately track 
premiums _and health care costs for Medicar:e and Medicaid produclc;; all other medical, dental and other Health 
Care products are referred to as Commercial. 

Operating Summary 

(Millions) 

Premiums: 

Commercial 

Medicare 

Medicaid 

Total premiums 

~ces and other revenue 

Net investment income 

Net realized capital gains 

Total revenue 

Health care costs 

Operating expenses: 

Selling expenses 

General and administrative expenses 

Total operating expenses 

Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 

Total benefits and expenses 

Income before income taxes 

Income taxes 

Net income 

2011 

s 20,263.9 

5,485.0 

1,440.3 

27,189.2 

3,604.7 

338.2 

121.9 

31,254.0 

21,653.5 

1;021.6 

5,404.8 

6,432.4 

115.7 

28,201.6 

3,052.4 

1,106.6 

s 1,945.8 
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2010 2009 

$ 20,632.2 $ 21,581.6 

S,896.1 5,735.B 

_ 1,082.3 926.4 

27,610.6 28,243.8 

3.413.3 3,418.0 

418.8 392.5 

161.3 19.0 

31,604.0 32,073.3 

22,719.6 24,061.2 

1,148.4 1,158.7 

4,884.8 4,602.9 

6,033.2 5,761.6 

88.3 90.3 

28,841.1 . 29,913.1 

2,762.9 2,160.2 

954.2 744.9 

$ 1,808.7 $ 1,415.3 

. : . 



The table presented below.reconciles net income to operating earnings (ll: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 1009 
Net income $ 1,945.8 $ 1,808.7 $ l,415.3 
Net realized capital gains (79.1) (131.0) (19.0) 
Voluntary early retirement prograin 89.1 

Transaction~related costs 43.1 
Litigation-related insurance proceeds (101.5) (24.9) 

Severance and facilities charge - 30.8 60.9 
~: ·.· · .. 

ESI Settlement (19.6) 

Operating earnings $ . 1,955.7 $ 1,650.l $ 1,412.7 

<1> In addition to net realized capital gains, the following items are ex.eluded from operating earnings because we believe they neither relate 
to the ordinal)' course of our business nor reflect our underlying business performance: 

In 2011, we announced a voluntaJ)' early retirement program. In connection with the voluntary early retirement program, we 
recorded a one-time charge of $89. l million ($13 7 .0 million pretax.) during the third quarter of 2011 . 
in 2010, we recorded transaction-related costs of $43.1 million ($66.2 million pretax). These costs related to our Pharmacy 
Benefit Management Subcontract Agreement with CVS Caremark Corporation and the announced acquisition of Medicify. 
Following a Pennsylvania Sup~eme <:;ourt ruling in June 2009, we recor~ed litigation-relate~ pro_ceeds of.$101.5 million ($156.3 · 
million pretax) for 2010 and $24.9 million ($38.2 million pretax) for 2009 from our liability insurers related to certain litigation 
we settled in 2003. 
In 2010 and 2009 we recorded severance and facilities charges of$30.8 million ($47.4 million pretax) and $60.9 million ($93.7 
million pretax), respectively. The severance and facilities charges in each year related co actions taken that year or committed to 
be laken in the following·year. 
In 2009, we reached an agreement with Express.Scripts, Inc. and one of its subsidiaries (collectively "ES!") to settle certain 
litigation in which WC were the plaintiff. Under the applicable settlement, we received approximately $19.6 million ($30.2 
million pretax), net of fees and expenses, in 2009. 

Operating earnings in 2011 improved over 2010. 
2011 operating earnings were higher than 2010, primarily due to higher Commercial widerwritmg margins as a 
result of low medical utilization, disciplined execution of ow- pricing. and medical cost management strategies and 
i.lnit cost controls. 2010 operating earnings were higher than 2009, primarily due to higher Commercial . 
underwriting margins driven by management actions to.appropriately price the business and members' lower 
medical utilization; partially offset by the effect of lower Commercial Insured membership in 2010. Our operating 
earnings in 2011 and 2010 included $132 million and $76 million, respectively, of after-tax favorable development 
of prior-years health care cost estimates. Refer to our discussion of Commercial results below for additional 
information. 

We calculate out medical benefit ratio ("MBR") by dividing health care costs by premiums. Our MBRs by p~duct 
for the last three years were: 

2011 2010 . 2009 

Commercial . 77.9% 80.6% 84.5% 
Medicare 84.0% 87.3% 87.1% 
Medicaid 87.3% 87.5% 88.6% 
Total 79.6% 82.3% 85.2% 

Refer to our discussion of Commercial and Medicare results below for an explanation of the changes in our MBRs. 

Commercial operating results reflect higher undenvriting margins and lower Insured membership in 2011 
compared to 2010. 
Conunercial premiums were $368 million lower in 2011than2010, primarily due to lower Commercial Insured 
membership, partially offset by premium rate increases as well as changes in the customer market, product and 
geographic mix of business. Commercial premiums were $949 million lower in 2010 than 2009, primarily due to 
lower CommerciaJ Insured membership and the mix of business, partially offset by premium rate increases. 
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Our Commercial MBRs were 77.9%, 80.6% and 84.5% for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The lower 
Commercial rvIBR in 20 l I compared to 20 l 0 reflects favorable development of prior-years health care cost 
estimates as well as disciplined execution of our pricing and medical cost management strategies and unit cost 
controls. Included in the 2011 Commercial MBR is approximately $171 million of favorable development of prior­
years health care cost estimat~s. The majority of this development resulted from l_ower than projected paid claims 
in the first half of 2011 for claims incurred in the latter half of 2010 caused by lower than projected utilization of 
medical services. 

The lower Commercial MBR in 20 I 0 compared to 2009 reflects favorable development of prjor-years health care 
cost estimates and a percentage increase in our per member health care premiums that exceeded the increase in per 
member health care costs. Included in the 20 l 0 Commercial MBR is approximately $60 million of favorable 
development of prior-years health care cost estimates. This development primarily resulted from lower than 
projected paid claims in the first half of 2010 for claims incurred in the latter part of 2009 caused by lower than 
projected utilization of medical services driven by the abatement ofHlNl and other flu, among other factors. 
Included in the 2009 Commercial l'vlBR is approximately $97 million of unfavorable development of prior-years 
health care c_ost estimates. This de.velopment was related to unusually high paid claims activity for the first half of 
2009, primarily related to claims incurred in the second halfof 2008. 

The calculation of Health Care Costs Payable is a critical accounting estimate (refer to "Critical Accounting 
Estimates - Health Care Costs Payable" beginning on page 19 for additional information). 

Medicare results for 2011 reflect a decline in membership from 2010. 
Medicare premiums decreased approximately $411 million in 2()] 1 compared to 2010, and increased approximately 
$160 million in 2010 compared to 2009. The decrease in 2011 is primarily attributable to lower membership in our 
Medicare Adva_ntage business, partially offset by the addition of the acquired Medicare Supplement business. The 
increase in 2010 is primarily attributable to an increase in Medicare membership in 2010. 

Our Medicare MBRs were 84.0%, 87.3% and 87.1% for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We had approximately 
$29 million and $40 million of favorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates in 2011 and 2010, 
respectively. We had $11 million of unfavorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates in 2009. 
The decrease in our Medicare !v.IBR in 2011 primarily reflects lower utilization of medical services and higher risk­
adjusted CMS revenue. Our Medicare MBR for 2010 remained relatively flat when compared to 2009. 

Medicaid results for 2011 reflect an increase in membership from 2010. 
In 201 I, our Medicaid business experienced significant growth. During 2011, our Medicaid premiums were $358 
million higher than 2010 as we added approximately 73 thousand medical members. 

Other Sources of Revenue, 
Health Care fees and other revenue for 2011 increased $191 million compared to 2010 primarily as a result of 
higher health care administration fee yields, primarily due to higher pharmacy benefit management fees, and the 
inclusion of revenues from our 2011 acquisitions. Health Care fees and other revenue for 2010 remained relatively 
flat when compared to 2009. 

General and Administrative Expenses 
General and administrative expenses increased during 2011 compared to 2010, due primarily to the inclusion of 
expenses associated with our 2011 acquisitions and incremental investments to promote growth. Additionally, 
included in 2010 results are litigation-related insurance proceeds which lowered general and administrative 
expenses. General and administrative expenses increased during 2010 compared to 2009, due primarily to the 
implementat~on of our agreement with CVS Caremark and other major programs. 
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Membership 
Health Care ·s membership at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows: 

2011 2010 

(Thousands) ,Insured ASC Total Insured ASC Total 

Medital: -

Commereial 4,758 11,868 16,626 5,015 11,809 16,824 

Medicare 398 398 435 435 

Medicaid :"" ~ . , 436 836 1,272 381 818 1,199 

Medicare Supplement 163 .163· JO 10 

Total Medical Membership . 5,7SS _12,704 18,4S9 5,841 12,627 18,468 

Consu"mer~Directed Health Plans <1
> · 2,387 2,184 

Dentai: 

Commercial 4,724 7,347. . l2,07i . 4,944. 7,193 12,J 37 

Medicare and Medicaid 194 458 652 177 462 639 

Network Access (Z} 947 947 971 971 

Total Dental Membership 4,918 8,7S2 13,670 5,121 8,626 13,747 

J>hilrm~cy: 

( '.ommercial 8,177 8,555 

Medicare PDP (stand-alone) 427 608 

Medicare Advantage PDP 189 . 227 

Medicaid 27 27 

Total Pharmacy Benefit Management Services 8,820 . 9,417 

(I) Represents members in coo.sum:er-directed health plans who also are included in Commercial medical membership above. 
(2) Represents members in products that allow these members access to our dental provider network for a nominal fee. 

Total medical membership at December 31, 2011 was relatively flat compared to December 31, 2010, reflecting a 
reduction in Commercial membership due primarily to lapsed customers and in-group attrition that exceeded new 
sales, as well as lower Medicare emollment primarily due to CMS's sanctions that were lifted on Jwie 13, 2011. 
Those membership deelines were substantially offset by.approximately 566 thousand additional ASC m~mberS' 
from the Prodigy acquisition, more than 150 thousand Medicare Supplement members from the acquisition o(. 
Genworth's Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force business and growth ill Medicaid ;, 
membership. " . 

.. · . 
Total dental membership at December 31, 2011 was relatively flat compared to December 31, 2010 primarily due to 
lapsed customers that exceeded new sales, substantially offset by approximately 3"98 thousand additional members 
from the Prodigy aequisition. 

Total pharmacy benefit management services membership decreased at December 31, 20ll compared to 
December 31, 2010 primarily due to a decrease in Commercial medical enrollment and a decline in Medicare PDP 
membership, partially offset by approximately 282 thousand additional members from.the Prodigy acquisition. 
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GROUP INSURANCE 

Group Insurance primarily includes group life insurance products offered on an Insured basis; including basic and 
supplemental group term life, group universal life, supplemental or voluntary programs and accidental death and 
dismemberment coverage. Group Insurance also includes: (i) group disability products offered to employers on 
both an Insured and an ASC basis, which consist primarily of short-term and long-term disability insurance (and 
products which combine both), (ii) absence management services offered to employers, which include short-term 
and long-term disability administration and leave management, and (iii) long-term care produc~ that were offered 
primarily on an Insured basis, which provide benefits covering th_e cost of care in.private home settings, adult day 
care, assisted living or nursmg facilities .. We no longer solicit or.accept new long-term care customers. -

Operating Summary 

(Millions) 

Premiums: 

Life 

Disability 

l-Ong-tenn care. 

Total premiums 

Fees and other revenue 

Net invesanent income 

Net realized capital gains 

Total revenue 

Current and future benefits 

Operating expenses: 

Selling expenses 

General and administrative expenses 

T~tal operating expenses 

Amoniz.ation of other acquired intangible assets 

Total benefits and expenses 

Income before income taxes 

Income taxes 

Net income 

The table presented below reconciles net income to operating eamin~s: 

(Millions) 

Net income 

Net realized capital gains 

Operating earnings 

2011 

s 1,034.4 

534.S 

45.9 

1,614.8 

100.4 

266.0 

44.4 

2,025.6 

1,413.4 

77.2 

275.6 

352.8 

5.0 

1,771.2 

254.4 

72.6 

$ 181.8 

2011 

s 181.8 

(28.8) 

$ 153.0 

2010 2009 

$ 1,082.~ $ 1,093.0 

536.S 559.4 

52.l 67.S 

1,671.1 1,720.2 

105.0 106.9 

275.1 274.1 

67.4 41.8 

2,118.6 2,143.0 

1,536.6 1,575.2 

78.2 93.2 

264.3 283.4 

342.5 376.6 

6.9 6.9 

1,886.0 1,958.7 

232.6 184.3 

53.0 38.7 

$ 179.6 $ 145.6 

2010 2009 

$ 179.6 $ 145.6 

(51.6) (41.8) 

$ 128.0 $ 103.8 

Operating earnings for 201 I increased $25 million when compared to 2010, primarily due to higher underwriting 
margins (calculated as premiums less current and future benefits) from our life and disability products, partially 
offset by lower underwriting margins in our long-term care products. Operating earnings for 2010 increased $24 
million when compared to 2009, primarily ~ue to lower total. operating expenses and improved underwriting 
margins in our disability products which were partially offset by lower underwriting margins in our long-term care 
and life products. In 2010, our underwriting margins reflect an increase in our long-term disability reserves as a 
result of using a lower discount rate, reflecting lower yields in the investment portfolio supporting this business. 

Our group benefit ratios, which represent cu~ent and future benefits divided by premiums, were 87.5% for 201 l , 
92.0% for 2010, and 91.6% for 2009. 
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LARGE CASE PENSIONS 

Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily 
for tax qualified pension plans. These products provide a variety of funding and ~enefit payment distribution 
options and other services. The Large Case Pensions segment includes certain discontinued products. 

Operating Summary 

(Millions) 2011 . 2010 

Premiums s 16].0 $ 151.0 $ 

Net invesonent income 326.6 362.4 

Other revenue 11.0 I 1.2 

Net realized capital gains (losses) 1.6 (1.2) 

Total revenue 500.2 523.4 

Cun:ent and future benefits 463.l .476.8 

General and administrative expenses 14.J 12.6 

Total benefits and expense·s 477.4 489.4 

Income before income taxes 22.8 34.0 

Income taxes 1.0 5.0 

Net income s 21.8 $ 29.0 $ 

The table presented below reconciles net income to operating earnings: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Net income $ 21.8. $ 29.0 $ 

Net realized capitar(gains) losses (1.1). (1.2) 

Operating earnings _ s 20.7 $ 27.8 $ 

Operating earnings declined in each of the last three years, which is consistent with ihe run-off nature of this 
segment. 

Discontinued Products 

2009 

172.2 

369.8 

I 1.6 

(5.8} 

547.8 

502.9 

10.0 

512.9 

34.9 

8.5 

26.4 

2009 

. 26.4 

5.8 

32.2 

Prior to 1993, we sold slngle-premium annuities ("SPAs") and guaranteed investment contracts ("GICs"), primarily 
to employer sponsored pension plans. In 1993, we discontinued selling these products to Large Case Pensions · 
customers, and now we refer to these products as discontinued products. '' 

We discontinued selling these productS bec~use they were gene~ating losses for us, 'and we projected that they 
would continue to generate future losses over their life (which is currently greater than 30 years for SPAs and less 
than 5 years for GICs); so we established a reserve for anticipated future losses at the time of discontinuance. We 
provide additional information on this reserve, including key assumptions and other important infonnation, in Note 
20 of Noles to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 110. 

The operating summary for Large Case Pensions above includes revenues and expenses related to our discontinued 
products, w:ith the exception of net realized capital gains and losses which are recorded as ·part of current and future 
benefits. Since we established. a reserve for future losses on discontinued products, as Jong as our expected future 
losses remain consistent w:ith prior projections, the operating results of our discontinued products are applied 
against the reserve and do not impact operating earnings or net income for Large Case Pensions. However, if actual 
or expected future losses are greater than we currently estimate, we may increase the reserve, which could adversely 
impact net income. If act\Jal or expected future losses are less than we currently estimate, we may decrease the 
reserve, which could favorably impact net income.· In those cases, we disclose such adjust01ent separately in the 
operating surrunary. Management reviews the adequacy of the discontinued products reserve quarterly. The current 
reserve reflects management's best estimate of anticipated future losses. 
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The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products for the last three years (pretax) 
was: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Reserve, beginning of period $ 884.8 $ 789.2 $ 790.4 

Operating loss (16.9) (15.4) (34.8) 

Net realized capital gains (losses) 28.4 111.0 (8.5) 

Cumulative effect of new accounting standard as o~,f.\pril .t.}009 <1
l 42.1 

Reserve, end of period $ 896.3 $ 884.8 $ 789.2 

(I> The adoption of new accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impairments ("OTII") of debt securities issued in 2009 resulted 
in a cumulative effect adjustm.ent·at April 1, 2009. Refer to Note 2 beginning on page 66 for additional infonnation. This amount 
is not reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss and retained earnings in shareholders' equity since the results of 
discontinued products do not impact our operating results. · 

In 2011, our discontinued products reflected net realized capital gains (primarily attributable to gains from the sale 
of debt securities partially offset by losses from derivative transactions). In 2010, our discontinued products 
reflected net realized capital gains (primarily attributable to gains from the sale of debt securities and investment 
real estate). In 2009, discontinued products reflected net realized capital losses (attributable to the unfavorable 
investment conditions that existed during the first half of 2009). During 2011, 2010 and 2009, our discontinued 
products also reflected operating losses. 

We review the adequacy of the discontinued products reserve quarterly and, as a result, the reserve at December 31, 
2011 reflects our best estimate of anticipated future losses. Specifically, we evaluated these results in 2011, 2010 
and 2009 against expectations of future cash flows assumed in estimating this reserve and do not believe an 
adjustment to this reserve was required at December 31, 2011, 2010 or 2009. 

INVESTMENTS 

At December 31, 2011 and 2010 our investment portfolio consisted of the following: 

(Millions) 

Debt and equity securities available for sale 

Mortgage loans 

Other investments 

Total investments 

$ 

$ 

2011 20!0 

17,390.8 $ 16,961.6 

1,648.5 1,509.8 

1,255.7 1,244.6 

20,295.0 . $ 19,716.0 

The risks associated with investments supporting experience-rated pension and annuity products in our Large Case 
Pensions business are assumed by the contract holders and not by us (subject .to, among other things, certain 
minimum guarantees). 

As a result of the foregoing, investment risks associated with our experience-rated and discontinued products 
generally do not impact our operating results. Our investment portfolio supported the following products at 
December 31, 2011and2010: 

(Millions) 

Ex.perience·ratcd produc~ 

Discontinued products 

Remaining products 

Total inve~tments 
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s 
2011 

1,645.0 $ 

3,646.0 

15,004.0 

s • 20,295.0 $ 

2010 

l,690.2 

3,712.3 

14,313.5 

19,716.0 



Assets supporting experience-rated products may be subject to contract holder or participant withdrawals. 
Experience-rated contract holder and participant-directed withdrawals for the last three years were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Scheduled contract maturities and benefit payments <•l $ 254.4 $ 261.2 $ 

Contract holder withdrawals other than scheduled contract 

maturities and benefit payments 31.l 25.9 

Participant-directed. Withdrawals 12> 3.9 3.9 

(I) Includes payments made upon contract maturity and other amounts distributed in acc
0

ordarice wi.th coatfact schedules. 

2009 

267.2 

10.6 

J.1 

<2> Approximately $549.3 million, $527.8 million and $537.0 million at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, of experience­
rated pension contracts allowed for unscheduled contraci holder withdrawals, subject to timing restrictions and formula-based market 
value adjusnnents. Further, approximately $94.4 million, $95.3 million and $95.9 million at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively, of experience-rated pension contra_cts supponed by our general account assets could be withdrawn or transferred to other 
plan inve5tment options at the direction of plan participants, without market value adjustment, subject to plan, contractual and income 
tax provisions. 

I '•• 

Debt and Equity Securities 
The debt securities in our investment portfolio had an average credit quality rating of A at both December 3l,2011 
and 2010, with approximately $4.4 billion at both December 3 l, 2011and2010, rated AAA. The debt securities 
th::it were rated below investment grade (that is, having a quality rating below BBB-/Baa3) were $1.2 billion at both 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 (of which 20% and 17% at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, supportec;I our 
discontinued and experience-rated products). 

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we held approximately $733 million and $707 million, respectively, of municipal 
debt securities that were guaranteed by third parties, representing approximately 4% of our total invest:inents on· 

. each date. These securities had an average credit quality rating of A+ at both December 31, 2011 and 2010 with the 
guarantee.· . Without the guarantee, the average credit quality rating of the municipal debt securities was A+ and A at 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. We do not have any significant concentration of investments with third 
party guarantors (either direct or indirect). 

At December 31, 2011, approximately 2% of our investment portfolio is compri~ed of investments that are either 
European sovereign, agency, or local government debt or European corporate issuers of countries which, in our 
judgment based on an analysis of market-yields, are experiencing economic, fiscal or political strains such that the 
likelihood of default may be higher than if those factors did not exist. .. 

We classify our debt and equity securities as available· for sale, and carry them at fair value on our balance •. 
sheet. Approximately 1 % and 2% of our debt and equity securities at Pecember 3.1, 201 l and 2010, respectjvely, 
were valued using inputs that reflect our own assumptions (categorized as Level 3 inputs ·m accordance with., 
GAAP). Refer to Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 85 for additional 
information on the methodologies and key assumptions we use to determine the fair value of investments. 

At D-!Cember 31, 2011 and 2010, our debt and equity securities had net unrealized capital gains of $1.5 billion and 
$985. million, respectively, of which $457 rpillion and $301 million, respectively, related to our experience-rated 
and discontinued products. 

Refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 78 for details of net unrealized 
capital gains and losses by major security type, as well as details on our debt securities with unrealized capital 
losses at December 31, 2011and2010. We regularly review our debt securities to determine if a decline in fair 
value below the carrying value is other-than-temporary. Ifwe determine a decline in fair value is other-than­
temporary, we will write down the carrying value of the security. The amount of the credit-related impairment is 
included in our operating results, and the non-credit component is included in other comprehensive income if we do 
not intend to sell the security. Accounting for OTTI of our debt securities is considered a critical accounting 
estimnte. Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates - Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Debt Securities" on page 
2.:1 !Or uddilional infonnation. 
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Net Realized Capital Gains and Losses . 
Net realized capital gains were $168 million in 2011, $228 million in 2010 and $55 million in 2009. The net 
realized capital_gains in 2011, 2010 and 2009 primarily reflect sales of debt securities. In 2011and2010, these 
gains were partially offset by losses on derivative transactions while in 2009, these gains were also attributable to 
gains on derivative transactions partially offset by OITI losses. 

Yield-related OTTI los!;eS were not significant in 201_1 or 2010. In 2009, yield-related OTT! losses were $76 
million, primarily related·to U.S. Treasury and corporate securities that were temporarily in a l9ss position d_u.~ to..-t;;_~ 
changes in interest rates and the widening of credit spreads on corporate securities relative to the interest rates on 
U.S. Treasury securities in the first half of2009. Because we did not assert our intention to hold these securities, 
under applicable accounting guidance, we recorded a yield-related OTTI loss. We had no other individually 
material realized capital losses on debt or equity securities that impacted our operating results in 2011, 2010 or 
2009. 

Mortgage Loans 
Our mortgage loan portfolio (which is collateralized by commercial real estate) represented 8% of our total invested 
assets at both December 31, 2011 and 2010. There were no material impairment reserves on these loans at 
December 31, 2011 or 20 l 0. Refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 78 for 
additional information on our mortgage loan portfolio. 

Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments 
We manage interest rate risk by seeking to maintain a tight match between the durations of our assets and liabilities 
where appropriate._ We manage credit risk by seeking to maintain high average quality ratings and diversified sector 
exposure within our debt securities portfolio. In coruiection with our investment and risk management objectives, 
we also use derivative financial instruments whos_e market-value is at least partially determined by, among other 
things, levels of or changes in interest rates (short-tenn or long-term), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or 
credit ratings/spreads. Our use of these derivatives is generally limited to hedging risk and has principally consisted 
of using interest rate swap agreements, forward contracts, futures contracts, put options and credit default 
swaps. Additionally, from tinie t~ time, we receive warran~ from our vendors.· these instruments, viewed 
separately, subject us to varying .degrees of interest rate, equity price and credit risk. However, when used for 
hedging, we expect these instruments to reduce overall risk. 

We regularly evaluate our risk from market-sensitive instruments by examining, among other things, l~vels of or 
changes in interest rates (short-term or long-term), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or credit ratings/ 
spreads. We also regularly evaluate the appropriateness of investments relative to our management-approved 
investment guidelines (and operate within those guidelines) and the business objectives of our portfolios. 

On a quarterly basis, we review the impact of hypothetical net losses in our investment portfolio on our 
consolidated .near-term financial position, operating results and cash flows assuming the occurrence of certain 
reasonably possible changes in near-temi market rates and prices. rDterest rate changes represent the most material 
risk exposure category for us. We determine the potential effect of interest rate risk ·on near-term net income, cash 
flow and fair value based on commonly-used models, The models project the impact of interest rate changes on a 
wide range of factors, including duration, put options and call options. We also estimate the impact on fair value 
based on the net present value of cash flows using a representative set of likely future interest rate scenarios. Uie 
assumptions used were as follows: an immediate increase of 100 basis points in interest rates (which we believe 
represents a mqderately adverse scenari.o and is approximately equal to the historical annual volatility of interest 
rate movements for our intermediate-term a·vailable-for-sale debt securities) and an immediate decrease of 25% in 
prices for domestic equity securities. 
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Assuming an inunediate 100 basis point increase in interest rates and immediate decrease of25% in the prices for 
domestic equity securities, the theoretical decline to the fair values of our market sensitive instruments was $470 
million ($723 million pretax) at December 31, 2011. 

Approximaiely $272 million ($4 i 8 million pretax) was the ~esult of a theoretic~l redu~tion of the fair value . 
of our long-ter'm debt. Cban·ges in the fair value of our long-term debt do not impact our financial position 
or operating results. 

• The remaining $198 million_($305 millio!1·Pretax) was from a theoretical reduction in the fair value ofour 
investment securities partially offset by a theoretical reduction in the value of interest rate sensitive 
liabilities. Reductions in the fair value of our investinent securities would be reflected as an unrealized loss 
in equity, as we classify these securities.as available for sale. We do not record our liabilities at fair value. 

Based on our overall exposure to interest rate risk and equity pijce risk, we believe that these changes in market 
rates and prices would not materially affect our consolidated near-term fin~cjal position, operating results .or cash 
flows as of Decembei3 l, 2011. . . . . ·. .. . . 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Cash Flows 
We meet our operating cash requirements by maintaining liquidity in our investIJ:leilt portfolio, using overall cash 
flows from premiums, deposits and income received on investments and issuing commercial paper. We monitor the 
duration of our portfolio of highly marketable debt securities and mortgage loans, and execute purchases and sales 
of these investments With the objective of having adequate funds available to satisfy our maturing liabilities. 
Overall cash flows are used primarily for Claim and benefit payments, contract withdrawals, operating expenses, 
share repurchases and shareholder dividertds: In addition, we mainblin a com.o:iitted short-tenn borrowing capacity 
of $1.5 billion through oilr revolving credit facility: · ·. . · 

Presented below is a condensed statement of cash flows for each of the last three years (the full statements of cash 
flows are presented on page 65). We present net cash flows used for operating activities and net cash flows 
provided by investing activities separately for our Large Case Pensions segment because changes in the insurance 
reserves for the Large Case Pensions segment (which are reported as cash used for operating activities) are funded 
from the sale of investments (which are reported as c·ash provided by investing activities). Refer to the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows on page 65 for additional infonnation. ·.; .. · 

(Millions) 2011 2010 ' 2009 ... 
C11sh flows from openiting activities 

Health Care end Group Insurance s 2,746.9 $ 1,644.9 s 2,711.S 

Large Case Pensions (239.1) (232.8) (223.2} 

Ncr c~sh provided by operating activities · . 2,507.8 1,412.1 2,488.J 

Cash nows from investing activities 

Health Care and Group Insurance (2,222.3) 429.8 (2,380.0) 

Large Case Pensions 342.l 204.7 380.3 

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (1,880.2) 634.5 (1,999.7) 

Net cash used for financing activities (J,815.S) (1,382.6) (464.5) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . s . (1,187.9) s 664.0 $ 24.1 
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Cash Flow Analysis 
Cash flows provided by operating activities for Health Care and Group Insurance were approximately $2.7 billion 
in 2011, $1.6 billion in 2010 and $2.7 billion in 2009. The increase in 2011 compared to 2010 is primarily 
attributable to improved operating performance and lower voluntary contributions to the Aetna Pension Plan. 

Effective December 31, 2010, our employees no longer earn future pension service credits in the Aetna Pension 
Plan (i.e., the plan was "frozen"). The Aetna Pension Plan will continue to operate and account balances will 
continue to earn annual interest credits. The decrease in our pension cost for 2011 compared to 2010 was caused by 
this freezing of the Aellia Pension.Plan. We expect our foture pension expensdo continue.to be lower than 2010. · · · 

Our current funding strategy is to fund an amount at least equal to the minimum funding requirement as determined 
under applicable regulatory requirements with consideration of factors such as the maximum tax deductibility of 
such amounts. ln the fourth quarter of 20 I 1, we elected the 15 year amortization period for funding minimum 

required contributions which is allowed under the Preservation of Access to Care for Medicare Beneficiaries and 
Pension Relief Act of2010. We do not have any mandatory contribution requirements for 2012; however, we may 
make a voluntary contribution of approximately $60 million to the Aetna Pension Plan in 2012. During 2011, 2010 
and 2009, we made $60 million, $505 million and $45 million, respectively, in voluntary cash contributions to the 
Aetna Pension Plan. 

Cash flows from investing activities decreased in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to $ l .6 billion in 
acquisitions we completed durin&201 l, which increased membership, enhanced our capabilities and contributed to 
service fee and other revenue growth, and lower proceeds from sales and maturities of investments. Cash flows 
from investing activities increased in 20 I 0 compared to 2009 primarily as a result of higher proceeds from sales and 
maturities of investments. Also in 2009, we spent approximately $70 million on an acquisition we expect will 
enhance our existing product capabilities and future growth opportunities in behavioral health products. There were 
no acquisitions in 2010. Refer to Note 3 and 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on pages 
74 and 77, respectively, for additional information. 

Cash flows used for financing activities in 2011 primarily reflect share repurchases, net repayments of Jong-term 
debt and dividend payments, partially offset by the issuance of short-term debt in 2011. Refer to page 17 for 
additional information about debt issuance and repayments. 

During the last three years, we repurchased our common stock Wlder various repurchase programs authorized by 
our Board. Jn 2011, 2010 and 2009, we repurchased approximately 45 million, 52 million and 29 million shares of 
common stock at a cost of $1. 8 billion, $1.6 billion and $773 million, respectively. At December 31, 2011, the 
capacity remaining under our Board~approved share repurchase program was approximately $422 million. On 
February 24, 2012, our Board approved a new share repurchase program that authorizes us to repurchase up to $750 
million of our common stock. 

In February 2011, we announced that our Board increased our cash dividend to shareholders to $.15 per share and 
moved us to a quarterly dividend payment cycle. On December 2, 2011 , our Board increased our quarterly cash 
dividend to shareholders to $.175 per common share. Prior to February 2011, our policy had been to pay an annual 
dividend of $.04 per share. During 201 l our Board declared the following cash dividends; 

Dividend Amount Stockholders of Date Paid/ Total Dividends 

Date Declared Per Share Record Date To be Paid (Millions) 

February 3, 2011 $ .15 April 14, 2011 April 29, 201 l $ 57.0 

May 20. 2011 .15 July 14, 2011 July 29, 2011 55.9 

September 23, 2011 .15 October 13, 2011 October 28, 2011 54.3 

December 2, 2011 .175 January 13, 2012 January 27, 2012 61.2 
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On February 24, 2012, our Board declared a cash dividend of $.175 per common share that will be paid on April 27, 
2012, to shareholders of record at the close of business on April 12, 2012: Declaration and payment of future 
dividends is at the discretion of our Board and may be adjusted as business needs or market conditions change. Our 
Board reviews our common stock dividend at least annually. Among the factors considered by our Boaid in 
detennining the amount of dividends are olir operating results and the capital requirements, growth and other 
characteristics of our businesses .. 

!Jt'hl 
During 2011, we repaid the $450~rn:illion aggregate principal amount of o'ilr 7 .875% senior notes due March 2011.·,.;;: . "''.:~. 

We also issued $500 million of 4.125% senior notes due in 2021 and used the majority of the proceeds to repay the 
entire $450 million aggregate principal amount ofoui 5.75%. senior notes due June 201 l. In August 2010, we 
issued $750 million of 3.95% senior notes d~e 2020 in anticipation of the 2011 s~heduled maturity of certain of our 
senior notes. 

From time to time, we me sbort-tem1 ccimm'ercial paper'borrowings to ad.cfress .tinllng:differences bet\.vee~ cash 
receipts and disbursements. The maximum amount of commercial paper borrowings outstanding during 2011 was 
$981 million. 

Our committed short-term borrowing capacity consists of a $1.5 billion revolving credit facility which terminates in 
March 2013 (the "Facility"). The Facility also provides for the issuance of letters of credit at our request, up to 
$200 million, which count as usage of the available commitments under the Facility. The Facility permits the 
aggregate commitments under the Facility tO be expanded to a maximum of$2.0 billion upon our agreement with 
one or more financial institutions. There were no amotints outstanding under the Facility at any time during 2011 . 

Our debt to capital ratio (calculated as the sum ofall short- and long-term debt outstanding ("total debt") divided by 
the slim of shareholders' equity plus total .debt) was approximately 30% and JI% at December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively. We continually monitor existing and alternative financing sources to support our capital and liquidity 
needs, including, but not limited to, debt issuance, preferred or common stock issuance, reinsurance and pledging or 
selling of asseL~. · 

Interest expen5e was $247 million, $255 million and $243 million for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The 
decrease in interest expense during 2011 compared with 2010 was due to lower overall average long-tenn debt 
levels primarily as a result of the repayments of senior notes in 2011. The increase in.interest expense during1 
2010 compared with 2009 was due to higher overall average long-term debt levels as a result of the issuance of 

· senior notes in August 2010. ·r. 

Refer to Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme1itS on page 101 for aaditional infoimation on OW:·. 

short-term and long-term debt. 
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Contractual Obligations 
The following table summarizes certain estimated future obligations by period under our various contractual 
obligations· at December 31, 2011. The table below docs not include future payments of claims to health care 
providers or pharmacies because certain terms of these payments are not detenninable at December 31, 2011 (for 
example; the timing and volume of future services provided under fee-for-service arrangements and f'u~re · 
membership levels for capitated arrangements). We believe that funds from future operating cash flows, together 
with cash, investments and other funds available under the Facility or from public or private financing sources, will 
be sufficient to meet our existing commitments as well as our liquidity needs associated with future operations, 
including strategic transadioris. . . 

(Millions) . 2012 2013 - 2014 2015 - 2016 Thereafter Total 

Long-tenn debt obligations, including interest $ 228.0 $ 456.0 $ 1,181.6 s 5,426.6 $ 7,292.2 

Operating lease obligations 131.4 185.4 82.5 58.1 457.4 

Purchase obligations 202.3 170.3 52.5 3.0 428.1 

Other liabilities reflected on our balance sheet: <1
> 

Future policy .benefits <2> 668.0 1,256.J 979.0 3,857.7 6,760.8 

Unpaid claims <2> 581.2 463.9 316.I 725.8 2,087.0 

Policyholders' funds <2l <3l 1,28 I.6 89.0 57.5 714.9 2,143.0 

Other Ii abi Ii tics 141 . 2,388.8 171.3 103.3 243.7 2,907.l 

Total $ 5,48 l.3 $ 2,792.0 $ 2,772.5 $ 11,029.8 s 22,075.6 

\ll Payments of other long-tenn liabilities exclude Separate Account liabilities of approximately $5.2 billion because these liabilities arc 
supported by assets that arc legally segTegated and arc not subject to claims that arise out of our business. 

111 Total payments of furure policy benefits, unpaid claims and policyholders' funds include approximately $72 l .4. million, $46.7 million and 
$175.1 million, respectively, of reseives for contracts subject to reinsurance. We expect the assuming reinsurance carrier to fund these 
obligations and have reflected these amounts as reinsurance recoverable assets on our consolidated balance sh~et. 

\lJ Customer funds associated with group life and health contracts of approximately $334.2 million have beer. excluded from the table abovi: 
because such funds may be used primarily at the customer's discretion to offset future premiums and/or refunds, and the timing of the 
related cash flows caMOt be detennined. Additionally, net unrealized capital gains on debt and equity securities supporting experience­
rated products of$156.0 million, before tax, have been excluded from the table above. 

c•J Other liabilities in the table above include general expense accnials and other related payables and exclude the following: 
· Employee-related benefii obligations of$ I ~2 billion including our pension, l)ther posttetirement and post-employmtm benefit 

obligations and certain defe1Ted compensation arrangements. These liabilities do not necessarily represent future cash payments 
we will be required 10 make, or such payment patterns cannot be determined. However, other long-term liabilities include 
expected benefit payments of approximately S43 I .6 million over the next ten years for our nonqualified pension plan and our 
.postretirement benefit plans, which we primarily fund when paid by the plans. 
Deferred gains of $43.5 million which will be recognized in our earnings in the future in accordance with GAAP. 

• Net unrealized capital gains of $345.9 million, before tax, supporting discontinued products. 
• Minority interests of $71.1 million consisting of subsidiaries that we own less than I 00%. This amount does not represent future 

cash payments we will be required to make. 
• Income taxes payable of $49.0 million related to uncertain tax positions. 

Restrictions on Certain Payments 
In addition to general state I.aw restrictions on payments. of dividends and other distributions to shareholders 
appJicable to all corporations, HMOs and insurance companies are subject to further regulations that, among other 
things, may require those companies to maintain certain levels of equity (referred to as surplus) and restrict the 
amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their equity holders. These regulations are not 
directly applicable to Aetna as a holding company, since Aetna is not an HMO or an insurance company. The 
additional regulations applicable to our HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are not expected to affect our 
ability to service our debt, meet our other financing obligations or pay dividends, or the ability of any of our 
subsidiaries to service other financing obligations, if any. Under regulatory requirements, at December 31, 2011, 
the amount of dividends that our insurance and HMO subsidiaries could pay to Aetna without prior approval by 
regulatory authorities was approximately $1.6 billion in the aggregate. 

We maintain capital level~ in ow·. operating subsidiaries at or above targeted and/or required capital levels and 
i;lividend amounts in excess of these levels to meet our liquidity requirements, including the payment of interest on 
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debt and shareholder dividends.· In addition, at our discretion, we use these funds for other purposes such as 
funding share replirchase programs, investments in new businesses and other purposes .we consider advisable. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
We do not have any guarantees .or other off-balance sheet arrangements that we believe, based on historical 
experience and current business plans, are reasonably likely to have a material impact on our current or future 
operating resulLs, fmancial condition or cash flows. Refer to Notes 8 and 18 of Notes to Co11$olidated Financial 
Statements beginning on page 78 and 104, respectively, for additional detail of our variable interest entities and 
guar?,ntee1~angements, respectively, at De.cember 31, 20 ll. · .~>o·~~ '-"·'~-: 

Solvency Regulation 
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (the "NAIC") utilizes risk-based capital ("RBC") standards 
for insurance companies that are designed to identify weakly-capitalized companies by comparing each company's 
adjti'sted surplus to its. required si:irplus (the "RBC Ratio';). The ·RJ3c Ratio is di::sign~d°to. ~eflect the risk profile of 
insurance companies. Within certain ratio ranges, regulators have increasing authority to take action as the RBC 
Ratio decreases. There arefour levels of regulatory action, ranging from requiring insurers to submit a 
comprehensive plan to the state insurance commissioner to requiring the state insuranc~ commissioner to place the 
insurer under regulatory control. At December 31, 2011, the RBC Ratio of each of our primary insurance 
subsidiaries was above the level that would require regulatory action. The RBC framework described above for 
insurers has been extended by the NAIC to health organizations, including HMOs. Although not all states had 
adopted these rules at December 31, 2011, at that date, each of our active HM Os had a surplus that exceeded either 
the applicable state net worth requirements or, where adopted, the levels that would require regulatory action under 
the NAIC's RBC rules. ·External ratirig agencies use their own RBC standards when they determine a company's 
rating. 

CRTTJCALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The application of GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect our consolidated financial statements and related notes. 
The accounting estimates described belo~ are those we consider critical in preparing our consolidated financial 
statements. We use information available to us at the time the es~ates are made; however, as described below, 

·these estimates could change materially if different information or assumptions were used. Also, these estimates 
may not ultimately reflect the actual amounts of the final transactions that occur. · 

Health Care Costs Payable . .E 

. Approximately 90%·of health care cosl!i payable are e·stimates of the uitiri~ate cost ot"claiins that have been incun:ed 
but not yet reported to us and of those which have been reported to us but not yet paid (collectively "IBNR") at both 
December 31, 2011 and 2010. The remainder of health care costs payable is primarjly comprised· of pharmacy and 
capitation payables and accruals for state assessments. We .develop our estimate oflBNR using actuarial principles 
and assumptions that consider numerous factors. Of those factors, we consider the analysis of historical and 
projected claim payment patterns (including claims submission and processing patterns) and the assumed health 
care cost trend rate to be the most critical assumptions .. In developing our estimate of IBNR, we consistently apply 
these actuarial principles and assumptions each period, with consideration to the variability of related factors. 

' . ' 

We analyze historical claim payment patterns by comparing claim inc·urred dates (i.e., the date services were 
provided) to claim payment dates to estimate "completion factors." We est~ate completion factors by aggregating 
claim data based on the month of service and month of claim payment and estimating the percentage of claims 
incurred for a given month that are complete by each month thereafter. For any given month, substantially all 
claims i\re paid within six months of the date of service, but it can take up to 48 months or longer before all of the 
claims are completely resolved and paid. These historically-derived completion factors are then applied to claims 
paid through the financial statement date to estimate the ultimate claim cost for a given month's incurred claim 
activity. The difference between the estimated ultimate claim cost and the clainis paid through the financial 
statement date represents our estimate of claims remaining to be paid as of the financial statement date and is 
included in our health care costs payable. We use completion factors predominantly to estimate reserves for claims 
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with claim incurred· dates greater than three months prior to the financial statement date. The completion factors \ve 
use reflectjudgments and possible adjustments based on data such as claim inventory levels, claim submission and 
processing patterns and, to a lesser extent, other factors such as changes in health care cost trend rates, changes in 
membership and product mix. If claims are submitted or processed on a faster (slower) pace than prior periods, the 
actual claims may be more (less) complete than originally estimated using our completion factors, which may result 
in reserves that are higher (lower) than the ultimate cost of claims. 

Because claims incurred within three months prior to the financial statement date have less activity, we use a 
combination of his,orically-derived completion factors and the assumed health care cost trend rate to estimate the 
ultimate cost of claims incurred for these months. We place a greater emphasis on the assumed health care cost 
trend rate for the most recent claim incurred dates as these months may be influenced by seasonal patterns and 
changes in membership and product mix. 

Our health care cost trend rate is affected by changes in per member utilization of medical services as well as 
changes in the unit cost of such services. Many factors influence the health care cost trend rate, including our 
ability to manage health care costs through underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation of favorable provider 
contracts and medical management programs. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics, 
advances in medical technology and other factors continue to contribute to rising per member utilization and unit 
costs. Changes in health care practices, inflation, new technologies, increases in the cost of prescription drugs, 
direct-to-consumer marketing by pharmaceutical companies, clusters of high-cost cases, claim intensity, changes in 
the regulatory environment, health care provider or member fraud and numerous other factors also contribute to the 
cost of health care and our health care cost trend rate. 

For each reporting pe.riod, we use an extensive degree of judgment in the process of estimating our health care costs 
payable, and as a result, considerable variability and uncertainty is inherent in such estimates; and the adequacy of 
such estimates is highly sensitive to changes in assumed completion factors and the assumed health care cost trend 
rates. For each reporting period we recognize our best estimate of health care costs payable considering the 
potential volatility in assumed completion factors and health care cost trend rates, as well as other factors. We 
believe our estimate of health care costs payable is reasonable and adequate to cover our obligations at December 
3 l, 2011; however, actual claim payments may differ from our estimates. A worsening (or improvement) of our 
health care cost trend rates or changes in completion factors from those that we a.ssumed in estimating health care 
costs payable at December 31, 2011 wouid cause these estimates- to change in the near tenn, and such a change 
could be material. 

Each quarter, we re-examine previously established health care costs payable estimates based on actual claim 
payments for prior periods and other changes in facts and circumstances. Given the extensive degree of judgment 
in this estimate, it is possible that our estimates of health care costs payable could develop either favorably (that is, 
our actual health care costs for the period were less than we estimated) or unfavorably. The changes in our estimate 
of health care costs payable may relate to a prior quarter, prior year or earlier periods. As reported in the 
rollforward of our health care costs payable in Note 6 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 
76, our prior year estimates of health care costs payable decreased by approximately $394 million, $326 million and 
$66 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These reductions were offset by estimated current year health 
care costs when we established our estimate of current period health care costs payable. Our reserving practice is to 
consistently recognize the actuarial best estimate of our ultimate liability for health care costs payable. When 
significant decreases (increases) in prior periods' health care cost estimates occur that we believe significantly 
impact our current period operating results, we disclose that amount as favorable (unfavorable) development of 
prior-period or prior-years health care cost estimates. In 2011, we had approximately S207 million pretax of 
favorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower than projected 
paid claims in the first half of 2011 for claims incurred in the latter half of 2010 caused by lower than projected 
utilization of medical services. In 2010, we had approximately $118 million pretax of favorable development of 
prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower than projected paid claims in the first half 
of 2010 for claims incurred in the latter part of 2009 caused by lower than projected utilization of medical services 
driven by the abatement of H!Nl and other flu,,among other factors. 
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During 201 l, we observed. an increase in our completion factors relative to those assumed at year: end 2010. During 
20 I 0. we observed an increase in our completion factors relative to those assumed at year end 2009. After 
wn~i(kring !ht: cJ;iims paid in 2011and2010 with dates of service prior to the fourth quarter of the previous year, 
we observed the assumed weighted average completion factors were 55 and 50 basis points higher, respectively, 
than previously estimated, resulting in a decrease of approximately $94 million in 2011 and $23 million in 20 l O in 
health care costs payable that related to the prior year .. We have considered the pattern of changes in our completion 
factors when determining the completion factors used in our estimates of IBNR at December 31, 20l1. However, 
based on our historical claim experience, it is reasonably possible that oilr estimated weighted average completion 
factor may Vary by plus or minus 50 basis points from our assumed ratesi,which could impact health care co~ts 
payable by approximately plw.i or minus $75 million pretax. 

Also during 20 l i and 20 Io·, we obse~~d 'th~t our health care cost tre~d rates for cl~im~ ~Ith cl.aim incurred dates of 
three months or less before the financial statement date were lower than previously estimated. Specifically, after 
considering the claims paid in 2011 artd 2010 with claim incurred dates for the fourth quarter of the previous year, 

·we observed health care cost trend rates that were approximately 6.2% and 6.3%, respectively, lower than 
previously estimated, resulting in a reduction of approximately $300 million in 20 Ii and $303 million in 20 IO in 
health care costS payable that related to.the prior year. 

We consider historical health care cost trend rates together. with our knowledge ofrecent events that may impact 
current trends when developing our estimates of current health care cost trend rates. When establishing our reserves 
at December 31, 2011, we increased our assumed health care cost trend rates for the most recent three months by 
4.2% from health care cost trend rates recently observed. However, based on our historical claim experience, it is 
reasonably possible that our estimated health care cost trend rates may \1ary by plus or minus 3.5% from our 
assumed rntes, which could impact health care costs payable by approximately plus or minus $161 million pretax. 

Health care costs payable as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 consisted of th~ following products: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Commercial JS 2,046.9 $ 2,059.3 

Medicare 444.8 421.5 

Medicaid 183.8 ISO.I 
Total health care costs payable . s 2,675.S s 2,630.9 

· .. 
Other Insurance Liabilities 
We establish insurance liabilities other than health care costs payable for benefit cl.aims primarily reiated to our 
Group Insurance segment. We refer, to these li~bilities as other insurance liabilities.· These liabilities prin}~rily 
relate to our life, disability and long-term care products. · .'; 

Life and Disability 
The liabilities for our life and disability products reflect benefit.claims that have been reported to us but not yet 
paid, estimates of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported to us, and future policy benefits earned under 
insurance contracts. We develop these reserves and the related benefit expenses using actuarial principles and 
assumptions that consider,.among other things, discount, resolution and mortality rates. Completion factors are also 
evaluated when estimating our reserves for claims incurred but not yet reported for life products; We algo consider 
the benefit payments from the U".S. Social Security Administration for which our disability members may be 
eligible and which may offset our liability for disability claims (this is known as the Social Security offset). Each 
period, we estimate these factors, to the extent relevant, based primarily on historical data, and use these estimates 
to determine the assumptions tinderlying our reserve calculations. Given the extensive degree of judgment arid 
uncertainty used in developing these estimates, it is possible that our estimates could develop either favorably or 
unfavorably. 

The discount rate is the interest rate at which future benefit cash flows are discowited to determine the present value 
of those cash flows. The discount rate we select is a critical estimate, because higher discount rates result in lower 
reserves. We determine the discount rate based on the Cl,lITent and estimated future yield of the asset portfolio 
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supporting our life and disability reserves. If the discount rate we select in estimating our reserves is lower (higher) 
than our actual future portfolio returns, our reserves may be higher (lower) than necessary. Our discount rates for 
life waiver of premiums and long-term disability reserves at December 31, 2011 were consistent with the rates used 
at December 31, 2010. Our discount rates for life and disability reserves at December 31, 2010 decreased by .4%, 
when compared to the rates used at December 31, 2009. The discount rates we select.ed for disability aml life 
reserves at December 31, 2011 and 20 l 0 were lower than the rates we selected in 2009 due to lower projected 
future yields on the investment portfolio supporting these reserves. Based on our historical experience, it is 
reasonably possible that the assumed discount rates for our life and disability reserves may vary by plus or minus 
one-half percentage point from year to year. A one-half percentage point decrease in the discount rates selec~ed for 
both our life and disability reserves would have increased current and future life and disability benefit costs by 
approxima!ely $37 million pretax for 2011. · 

For disability claims and a portion of our life claims, we must estimate the timing of benefit payments, which takes 
into consideration the maximwn benefit period and the probabilities ofrecovery (i.e., recovery rate) or death (i.e., 
mortality rate) of the member. Benefit payments may also be affected by a change in employment status of a 
disabled member, for example, if the member returns to work on a part-time basis. Estimating the recovery and 
mortality rates of our members is complex. Our actuaries evaluate our current and historical claim patterns, the 
timing and amount of any Social Security offset (for disability only), as well as other factors including the relative 
ages of covered members and the duration of each member's disability when developing these assumptions. For 
disability reserves, if our actual recovery and mortality rates are lower (higher) than our estimates, our reserves will 
be lower (higher) than required to cover future disability benefit payments. For certain life reserves, if the actual 
recovery rates are lower (higher) than our estimates or the actual mortality rates are higher (lower) than our 
estimates, our reserves will be lower (higher) than required to cover future life benefit payments. We use standard 
industry tables and our historical claim experience to develop our estimated recovery and mortality rates. Claim 
reserves for our disability and lif~ products are sensitive to these assumptions. Our historical experience has been 
that our recovery or mortality rates for our life and disability reserves vary by less than ten percent during the 
course of a year. A ten percent less (more) favorable assumption for our recovery or mortality rates would have 
increased (decreased) current and future life and disability benefit costs by approximately $60 million pretax for 
2011. When establishing our reserves at December 31, 20 J 1, we have adjusted our estimates of these rates based on 
recent experience. 

We estimate our reserve for claims incurred but not yet reported to us for life products largely based on completion 
factors. The completion factors we use are based on our historical experience and reflect judgrnents and possible 
adjustments based on data such as claim inventory levels, claim payment patterns, changes in business volume and 
other factors. If claims are submitted or processed on a faster (slower) pace than historical periods, the actual 
claims may be more {less) complete than originally estimated using our completion factors, which may result in 
reserves that are higher (lower) than required to cover future life beriefit payments. At December 31, 2011, we held 
approximately$ I 89 million in reserves for life claims incurred but not yet reported to us. 

long-term Care 
We established reserves for future policy benefits for the long-term care products we issued based on the present 
value of estimated future benefit payments less the present value of estimated future net premiums. In establishing 
th.is reserve, we evaluated assumptions about mortality, morbidity, lapse rates and the rate at which new claims 
would be subrii.itted to us. w~ estimated the fun.ire policy benefits reserve for long-fonn care products using these 
assumptions and actuarial principles. For long-term care insurance contracts, we use our original assumptions 
throughout the life of the policy and do not subsequently modify them unless we deem the reserves to be 
inadequate_ A portion of our reserves for long-tenn care products also reflect our estimates relating to future 
payments to members currently receiving benefits. These reserves are estimated primarily using recovery and 
mortality rates, as described above. 

Premium Deficiency Reserves 
We recognize a premium deficiency loss when it is probable that expected future health care costs or expected 
future policy benefit costs will exceed our existing reserves plus anticipated future premiums and reinsurance 
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recoveries primarily related to our Group Insurance segment. Anticipated investment income is considered in the 
calculation of expected losses for certain contracts. Any such reserves established would normally cover expected 
losses until the next policy renewal dates for the related policies. We did not have any premium deficiency reserves 
for our Health Care or Group Ins\lrance business at December 31, 2011 or 2010. 

Large Case Pensions Discontinued Products Reserve 
We discontinued certain Large Case Pensions products in 1993 and established a reserve to cover losses expected 
during the run-off period. Since 1993, we hav.e made several adjustments resulting in a reduction to this reserve 
that have increased our net income. These adNstmel)ts occurred primarily because our investment experience as 
well as our mortality and retirement experience have been better than the experience we projected at the time we 
discontinued the products .. There was no release of this reserve in 2011, 2010. o.r ~009. There can.be no assurance 

. that adjustments t6 the discontinued products reserve will occur in .the future or that they wili' increase net income. 
Future adjustments could positively or negatively impact our net income. 

Recoverability of Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets 
. We have made acquisitions that included a significant amount of goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill is 
subject to an annual (or under certain circumstances more frequent) impairment test based on its estimated fair 
value. Other intangible assets that meet certain criteria continue to be amortized over their useful lives, except for 
the valuation of business acquired which amortizes in proportion to estimated premiums over the expected life of 
the acquired contracts, and are also subject to a periodic impairment test. For these impainuent evaluations, we use 
an implied fair value approach, which uses a discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation methodologies. 
These impainnent evaluations use many asswnptions and estimates in determining an impainnent loss, including 
certain assumptions and estimates relatect to future earnings. If we do not achieve. our earnings objectives, the 
assumptions and estimates underlying these impairment evaluations could be adversely affected, which could result 
in an asset impairment charge that would negatively impact our operating results. There were no impainnent losses 
recognized in any of the three years ended December 31, 2011. 

Measurement of Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans 
We sponsor defined benefit pension ("pension") and OPEB plans for our employees and retirees. Effective . . 
December 31, 2010, our employees will no longer earn future pension service credits in the Aetna Pension Plan, 
although the Aetna Pension PJan will continue to operate and account balances will continue to earn annual interest 
credits. 

· · · · Major assumptions used in the accounting for our def med benefit plans indude the expected return on plan assets 
and the discount rate. We select our assumptions based on our information and market indicators, a~d we evaluate 
our assumptions at each annual measurement date (December 31, for each year presented). A change in any of our 
assumptions would have an effect on our pension and OPEB plan costs. A discussion of our assumptions. used to 
detennine the expected return on plan assets can be found in Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Fin'!ilcial Statements 
beginning on page 90. 

The discount rates we used in accounting for our pension and OPEB plans were calculated using a yield curve as of 
our annual measurement date. The yield curve consisted of a series of individual discount rates, with each discount 
rate corresponding to a single point in time, based on high-quality bonds (that is, bonds with an average rating of 
AA based on ratings from Standard and Poor's and Fitch Ratings, and the equivalent ratings from Moody's Investors 
Service). We project the benefits expected to be paid from each plan at each point in the future based on each 
participanl's current service (but reflecting expected future pay increases). These projected benefit payments are 
then discounted to the measurement date· using the corresp·onding rate from the yield curve. A lower discount rate 
increases the present value of benefit obligations and increases benefit income. In 2011, we decreased our weighted 
average discount rate to 4.98% and 4.78% for our pension and OPEB plans, respectively, from 5.50% and 5.20%, 
respectively, at the previous measurement date in 2010. A one-percentage point decrease in the assumed discount 
rate would decrease our annual pension costs by approximately $2 million after-tax and would have a negligible 
effect on our annual OPEB costs. 
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At December 31, 2011, the. pension and OPEB plans had aggregate actuarial losses of $2. 8 billion. Accumulated 
actuarial losses are primarily due tp investment losses.in 2008 and higher liabilities caused by lower discount rates 
used to determine the present value of future plan obligations. The accumulated actuarial loss is amortized over the 
expected life of pension plan participants (estimated to be up to 3 2 years at December 31, 2011) and the expected 
life of OPEB plan participants (estimated to be up to 16 years at December 31, 2011) to the extent the loss is outside 
of a corridor established in accordance with GAAP. The corridor is established based on the greater of 10% of the 
plan assets or 10% of the projected benefit obligation. At December 31, 2011, $2.2 billion of the actuarial loss was 
outside of the corridor, resulting in amortization of approximately $49 million after-tax in our 2012 pe11sion and 

•!:::·· 1-~:· ·oPEB expense. "=")' .. '-

Our expected return on plan assets and lower discount rates discussed above have not affected the cash 
contributions we are required to make to our pension and OPEB plans because we have met all minimum funding 
requirements. However, during 2011and2010 we made $60 million and $505 million, respectively, in voluntary 
cash contributions to the Aetna Pension Plan. 

Refer to Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page 90 for additional information on 
our defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans. 

Other· Than-Temporary Impairment of Debt Securities 
We regularly review our debt securities to detennine whether a decJjne in fair value below the carrying value is 
other than temporary. If a decline in fair value is considered other than temporary, the cost basis or carrying amount 
of the security is written down. The write-down is then bifurcated into its credit and non~credit related components. 
The credit-related component is included in our operating results and the non-credit related component is included 
in other comprehensive income if we do not intend to sell the security. We analyze all facts and circumstances we 
believe are relevant for each investment when performing this analysis, in accordance with applicable accounting 
guidance promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission. 

Among the factors we consider in evaluating whether a decline is other than temporary are whether the decline in 
fair value results from a change in the quality of the investment security itself, whether the decline results from a 
downward movement in the market as a whole and the prospects for realizing the carrying value of the secwity 
based on the investment's current and short-tenn prospects for recovery. For unrealized losses detennined to be the 
result of market conditions (for example, increasing interest rates and volatility due to conditions in the overall 
market) or industry-related events, we detennine whether we intend to sell the security or if it is more likely than 
not that we· will be required to sell the security before recovery of its cost basis. If either case is true, we recognize 
an OITI and the cost basis/carrying amount of the security is written down to fair value. 

Securities in an unrealized loss position for which we believe we will not recover the amortized cost due. to the 
quaHty of the security or the credit-worthiness of the issuer are categorized as credit-related OTTI. 

The risks inherent in assessing the impairment of an investment include the risk that market factors may differ from 
our projections and the risk that facts and circumstances factored into our assessment may change with the passage 
oftime. Unexpected changes to market factors and circumstances that were not present in past reporting periods 
are among the factors that may result in a current period decjsion to sell securities that were not impaired in prior 
reporting periods. · 
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Rl'vcnuc Recognition and Allowance for Estimated Terminations and Uncollectable Accounts 
nur rEvenue is principally derived from premiums and fees billed to customers in the Health Care and Group 
lnsurance businesses. In Health Care, revenue is recognized based on customer billings, which reflect contracted 
rates pet employee and the number of covered employees recorded in our records at the time the billings are 
prepared. Billings are generally sent monthly for coverage during the following month. In Group Insurance, 

. premium for group life and disability products is recognized as revenue, net of alJowances for uncollectable 
accounts, over the term of coverage. Amounts received before the period of coverage begins are recorded as 
Wleamed premiums. 

Health Care-billings may be subsequently adjtisted to reflect changes in the number of covered employees due to 
terminations or other factors:. These adjus.trnents are known as retroactivity adjust:ments .. ~e estimate the· amount · 
of future retroactivity each period and ·adjust the recorded revenue accordingly. We also estimate ~e amotint of 
uncollectable receivables each period and establish an allowance for uncollectable amounts. We base such 
estimates on historical trends, premiums billed, the amount of contract renewal activity during the period and other 
relevant information. As information regarding actual retroactivity and uncolJectable amotints becomes known, we 
refine our estimates and record any required adjustments to revenues in the period they arise. A significant 
difference in the actual level of retroactivify or uncollectable amounts when compared to our estimated levels would 
have a significant effect on Health Care's operating results. 

Beginning in 2011, premium revenue subject to the minimwn MLR rebate requirements of Health Care Refonn is 
recorded net of the estimated rilinimum MLR rebates for the current calendar year. We estimate the minimum MLR 
reb:1tes by projecting·MLRs for the individual, small group and larg·e group markets, as defined by Health Care 
Refom1, for each slate in which each of our insurance entities operate. The claims and premiums used in estimating 
such rebates arc modified for certain adjustments allowed by Health Care Reform and include a statistical 
credibility adjustment for those states with a _number of members that is not statistically credible. 

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS .•. 

Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, beginning on page 66, for a discussion of recently 
issued accounting standards. 

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT 

General . -
Our operations are subject to comprehensive United States federal, state and local.and comparable multiJ>~devels 
of international regulation in the jurisdictions in which we do business. The laws and rules governing our business 
and interpretations of those laws and_ rules continue to become more restrictive each year and are subject t6 frequent 
change. Health Care Reform has made and will continue to make extensive changes to the U.S. health care system 
and significantly increases the regulation of our business. There also continues to be a heightened review by 
federal, state and international regulators of the health and related benefits industry's business and reporting 
practices. 

Further, we must obtain and maintain regulatory approvals to price and market many of our products. Supervisory 
agencies, including CMS, and the Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight ("CCIIO"), as well as 
state health, insurance and managed care departments and state boards ofphannacy have broad authority to: 

Grant, suspend and revoke our licenses to transact business; 
Exclude us from participation in government programs; 
Suspend or limit our authority to market products; 

. Regulate many aspects of the products and services we offer, including the pricing and underwriting of such 
products and services; 
Audit us and our performance of our contracts; 
Impose sanctions; . 
Assess damages, fines and/or penalties; 
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Impose retroactive adjustments to premiums and refunds to members; 
Monitor our solvency and reserve adequacy; 
Regulate our investment activities on the basis of_quality, diversification and other quantitative criteria; and/ 
or 
Beginning in 2014, our plans may be excluded from participating in Insurance Exchanges if they are 
deemed to have a history of "wu-easonable" rate increases. 

Our operations, current and past business practices, current and past contracts, and accounts and other books and 
records are subject to routine, regular and special investigations, ·audits, examinations and reviews by these agencies 
as well as state attorneys general and offices of inspector general, the Office of the Inspector Gen.era I (the "OIG"), 
the Office of Personnel Management (the "OPM"), die U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") 
and other state and .federal gove~ent authorities. In addition, from time to time we.receiv.e, a~.d .~xpect to. 
continue to· receive, subpoenas and other requests for infonnation from CMS, HHS, various state insurance and 
health care regulatory authorities, state attorneys general and offices of inspector general, the CCIJO, the OIG, the 
OPM, committees, subcommittees and members of the U.S. Congress, the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal 
Trade Commission, U.S. attorneys and other state and federal governmental authorities regarding, among other 
things, certain oi our business practices. These government actions may, among other things, prevent or delay us 
from implementing planned premium rate increases and may result, and have resulted, in restrictions on our 
business, changes to or clarifications of our business practices, retroactive adjustments to premiums, refunds to 
members, payments under policies prior to those payments being due under the terms of the policy, assessments of 
damages, civil or criminal fines or penalties, or other sanctions, including the possible loss of licensure or 
suspension or exclusion from participation in government programs. 

The political environment i~ uncertai~. The federal and state governments continue to enact and seriously consider 
many broad-based legislative and regulatory proposals that have impacted or could materially impact various 
aspects of the health care system, including pending efforts in the U.S. Congress to repeal , amend or restrict funding 
for various aspects of Health Care Refonn and pending litigation challenging the constitutionality of Health Care 
Reform. 

Health Care Reform, enacted in March 2010,"makes broad-based changes to the U.S. health care system which 
could significantly affect the U.S. economy and has and will significantly impact our business operations an9 
financial resµlts, including our pricing and medical benefit ratios. Health Care Reform presents us with new 
business opportunities, but also with new financial and other challenges. It is reasonably possible that Health Care 
Rcfom1, in the aggregut.e, could ~3ve a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial results. 

Components of the legislation will be phased in over the next six years. We are dedicating and will continue to be 
required to dedicate material resources and incur material expenses during that time to implement and comply with 
Health Care Reform as well as state level health care refonn. While die federal government has issued a number of 
regulations iniplementing Health Care Reform, many significant parts of the legislation, including health insurance 
exchanges ("Insurance Exchanges"), premium rate review, the s~ope of "essential health benefits", employer 
penalties and the implementation of minimum medical loss ratios (":MLRs"), require further guidance and 
clarification at the federal level and/or in the form of regulations and actions by state legislatures to implement the 
law. As a result, many of the inipacts of Heal di Care Reform will not be known for several years. The U.S. 
Supreme Court has agreed to review the constitutionality of several aspects of Health Care Refonn and is expected 
to issue its decisiqn in mid-201_2. Other litigation (egarding the constitutionality of Health Care RC?form also is 
pending. Pending efforts in the U.S. Congress to repeal, amend or restrict funding for various aspects of Health 
Care Reform, the pending litigation challenging the constitutionality of Health Care Reform and the 2012 
presidential election create additional uncertainty about the ultimate impact of the legislation. For example, we 
could be materially and adversely affected by the elimination of Heal di Care Re form's obligation to purchase health 
care coverage (the " individual mandate") unless our obligation to offer health insurance coverage to each person 
who wants to purchase it ("guaranteed issue") also is eliminated. We cannot predict whether pending or future 
federal or state legislation or court proceedings will change various aspects of Health Care Reform or the impact 
those changes will have on our business operations or financial results, but the effect could be m aterially adverse. 

An~ual Report- Page 26 



The expansion of health care coverage contemplated by Health Care Reform will be funded in part by significant 
fees, assessments and taxes on us and other health insurers, health plans and other market participants and 
individuals beginning in 2014, as well as reductions to the reimbtirsements we and other health plans are paid by the 
federal government for our Medicare members, among other sources. While not all-inclusive, the following are key 
provisions of Health Care Reform (assuming it is implemented in its current form). We continue to.evaluate these 
provisions and the related regulations and regulatory guidance to determine the impact that they will have on our 
business operations and financial results: 

Requirements that began in September 2010 for"Iiealth plarts tO s~binit"andjus.tify rates; provide d.epen.derit 
coverage up to age 26, eliminate certain lifetime and annual maximum limits on the dollar value of 
coverage, eliminate payments by members for covered preventive services, provide required 
reimbursements for emergency service.s, eliminate prohibited policy rescissions anc;l implement new claim 
appeal procedures. Regulations issued to date, among other things: permit specified lifetime and minimwn 
annual coverage limits, which will be phased out by 201_4; effectively guarantee issuance of insurance 
coverage for enrollees under age 19 beginning in 2010; clarify the rules applicable to grandfathered status; 
clarify regulations regarding appeals; delay application of anti-discrimination requirements; and provide 
implementation guidance across a range of topics. 
Closure of the gap in coverage for Medicare Part D prescription drug coverage (the so-called "donut hole") 
which began to close in 2010 and will increme~tally close until the coverage gap is eliminated in 2020. 
Required minimum MLRs, as defined by fmal regulations, for insured plans of 85% for the large group 
market and 80% for the individual and small group markets, which began January 1, 2011, with rebates 
issued to employers for the amount u.nder the minimum beginning in mid-2012. Required minimum lVILR.s 
for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D plans of 85% beginning with the 2014 contract year, with 
rebates for amounts under the minimum MLR and contract penalties for ongoing failure to a~hieve 
minimum Ml.Rs. In the aggregate, these minimum MLR requirements cap the level of margin we can earn 
in our Conimercial Insured and Medicare Insured business while leaving us exposed to medical costs that 
are higher than those reflected in our pricing. 
Enhanced rate review and disclosure processes by states and HHS. HHS has issued a final rule providing 
that states that have "effective review processes" will perform rate reviews, and HHS will perform reviews 

in all other states. Hl:IS has determined that a significant majority .of states. have an effective review . 
process. JIBS' final rule does not replace the current state rate appro~al process .. Instead it adds analysis 

and disclosure related to reasonableness of rate increases to that process, which may impact state approval 
decision-making and further affect our ability to price for the risk we assume on a timely basis. 
Freezing 2011 Medicare Advantage payment rates for payments to us at 2010 levels, with additional 
reductions (plans will ultimately receive a range of 95% of Medicare fee-for-service rates ih high cost areas 
to 115% of Medicare fee-for-service rates in low cost areas) over a two- to six-year period beginning in 
2012 based on regionally-adjusted benchmarks and the linking of Medicare Advantage payments to a plan's 
CMS quality performance rating or "star rating." 
Non-deductibility of compensation of employees and certain other persons in excess of $500,000 effective 
in 2013, for compensation earned after 2009. 1bis increased our.federal income taxes in 2010 and will 
continue to cause an increase in our federal incdme taxes in future years. 
The imposition on us and other health insurers, health plans and other market participants of significant 

· fees, assessments and taxes, including an annual non-deductible industry-wide $8 billion health insurer fee 
beginning in 2014 and increasing thereafter and industry-wide reinsurance assessments of $12 billion, $8 
billion and $5 billion in 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively. 
Multiple insurance reforms beginning in 2014, including rating limits and benefit requirements, guaranteed 
issue and renewability of coverage in the individual and group markets, elimination of pre-existing 
conditions exclusions for all re-enrollees, elimination of annual limits on the dollar value of coverage, and a 
prohibition on eligibility waiting periods beyond 90 days. 
Insurance Exchanges for the individual iiDd small group markets, which are scheduled to be operational in 
2014. In July 2011, HHS released proposed rules establishing a framewor~ to assist states in setting up 
Insurance Exchanges. HHS also released proposed rules governing state and federal reinsurance, risk 
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adjustment and risk corridor programs designed to mitigate adverse selection and provide premium stability 
in individual and small group Insurance Exchanges. In September 2011, HHS released additional 
information regardmg a "partnership model" in which states could perfonn certain functions for an 

otherwise federally administered Insurance Exchange. 
Expansion of state-based Medicaid coverage beginning in 20 I 4. 
Establislunent of an individual mandate and employer penalties for certain large employers whose plans do 
not provide "minimum value" or are "unaffordable", federal assistance to purchase health coverage for 
individuals, and detailed public reporting and disclosure requirements for health plans, each beginning in 
2014. 
A non-deductible 40% excise tax on employer-sponsored health care benefits above a certain threshold 
beginning in 2018. 

Health Care Refonn also specifies required benefit designs, limits rating and pricing practices, encourages · 
additional competition (including potential incentives for new market entrants) and significantly increases federal 
oversight of health plans, including regulations and processes that could delay or limit our ability to appropriately 
increase our health plan premiums. This in tum could adversely affect our ability to continue to participate in 
certain product lines and/or geographi~s we serve today. Health Care Reform will require us to phase out many of 
our current limited benefit product offerings no later than 2014, and the application of minimwn MLR standards to 
both our limited benefit and student health products may have an adverse effect on our ability to sell these products 
in the future. For additional information on health care reform, refer to "Forward-Looking Information/Risk 
Factors'' beginning on page 41. 

At the state level, more than 40 states and the District of Columbia will hold regular legislative sessions in 201 2. In 
2011, state legislatures focused on the impact of Health Care Reform and state budget deficits as well as 
preliminary Insurance Exchange design and implementation. In addition, premium rate review legislation (ranging 
from new or enhanced filing requirements to prior approval requirements) was introduced or passed in more than 
half of the states in 2011. A limited number of states have passed Insurance Exchange laws, and a number of states 
have passed Insurance Exchange planning laws. We expect additional state level legislation and regulatory activity 
that impacts our business to be enacted ih 2012, including additional.Insurance Exchange laws and Insurance 
Exchange planning activity. Health Care Refonn significantly alters the federal structure that shapes the state 
regulation of health insurance, and requires states to significantly amend numerous existing statutes and regulations. 
Although the implementation of Health Care Reform has been delayed in many states due to the pending legal 
challenges to the constitutionality of Health Care Reform, we expect some of that state level legislation to be 
enacted in 2012. 

We also expect state legislatures to continue to focus on the impact of Health Care Reform and state budget deficits 
in 2012. In addition, we expect some states to continue to consider legislation to extend coverage to. the uninsured 
through Insurance Exchanges and Medicaid expansion, mandate minimum MLR.s, expand the maximum size of 
"small group" business to larger groups, implement rating reforms and mandate autism coverage. For example, 
regulators or legislatures in a number of states have implemented or are considering limits on premium rate 
increases, either enforcing existing legal requirements more stringently or proposing different regulatory standards 
or procedures for reviewing proposed rate changes; requiring us and other health plans to price prospectively to 
specified minimum loss ratios and demonstrate that pricing in rate filings; and imposing taxes on insurers and other 
health plans to finance the Insurance Exchanges. We cannot predict what provisions legislation or regulation will 
contain in any state or what effect legislation or regulation will have on our business operations or financial results, 
but the effect could be materially adverse. 

Health Care Regulation 

General 
Federal, state, local and foreign governments have adopted laws and regulations that govern our business activities 
in various ways. These laws and regulations, including Health Care Reform, restrict how we conduct our business 
and result in additional burdens and costs to us. 
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In addition to the expanded regulation created by Health Care Reform discussed above, areas of governmental 
regulation include: 

• 
Licensi.ire 
Premium rates and rating methodologies 
Medical benefit ratios 
Underwriting rules and procedures · 
Policy fom1s, inclu9ing plan desjgn and disclosi.lres .. 
Benefit mandates · 
Market conduct 
Utilization review activities 
Payment of Health Care, Group Insurance and other c1aims, including timeliness and accuracy of payment 
Member rights and responsibilities 
Sales and marketing activities 

· Quality assurance procedures 
Disclosure of medicat and other information 
In-network ano out-of-network provider rates of payment . 
General assessments 

• Provider contract forms 
Phannacy and phannacy benefit management operations 
Required participation in coverage arrangements for high-risk insureds, either difectly or through an 
assessment or other risk-pooling mechanisms 
Delegation of risk and other financial arrangements 
Producer licensing and compensation 

• Entry into and exit.from geographic and product'markets and market segments 
Public sector procurement 
Financial condition (including reserves) and 
Corporate governance. 

These,; la~y~. and reg~lati~~s are.different in eachjurisdictiori. · 

- . 
States generally require health insurers and Hl'v10s to obtain a certificate of authority prior to commencing!.; 
operations. To establish a new insurance company or an HMO in a state, we generally would have to obtain such a 
certificate. 11le time necessary to obtain such a certificate varies from state to state. Each health insurer and HMO 
must file periodic financial and operating reports with the states in which it does business. In ·addition, health 
insurers and Hl'vlOs are subject to state examination and periodic license renewal. Applicable laws also restrict the 
ability of our regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends,and certain dividends require prior regulatory approvai. li1 
addition, some of our business and related activities may be subject to PPO, managed care organization, utilization 
review or third-party adriiinistrator-i'eJated licensure requirements and regulations. These licensure requirements 
and regulations differ from state to state, but may contain network, contracting, product and rate, fmandal and 
reporting requirements. There also are laws and regulations that set specific stand.ards for our delivery of services, 
payment of clai.mS, fraud prevention, protection of consumer health irifonnation, payment for covered benefits and 
services and escheatment of funds to states. With the amendment of the Annual Financial Reporting Model 
Regulation by the NAIC to include provisions similar to certain elements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we 
expect states to continue to expand their regulation of the corporate governance and internal control activities ofour 
HMOs and inslirance companies. 

Pricing and Underwriting Restri~tions 
Pricing and underwriting regulation by states limits our underwriting and rating practices and that of other health 
insmers , particularly for small employer groups and individuals. These laws and regulations vary by state. In 
gcnl::ral , they apply to certain customer segments and limit our ability to set prices. for new or renewal busin~ss, or 
both, based ·on 'specific 'characteristics of the group or the group's prior claim experience.· Ip some states, these laws 
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and regulations restrict our.ability to price for the risk we assume and/or reflect reasonable costs in our 
pricing. Health Care Reform expands the rate review process by, among other things, requiring our rates to be 
reviewed for "reasonableness" at either the state or the federal level, and HHS has begun issuing determinations that 
plans' requested rate increases are unreasonable. HHS' final rate review rule does not replace the current state rate 
approval process; rather it adds a reasonableness analysis and disclosure to that process, which may impact state 
approval decision-making and further delay or otherwise affect our ability to price for the risk we asswne, which 
could adversely affect us particularly during periods of increased utilization of medical services and/or medical cost 
trend. Health Care Reform also specifies minimwn MLRs, as defined by final regulations, of 85% for the large 
group market and 80°~ for the individual and small group markets, which began in 2011. Guidance issue_d in 
December 2011 clarifies that, with some exceptions and qualifications, we are permitted to issue rebates to 
employers for the amount under the minimum beginning in 2012. Because Health Care Reform is structured as a 
"floor" for many of its requirements, states have the latitude to enact more stringent rules governing its various 
restrictions. States may adopt higher minimum MLR requirements, use more stringent definitions of"medical Joss 
r<)tio," inco11>orate minimu..111 MLR requir_ements into prospective rate filings, require prior approval of rates, or 
impose other requirements related to minimum MLR. For example, Texas has expanded from 50 to 100 the 
maximum size of"sina!I groups" that are subject to its minimum MLR requirements, and California has issued 
emergency regulations requiring rate filings for individual products to price prospectively to an 80% MLR. Actions 
by states such as New Jersey's 80% minimum MLR legislation for the small group and individual markets, New 
York's 82% minimum MLR for the small group and individual markets and California's regulations will further 
inhibit our ability to price for the risk we assume. Both the rate approval process and the application of minimum 
MLR thresholds may further restrict our ability to price for the risk we assume, which could adversely affect our 
ability to operate our business profitably in certain product lines and geographies we serve today, particularly 
during periods of increased utilization of medical services and/or medical cost trend. 

Many of thes.e Jaws and regulations also limitthe differentials in rates insurers and other carriers may charge 
between new and renewal business, and/or between groups or individuals based on differing characteristics. They 
may also require that carriers disclose to customers the basis on which the carrier establishes new business and 
renewal rates, restrict the application of pre-existing condition exclusions and limit the ability of a carrier to 
terminate coverage of an employer group. In addition, HHS established a federal premium rate review process that 
became effective in September 2011 and generally applies to proposed rate increases equal to or exceeding I 0% 
(with state-specific thresholds to be applicable commencing September 2012). HHS's rate review process imposes 
additional public disclosure requirements as well as additional review on filings requesting rate increases equal to or 
exceeding this "reasonableness" threshold. 

In addition to Health Care Reform requirements, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 
("HlPA.A.") generaily rt:quires insurers and-other carriers that cover small employer groups in any market to accept 
for coverage any small employer group applying for a basic and standard plan of benefits. IDPAA also mandates 
guaranteed renewal of health care coverage for most employer groups, subject to certain defined exceptions, and 
provides for specified employer n9tice periods in cormection with product and market withdrawals. The law further 
limits exclusions based on pre-existing conditions for individuals covered under group policies to the extent the 
individuals had prior creditable coverage within a specified time frame. Like Health Care Reform, RIPA.A is 
structured as a "floor" requirement, allowing states latitude to enact more stringent rules governing each of these 
restrictions. For example, certain states have modified HIPAA's defmition of a small group (2-50 employees) to 
include groups of one employee. 

In addition, a number of states provide for a voluntary reinsurance mechanism to spread small group risk among 
participating insurers and other carriers. In a small number of states; participation in this pooling mechanism is 
mandatory for all small group carriers. In genera.I, we have elected not to participate in voluntary pools, but even in 
the voluntary pool states, we may be subject to certain supplemental assessments related to the state's small group 
experience. 
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HIP AA Administrative Simplification, GLBA and Other Privacy, Security and Confidentiality Requirements 
The regulations under the administrative simplification provisions of HIP AA, as further modified by the American 
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 ("ARRA") and Health Care Refonn, also impose a number of additional 

. obligations on issuers of health insurance coverage and health benefit plan sponsors. The "Administrative 
Simplification" provisions of HIPAA and those regulations authorize HHS to issue standards for electronic 
transactions, as well as privacy and secwity of medical records and other individually identifiable health 
information. 

Ad.IDinistrative Simplificatio_n· reqli.iremeQt.$;,apply, to self-fund~d group health plans, heaitb insurers and HM Os, 
health care clearinghouses and health care providers who transmit health information electronically ("Covered 
Entities"). Regulations adopted to implement Administrative Simplification also require that "business associates" 

·acting for or on behalf of these Covered Entities be contractUally obligated to meet HIPAA standards. The 
Administrative.Simplification regulations establish significant c~inal penalties and civil sanctions for 
noncompliance. 

Under Administrative Simplification, IlliS has released rules mandating the use of standard formats in electronic 
health care transactions (for ex·ample, health care claims submission and payment, plan eligibility, precertification, 
claims status, plan enrollment and disenrollment, payment and remittance advice, plan premium payments and 
coordination· of benefits). HHS also has published rules requiring the use· of standardized code sets and unique 
identifiers for employers and providers. The federal goverilm.ent has mandated that by October 2013 the health and 
related benefits industry, including health insurers, providers and laboratories., upgrade to an updated and expanded 
set of standardized diagnosis and procedure codes used for describing health conditions, known as ICD- I 0. HHS 
has annol1nced that it will initiate a process to postpone the effective date for .use of !CD· I 0 by certain health care 
entities. lmplemeotingICD-10 will require substantial investments from the health and related benefits industry, 
including us, over the next several years. We currentJy estimate that our ICD-10 project expenses will be between 
$20 million and $40 million each year for 2012 and 2013. 

The HIPAA privacy regulations adopted by HHS establish limits on the use and disclos\ire of medical records and 
otl1cr individually identifiable health informatio';l (protected health information or "PHI") by.Covered 
Entities. Further, ARRA requires us and other Covered Entities t'o report an)• unauthorized release of, use of, or 
access to PHI to any impacted individuals and to HHS in those instances where the unauthorized activity poses a 
significant risk of financial, reputational or other harm to the individuals, and to notify the media in any states 
where 500 or more people are impacted by any unauthorized release or use of or access to Pill. Business associates 
(e.g., entities that provide services to health plans, such as electronic claims clearinghou5es, print and fulfillment 
vendors, consultants, and us for the administrative services we provide to our ASC customers) must also comply 
with certain HIPAA provisions. In addition, ARRA establishes greater civil and criminal penalties for . 
Covered Entities and business associates who fail to comply with HIPAA's provisions, gives new enforcement 
rights to state attorneys_ general and requires llliS to issue regulations implementing its privacy and security 
enhancements. We wil1 continue to assess the impact of these regulations on our business as they are issued. In 
addition, the HIPAA privacy regulations provide patients with new rights to understand and control how. their health 
information is used. · · · · 

The HIP AA privacy regulations ·do not pr~empt more stringent state laws and regulations that may apply to us and 
other Covered Entities, including laws that place stricter controls on the release of information relating to specific 
diseases or conditions and requirements to notify members of. unauthorized release or use of or access to PHI. 
Complying with additional state requirements could require us to make additional investments beyond those we 
have made to comply with the HIP AA regulations. HHS also has adopted security regulations designed to protect 

'member health information from unauthorized use or disclosure. · 

Tn 11ddition, states have adopted regulations to implement provisions of the Financial Modernization Act of 1999 
(also known as Oramm-Leach~Bliley Act ("GLBA")) which generally.~equire insurers to provide customers with 
notiee regarding how their non·public personal health and' financiai illfonnation is used and the opportunity to "opt 
out" of certain disclosures before the insurer shares such information with a non·affiliated third party. The GLBA 
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regulations apply to health, life and disability insurance. Like HIP AA, GLBA sets a "floor" standard, allowing 
states to adopt more stringent requirements governing privacy protection. GLBA also gives banks and other 
financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors in the 
insurance and health care benefit~ businesses. 

Other Legislative Initiatives and Regulatory Initiatives 
In addition to the Health Care Reform, HlPAAand ARRA measures discussed above, the federal and state 
governments continue to enact and seriously consider many broad-based legislative and regulatory proposals that 
have had a material impact on or could materially impact various aspects of the health care and related benefits 
system. For example: . 

As a result of the failure of the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to cut the federal deficit by 
$I. 2 trillion, the Budget Control Act of 2011 (the "BCA") triggers automatic across-the-board budget cuts 
(also known as "sequestration") starting in 2013, including Medicare spending cuts of not more than two 
percent of total program costs for nine years, starting in 2013. The BCA e~emptS certain programs from 
these cuts, including Medicaid, and certain Medicare payments from these cuts, including Part D low­
income subsidies ("LIS"); the Part D catastrophic subsidies; and payments to states for coverage of 
Medicare cost-sharing for certain low-income Medicare beneficiaries. The Office of Management and 
Budget ("OMB") is responsible for making these cuts. We are exploring strategies to mitigate any impact 
that may result from these cuts. 

• . In July 2011, New York notified insurers that it expects insurers to, and will be amending its regulations to 
require insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security Administration's Death Master File or a 
similar database to determine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable under life insurance and similar 
products, to pay any such benefits and to make certain other business process changes. Legislation 
mandating the use of such databases has been introduced in at least four other states. New York is one of 
over 35 states that are investigating life insurers' claims payment and related escheat practices, and these 
investigations have resulted in significant charges to earnings by other life insurers in connection with 
related settlement agreements. We.have received requests for infonnation from New York, Connecticut and 
Minnesota with respect to our life insurance claim payment and related escheat practices. 

Other legislative measures which are or recently have been under consideration include the following: 

Amending or supplementing the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA") to impose 
greater requirements on the administration of employer-funded benefit plans or limit the scope of current 
ERJSA pre-emption, which would among other things expose us and other health plans to expanded 
liability for punitive and other extra-contractual damages and additional state regulation. 
Imposing assessments on (or to be collected by) health plans or health carriers, which may or may not be 
passed onto their customers. These assessments may include assessments for insolvency, uninsured or 
high-risk pools, uncompensated care, or defraying provider medical malpractice insurance costs. 
Reducing federal and/or state government funding of government-sponsored health programs in which we 
participate. 
Extending malpractice and other liability exposure for decisions made by health plans. 
Mandating coverage for additional conditions and/or specified procedures, drugs or devices (for example, 
treatment for autism and infertility and experimental pharmaceuticals). 
Mandating expanded employer and consumer disclosures and notices. 
Regulating e-connectivity. 
Mandating or regulating the disclosure of provider fee schedules and other data about our payments to 
providers. 
Mandating or regulating disclosure of provider outcome and/or efficiency information. 
Imposing substantial penalties for our failure to pay claims within specified time periods. 
Imposing payment levels for services rendered to our members by providers who do not have contracts with 
us. 
Exempting physicians from the antitrust Jaws that prohibit price fixing, group boycotts and other horizontal 
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restraints on competition. 
Restricting or mandating health plan or life insurer claim processing, review, payment and/or related 
procedures. 
Mandating additional internal and external grievance and appeal procedures (including expedited decision 
milking and access to external claim review). 
Enabling the creation of new types of health plans or health carriers, which in some instances would not be 
subject .to the regulations or restrictions that govern our operations. , 
AlloWing individuais arid small" groups to collectively pilrchase health care coverage without any other 
affiliations:;;:: ,,.-:,~. . . ,, . ·"'•f-:1. 

Im.posing requirements and restrictions on the administration of pharmacy benefits, including restricting or 
eliminating the use of formularies for prescription drugs, Jiuiiting or eliminating rebates on 
pharmaceuticals, restricting the configuration of phannacy netWorks, and restrictµig or eli~ating the use 
of certain drug pricing methodologies. · 
Creating or expanding state-sponsored health benefit purchasing risk pools, in which we may be required to 
participate. 
Imposing requirements and restrictions on certain plan designs and funding options; including consumer 
driven health plallS and/or health savings accounts. 
Restricting the ability of health plans to establish member financial responsibility . . 
Further regulating individual insurance coverage by restricting or mandating premium levels, restricting our 
underwriting discretion or restricting our ability to rescind coverage based on a member's 
misrepresentations or omissions. 
Providing members the right to receive information about anyone who has accessed their electronic PHI, 
even where such access was pennitted (such as access by our authorized employees in the course of claims 
administration or medical management). 

Some of the changes, if enacted, could provide us with business opportunities~ However, it is uncertain whether we 
~•in counter the potential adverse effects of such potential legislation or regulation, including whether we can 
recoup, through higher premiwns, expanded membership or other measures, the increased costs of mandated 
coverage or ber1.efi.ts, assessments or other increased costs, including the cost of modifying· our systems to 
implement any enacted legislation ot regulations. 

Our business also may tie affected by other legislation. The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refonn and Consumer 
·Protection AC:t (the "Financial Refonn Act") was signed into law on Juiy 21, ·2010. The Financial Stability · 
Oversight Council (the "Council") created by the Financial Reform Act is empowered tp designate•systemically 
important non-bank fmancial companies that are subject to Federal Reserve Board ("Federal Reserve") 
supervision. Although the Council has indicated that it will begin to designate "systemically important" non-bank 
financial companies in 2012, we cannot predict when or if we will be so designated, and there can be no assurance 
that we will not be so designated. "Systemically important" nort~bank financiai companies are iikely to be subject to 
intensive bank-like supervision, regulation, examination and enforcement. It is difficult to predict the scope and 
content of systemic risk reg\llations or their· effect on us, should we be designated i sys.teinicaily important non­
bank financial company, but we believe it would likely be adverse. In addition, the Financial Refo1m Act.creates 
incentives for whistleblowers to speak directly to the government rather than utilizing internal compliance 
programs, reduces the burden of proof under the FCPA and creates a Federal Insurance Office ("FIO") within the 
Department of Treasury, with powers that include infonnation-gath~ring and subpoena authority. Although the FIO 
does not have authority over health insurance, it will have authority over other parts of our business, primarily life 
insurance. 

We ~lso may be adversely impacted by court and regulatory decisions that expand the. interpretations of existing 
stalut.::s and regulations or impose medical malpractice or bad faith liability. Among other issues, federal and state 
courts continue to consider cases addressing group and individual life insurance payment practices and tbe pre­
emptive effect of ERISA on state laws. In general, changes to our life insurance payment practices have the effect 
of reducing ow: Group Insurance operating earnings and limitations to ERISA pre-emption have the effect of 
increasing our costs and/or liability exposures. The legislative initiatives discussed above include proposals in the 

Annual Report- Page 33 



U.S. Congress to restri~t the pre-emptive effect of ERISA and state legislative activity in several states that, if 
enacted by legislation that is not itself pre-empted by ER1SA, could increase our liability exposure and could result 
in greater state regulation of our operations. 

The Employee Retirement lncome Security Act of 1974 
The provision of services to certain employee benefit plans, including certain Health Care, Group Insurance and 
Large Case Pensions benefit plans, is subject to ERJSA, a complex set of laws and regulations subject to 
interpretation and enforcement by the Internal Revenue Service and the Department of Labor (the "DOL"). EIUSA 
regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us and employers who maintain employee benefii plans 
subject to ERlSA. Some of our administrative services and other activities may also be subject ti) regulation under 
ERlSA. ERISA generally preempts all state and local laws that relate to employee benefit plans, but the extent of 
the pre-emption continues to be reviewed by courts. 

DOL regulations under ERISA set standards for claim payment and member appeals along with associated notice 
and disclosure requirements. We have invested significant resources to comply with these standards. 

Certain Large Case Pensions and Group Insurance products and services are also subject to potential issues raised 
by certain judicial interpretations relating to ERISA. Under those interpretations, together with DOL regulations, 
we may have ERISA fiduciary duties with respect to certain general account assets held under contracts that are not 
guaranteed benefit policies. As a result, certain transactions related to those assets are subject to conflict of interest 
and other restrictions, and we must provide certain disclosures to policyholders annually. We must comply with 
these restrictions or face substantial penalties. 

Federal Employees Health Benefits ("FEHB") Program 
Our subsidiaries contract with the OPM to provide managed health care services under the FEHB program in their 
service areas. These contracts with the OPM and applicable government regulations establish premium rating 
arrangements for this program, and generally also require that FEHB plans receive pricing that is at least as · 
favorable as similarly sized subscriber groups ("SSSG") in the applicable market. Compliance with the SSSG 
requirements complicates pricing of our Commercial business and can result in the pa~ent of an unanticipated 
premium rebate to the OPM. The OPM has issued new pricing regulations for 2012, which eliminate the SSSG 
requirements and move to a FEHB program-specific MLR by plan code and market. In 2012, carriers may elect the 
SSSG rules or the MLR regulations. Aetna has elected the MLR regulations in all plan code and markets except our 
Washington D.C. area and New York HMO's. For 2013 and beyond, the ·new MLR regulations will be mandatory 
for all carriers in all plan codes and markets with the exception of non-traditionally rated plan codes (including our 
New York HMO) in which case the MLR regulations do not apply. Managing to these rules is further complicated 
by the simultaneous application of the minimum MLR standards and associated premium rebate requirements of 
Health Care Refonn. The OPM conducts periodic audits of its contractors to, among other things, verify that the 
premiums established tinder its contracts are in C:ompliance with the SSSG/MLR and other requirements under 
FEHB program. The OPM may seek premium refunds or institute other sanctions against us if we fail to comply 
with the FEHB program requirements. 

Medicare 
Our Medicare products, including Medicare Advantage and Part D products, are regulated by CMS. The 
regulations and contractual requirements applicable to us and other participants in Medicare programs are complex, 
expensive to comply with and subject to change. We have invested significant resources to comply with Medicare 
standards, and our Medicare compliance efforts will continue to require significant resources. CMS may seek 
premium refunds, prohibit us from continuing to market and/or enroll members in one or more Medicare products, 
exclude us from participating in one or more Medicare programs and/or institute other sanctions against us if we fail 
to comply with CMS regulations or our Medicare contractual requirements. · 

For example, effective April 21, 2010, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions on us suspending the enrollment of and 
marketing to new members of all Aetna Medicare Advantage and Standalone PDP contracts. As a result of these 
sanctions, our 2011 Medicare membership and operating results were adversely affected because we did not 
participate m the annual enrollment process for 2011. CMS lifted those sanctions on June 13, 2011. 
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CMS regularly audits our performance to determine our compliance with CMS's regulations, our contracts with 
CMS and the quality of services we provide to Medicare beneficiaries. CMS uses various payment mechanisms to 
allocate and adjust premium payments to our and other companies' Medicare plans by considering the applicable 
health statm of Medicare members as supported by information maintained and provided by health care 
providers. We collect claim and encounter data from providers and generally rely on providers to appropriately 
code their submissions and document their medical records. MedicareAdvantage·pJa.~s wd PDPs receive· increased 
premiums for members who have certain medical conditions identified with specific health condition 

• ·· codes. Federal regulators review and audit the providers' medical records and related health:condition codes that 
detennirie the members' health status and the resulting risk-adjusted premium payments to us. CMS has instituted 

·risk adjustment data validaticfa {"RADV'') audits of various Medicare Advantage organizations, including two of 
Aetna's contracts for the 2007 contract year. Although these two audits are ongoing, we do not believe that they 
will have a material impact on our operating results, financial position or cash flows. 

We believe that the OIG also is auditing risk adjustment data, and we expect CMS and the OIG to continue auditing 
risk adjustment data for the 2007 contract year and beyond. Aetna and other Medicare Advantage organizations 
have provided comments to CMS in response to CMS's December 2010 proposed RADV sampling and payment 
error calculation methodology by which CMS proposes to calculate and extrap'olate RADY audit payment error 
rates for, and determine premium refunds payable by, Medicare Advantage plans. Our concerns with CMS's 
proposed methodology include the fact that the proposed methodology does not take into account the "error rate" in 
the original Medicare fee-for-service data that was used to develop the risk adjustment system and that retroactive 
audit and payment adjustments undermine the actuarial soundness of Medicare Advantage bids. CMS has indicated 
that it may make retroactive contract-level premium payment adjusbnents based on the results of these RADY 
audits, which could occur as early as 2012. CMS's premium adjustments could be implemented prior to our or 
other Medicare Advantage organizations having an opportunity to appeal the audit or payment error calculation 
results or methodology. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of CMS's fmal RADV audit methodology, 
other audits for the 2007 contract year o·r subsequent contract years, the amounts of any retroactive refunds of, or 
prospective adjustments to, premium payments made to us, _or whether any au.dit findi_ngs woukl cause a change to 
our method of estimating future prerillum revenue in bid submissions to CMS for the current or future contract 
years or compromise premium assumptions made in our bids for prior contract years. Any premium refunds or 
adjustments resulting from regulatory audits, including those resulting from CMS's selection of its final RADY 
audit methodology, whether as a result of RADV or other audits by CMS or OIG or otherwise, could be material 
and could adversely affect our operating results, financial position and cash flows. ···· 

. ~~ · 

Since 2005, we have generally expanded the Medicare markets we serve and Medicare products we offer, including 
by acquiring the Medicare Supplement business_ of Genworth Financial during the fourth quarter of 2011, which 
significantly expanded our Medicare Supplement membership. This expansion of the Medicare markets we serve 
and Medicare products we offer and the Medicare-related provisions of Heaith Care Reform increase our exposure 
to changes in government policy with respect to and/or regulation of the various Medicare programs in which we 
participate, including changes in the amounts payable to us under those programs. For example, as a result of the 
failure of the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to cut the federal deficit by $1.2 trillion, the BCA 
triggers automatic sequestration starting in 2013, including Medicare spending cuts of not more than two percent of 
total program costs for nine years, starting in 2013. The BCA exempts certain programs from these cuts, including 
Medicaid, and certain Medicare payments from these cuts, including Part D LIS; the Part D catastrophic subsidies; 
and payments to states for coverage of Medicare cost-sharing for certain low-income Medicare beneficiaries. O?vffi 
is respo1isible for making these cuts. We are exploring strategies to mitigate any impact that may result from these 
cuts. Jn addition, on July 15, 2008, the U.S. Congress overrode the President's veto and passed a Medicare funding 
bill that reduced amounts payable to health plans that offer Medicare Advantage plans beginning in 2010 and 
imposed new marketing requirements for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D Prescription Drug plans 
beginning in 2009. 
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Health Care Reform contains further significant reductions in the reimbursements we receive for our Medicare 
Advantage members, including freezing 2011 rates based on 2010 levels, with additional reductions in future years 
based on regionally adjusted benchmarks. Beginning in 2012, Health Care Refonn also ties a portion of each 
Medicare Advantage plan's reimbursement to the plan's "star rating." The star rating system considers a variety of 
measures adopted by CMS, including quality of preventative services, chronic illness management and overall 
customer satisfaction. During 2.011, our average star rating increased from 3.36 to 3.48, and 92% of our Medicare 
Advantage members were in ?lans rated at least 3.5 stars. Beginning in 2012, those plans that receive a rating of 
four or more stars are eligibl~ for quality bonus payments. Plans with 3 or 3.5 stars are eligible for quality-based 
payments in 2012, 2013 and 2014 under CMS's Quality Bonus Payment Demonstration. As a result, our plans' star 
ratings are likely to be a significant determinant of overall profitability for our Medicare Advantage plans. 
Beginning with the 2014 contract year, Health Care Reform also requires minimum :tvfLRs for Medicare Advantage 
and Medicare Part D plans of 85%. 

It is not possible to predict the longer term adequacy of payments we receive under the Medicare program. We 
currently believe that the payments we receive and will receive in the near tenn are adequate to justify our 
continued participation in the Medicare program, although there are economic and political pressures to continue to 
reduce spending on the program, ·and this outlook could change. 

Going forward, we expect the U.S. Congress to continue to closely scrutinize each component of the Medicare 
program (including Medicare Part D drug benefits) and possibly seek to limit private insurers' role. For example, 
the federal govenunent may seek to negotiate drug prices for PDPs and Medicare Advantage-Prescription Drug 
Plans, a function we currently perform as a plan sponsor or administrator. It is not possible to predict the outcome 
of this Congressional oversight or any legislative activity, either of which could adversely affect us. 

Medicaid 
Since our 2007 acquisition of Schaller Anderson, we have more than doubled our Medicaid revenues and have 
begun to serve the Aged, Blind and Disabl_ed and Long Tenn Care Medicaid populations. As a result, we also 
increased our exposure to changes in goverrurient policy with respect to and/or regulation of the various Medicaid 
programs in which we participate, including changes in the amounts payable to us under those programs. 

In addition, Health Care Reform includes a significant expansion of Medicaid coverage in January 2014. Health 
Care Reform also includes a "maintenance of effort" ("MOE") provision that requires states to maintain their 
eligibility rules for people covered by Medicaid until the Secretary of HHS determines that an insurance exchange 
is operational in a given state. The MOE provision is intended to prevent states from reducing eligibility standards 
or altering determination procedures as a way to remove adults above 133 percent of the federal poverty level from 
Medicaid before implementation of expanded Medicaid coverage begins in January 2014. However, states with, or 
projecting, a budget deficit may apply for an exception to the MOE provision. If states are successful in obtaining 
MOE waivers and allow certain Medicaid programs to expire, we could experience reduced Medicaid enrollment. . 

The economic aspects of the Medicaid business vary from state to state and are subject to frequent change. 
Medicaid premiums are paid by each state and differ from state to state. The federal government and various states 
are also considering proposals and legislation for Medicaid program reforms or redesigns, including changes to 
benefits, reimbursement or payment levels or eligibility criteria. Current Medicaid funding and premium revenue 
may not be sustainable due to state and federal budgetary constraints, which have become particularly acute at the 
state level in the past few years, and continuing efforts to reduce health care costs. In addition, our Medicaid 
contracts with states are subject to cancellation by the state after a short notice period without cause (for example, 
when a state discontinues a managed care program) or in the event of insufficient state funding. 

Our Medicaid products also. are regulated by CMS, which has the right to a1:1cjit our performance to determine 
compliance with CMS contracts and regulations. Our Medicaid products and State Children's Health Insurance 
Program ("SCHIP") contracts also are subject to federal and state regulations and oversight by state Medicaid 
agencies regarding the services we provide to Medicaid enrollees, payment for those services and other aspects of 
these programs, and by external review organizations which audit Medicaid plans on behalf of the state Medicaid 
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agencies. The regulations _and contractual requirements applicable to us and other participants in Medicaid 
programs :ire extensive, complex and subject to change. We have invested significant resources to comply with 
:hl·se standnrds, and our Medicaid compliance efforts will continue to require significant resources. CMS and/or 
SIHle Medicaid agencies may fine us, seek premium refunds, elect not to award us new contracts or renew our 
existing contracts, prohibit us from continuing to market and/or enroll members in one or more Medicaid products, 
exclude us from participating in one.or. more Medicaid programs and/or institute other sanctions.against us if we fail 
to comply with CMS or state regulations or our contractual requirements. 

HMO and Insurance Holding Company Laws ;;• ....... ,~• 
A number of states, including Pe1U1sylvania and Connecticut, regulate affiliated:grmips ofHMOs and insurers such 
as the Company under holding company statutes. These laws may, among other things, require us and our 

subsidiaries to maintain certain levels of equity'. Holding company Jaws and regulations generally require insurance 
companies and HMOs within an insilrance holding company system to register with the insurance department of 
each state where they are domiciled and to file reports with those states' insurance departments regarding capital 
structure, oWnership, 'financial condition, intercompany transactions and general business operations. In addition, 
various notice or prior regulatory approval requirements apply to transactions between insurance companies, HMOs 
and their affiliates within an insurance holding company system, dependirig on· the size and· nature of the · 
transactions. With the amendment of the Annual Financial Reporting Model Regulation by the NAIC to include 
provisions similar to certain elements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we expect that the states in which our 
insurance and HMO subsidiaries are licensed will continue to expand their regulation of the corporate governance 
and internal control activities of our HMOs and insurance companies. 

The states of domicile of out regulated subsidiaries· have statutory risk-based capital, or "RBC'', requirements for 
health lli1d other insurance companies and HMOs based on the RBC Model Act. These RBC requirements are 
intended to assess the capital adequacy of life and health insurers and HMOs, taking into account the risk 
characteristics of a company's investments and products. The RBC Model Act sets forth the formula for calculating 
RBC requirements, which are designed to take into account asset risks, insura!lce risks, interest rate risks and other 
relevant risks with respect to an individual company's business. In gen·eral, under these laws; an insurance company · 
or HMO must submit a report of its RBC leve_l to the insurance department or insurance commissioner of its state of 
domicile for each calendar year. 

The RBC Model Act requires increas_ing degrees of regulatory oversight and interventi~n as a company's RBC 
declines and provides for four different levels of regulatory attention depending on the ratio of a company's total 
adjusted capital (defmed as the total of its statutory capital, surplus and asset valuation reseI'Ve) to i~ risk-based 
capital. The level of regulatory oversight ranges from requiring the company to inform and obtain approval from 
the domiciliary insurance commissioner of a comprehensive financial plan for increasing its RBC, to mandatory 
regulatory intervention requiring a company to be placed under regulatory control in a rehabilitation or liquidation 
proceeding .. As of December 31, 2011, ~e. RBC levels of our insurance and HMO subsidia_ries exceedec,t all RBC 
thresholds. 

In addition, changes to regulations or the interpretation of those regulations due to regulators' increasing concerns 
regarding insurance company and/or HMO solvency due, among other things, to the current adverse and uncertain 
economic environment, could negatively impact our-business in variou5 ways, including through increases in 
solvency fund assessments, requirements that the Company hold greater levels of capital and/Qr delays in approving 
dividends from regulated subsidiaries. 

For information regarding restrictions on certain payments of dividends or other distributions by our HMO and 
insurance company subsidiaries, refer to Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 103. 

The holding company laws for the states of domicile of Aetna and certain of its subsidianes also restrict the ability 
of any person to obtain control of an insurance company or HMO without prior regulatory approval. Under those 
statutes, without such approval (or an exemption), no person may acquire any voting seclirity of an insurance 
holding company (such as our parent company, Aetna Inc.) that controls an insurance company or HMO, or merge . 
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with such a holding company, if as a result of such transaction such person would control the insurance holding 
company. Control is generally defined as the direct or indirect power to direct or cause the direction of the 
management and policies of a person and is presumed to exist if a person directly or indirectly owns or controls 
I 0% or more of the voting securities of another person. 

Audits and Investigations 
We typically have been and.are currently invo.Jved in various governmental investigations, audits, examinations, 
reviews, subpoenas and other reque,sts fQr jnformation, the intensity ands.cope ~f wP.ich l(qntinue tQ inqease. These 
include routine, regular and special investigations, audits, examinations and reviews by, as well as subpoenas and 
other requests for information from, CMS, HHS, various state insurance and h.ealth care regulatory authorities, state 
attorneys general and offices of inspector general, the CCIIO, the OIG, the OPM, committees, subcommittees and 
members of the U.S. Congress, the U.S. Department ofJustice, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. attorneys and 
other state and federal govenunental authorities. Such government actions may result and have resulted in 
restrictions on our business, changes to or clarifications of our business practices, retroactive adjustments to 
premiums, refunds to members, assessments of damages, civil or crimin.al fines or penalties (including under the 
False Claims Act), or other sanctions, including the possible loss of licensure or suspension or exclusion from 
participation ir. government pm grams. For .~xample, effective April 21, 2010, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions 

. on us suspending the eruollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna Medicare Advantage and 
Standalone PDP contracts. In addition, CMS has instituted RADY audits of our risk adjustment payments under 
certain of our Medicare Advantage contracts. For additional infonnation on these Medicare matters, refer to 
"Medicare" beginning on page 34. 

In July 201 l, New Yo.rk notified insurers that it expects insurers to, and will be amending its regulations to require 
insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security Administration's Death Master File or a similar database to 
detennine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable under life insurance and similar products, to pay any such 
benefits and to make certain other business process changes. Legislation mandating the use of such databases has 
been introduced in at least four other states. New York is one of over 35 states that are investigating life insurers' 
claims payment and related escheat practices, and these investigations have resulted in significant charges to 
earnings by other life insurers in connection with related settlement agreements. We have received requests for 
information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota with respect to our life insurance claim payment and 
related escheat practices. 

In January 2009, following an investigation by the New York Attorney General, we agreed with the New York 
Attorney General to discontinue the use of a database of provider charges compiled by lngenix and to utilize a new 
database for a period of at least five years in connection with out-of-network reimbursements in those benefit plans 
that employ a reasonable and custo.mary standard for such reimbursements. We used the Ingenix database for many 
plans to determine the level of reimbursement when our members utilize hospitals, physicians and other health care 
providers who do not have a contract with us. We have transitioned to the new database and have increased the use 
of alti:!rnative benefit dt:signs io delenninc these·payalents; however, payment levels for non-contracted provider 
services will likely remain the subject of further investigations, challenges and regulations. 

Refer to "Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
beginning on page 105 for more information regarding pending audits and investigations. 

Federal and State Reporting 
We are subject to extensive financial and business reporting requirements, including penalties for inaccuracies and/ 
or omissions, at bo.th the state and federal level. Health Care Reform significantly expands these reporting 
requirements and adds additional penalties for inaccuracies and omissions. In some instances, our ability to comply 
with these requirements will depend on receipt of information from third parties, particularly employers, that we do 
not receive today and that may not be readily available or reliably provided in all instances. We are and will 
continue to be required to modify our information systems, dedicate significant resources and incur significant 
expenses to comply with these requirements. However, we cannot eliminate the risks of unavailability of or errors 
in our reports. 
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Fraud, Waste :ind Abuse Laws 
Federal and state governments have made investigating and prosecuting health care fraud, waste and abuse a 
priority. Fraud, waste and abuse prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities, including kickbacks for referral 
of rnempers, billing for unnecessary medical services, improper marketing, and vjolations of patient privacy 
rights. Companies involved .in public health care programs such as Medicare and.Medicaid are often the subject of 
fraud, waste and abuse investigations, as well as False Claims Act lawsuits by whistle blowers and others. In 
addition, Health Care Reform expanded the jurisdiction of, and our exposure to, the False Claims Act to Insurance 
Exchanges, which will begin to operat~;in~;2.Ql4. The_regulations and contr~ctual requirements applicable to us and 
other participants in these public~sector programs are complex and subject to change. We have invested significant 
resources to comply with Medicare and Medicaid standards. Ongoing vigorous law enforcement and the highly 
technical regulatory scheme mean UJat our compliance efforts in this area wilJ continue to require significant 
resources. 

Product Design and Sales Practices 
State and/or federal regulatory scrutiny of life and health insurance company and HMO marketing and advertising 
practices, including the adequacy of disclosure regarding products and their administration, is increasing as are the 
penalties being imposed.for· inappropriate practices. Medicare and Medicaid products and products offering more 
limited benefits, such as those _we issue and sell through Strategic Resource Company and some of our student 
health plans, in particular are attracting increased regulatory scrutiny. 

Guaranty Fund Assessments/Solvency Protection 
Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to 
prescribed limits) for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. These 
laws are administered by state health insurance guaranty associations in which we and other insurers participate. 
These health insurance guaranty associations respond to insolvencies offong-term care insurers as well as health 
insurers. Our assessments generally are based on a formula relating to our premiums in the state compared to the 
premiums of other insurers. Certain states allow assessments to be recovered as offsets to premium taxes. Some 
states have similar laws relating to HMOs. The ~ennsylvania Insuranee Commissioner has placed long-term care 
insurer Penn Treaty Network America Insurance Company and one of its subsidiaries (collectively, "PelUl Treaty") 

· · in rehabilitatiOn, an intermediate action before insoivency, and has petitioned a state court for liquidation. We 
cannot predict when a decision will be made, although we believe it is likely that the state court will rule within the 
next twelve months. If Penn Treaty is decJared insolvent_ and placed in liquidation, we and other insurers likely 
would be assessed over a period of years by guaranty associations for the payments the guaranty associations are 
required to make to Penn Treaty policyholders. We are currently unable to predict the ultimate outeome of, or 
reasonably estimate the loss or range of losses resulting from, this potential insolvency because we-cannot predict 
when the state court will render a decision, the amount of the insolvency, if any, the amount and ti.ming of · 
associated guarantY association assessments or the amount or availability' of potential o.ffsets, such as premium tax 
offsets. It is reasonably possible that in future reporting periods we may record a liability and expense relating to 
Penn Treaty or other insolvencies which could have a m~terial adverse effect on our operating results, financial 
position and cash flows. While we have historically recovered more than half of guaranty fund assessments through 
statutorily-permitted premium tax offsets, significant increases in assessments could lead to legislative and/or 
regulatory actions that may limit future offsets. 

Regulation of Pharmacy Operations 
On July 27, 2010, we entered into the PBM Agreement, under which CVS Caremark provides ~ertain pharmacy 
benefit management (''PBM") services to us and our customers and members. The PBM Agreement has a term of 
up to 12 years, although we have certain termination rights beginning in January 2018. CVS Caremark began 
providing services under the PBM Agreement on January I, 2011. Notwithstanding our wntracting with CVS 
Caremark, we will remain responsible to regulators an_d members for the delivery of PBM services. In addition, we 
continue to own two mail order pharmacy facilities and one specialty phannacy facility (our "Phannacies") and 
utilize certain CVS Caremark pharmacies. One mail order pharmacy is located in Missouri, and the specialty 
pharmacy and our second mail order pharmacy are located in Florida. Our Pharmacies dispense pharmaceuticals 
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throughout the U.S. and are participating providers in Medicare, Medicare Part D and various Medicaid 
programs. The pharmacy practice is generally regulated at the state level by state boards of pharmacy. Our 
Pharmacies are required to be licensed in the state where they arc located, as well as the states that require 
registration or licensure of mail order pharmacies with the state's board of pharmacy or similar regulatory 
body. Our Pharmacies also must register with the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration and individual state 
controlled substance authorities in order to dispense controlled substances and must comply with applicable 
Medicare, Medicaid and other provider rules and regulations, including federal and state false claims and anti· 
kickback laws. CVS Caremark'~ pharmacies are subject to these same licensing requirements and other laws and 
regulations. Loss or suspension of any such. licenses or registrations could have a material adverse effect on our 
ability to meet our commitments to our customers, which could, in tum, have a material adverse effect on our 
pharmacy business and/or operating results. 

Regulation of Pharmacy Benefit Management Operation 
Our PBM services are regulated directly and indirectly at the federal and state levels, including federal and state 
false claims and anti-kickback laws. These laws and regulations govern, and proposed legislation may govern, 
critical PBM practices, including disclosure, receipt and retention of rebates and other payments received from 
pharmaceutical manufacturer~. disclosure of data to third parties, dntg utilization management practices, the level of 
duty a PBM owes its customers and registration.or licens.ing of PBMs. Failure by us or CVS Caremark to comply 
with these laws or regulations could result in material fines and/or sanctions and could have a material adverse 
effect on our operating results. 

Life and Disability Insurance 
Our life and disability insurance operations are subject to extensive regulation. Changes in these regulations, such 
as expanding the defmition of disability or mandating changes to claim payment, determination and/or settlement 
practices, could have a material adverse impact on our life insurance and/or disability insurance operations and/or 
operating results. In July 2011, New York notified insurers that it expects insurers to, and will be amending its 
regulations to require insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security Administration's Death Master File or a 
similar database to determine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable under fife insurance and similar products, 
to pay any such benefits and to make certain other business process changes. Legislation mandating the use of such 
databases has been _introduced in at least four other states. New York is one of over 35 states that are investigating 
life insurers' claims payment and related escheat practices, and these investigations have resulted in significant 
charges to earnings by other life. insurers in connection with related settlement agreements. We have received 
requests for information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota with respect to our life insurance claim 
payment and related escheat practices. 

International Regulation 
We continue to expand our Health Care operations that are conducted in foreign countries and currently have 
insurance licenses in several countries and do business in over twenty countries. These international operations are 

·subject to different, and sometimes mor:e _stringent, legal and regul.atory requir.ements, which vary widely by 
jurisdiction, including anti-corruption laws; various privacy, insurance, tax, tariff and trade laws and regulations; 
and corpora·te, employment, intellectual property and investment laws and regulations. In addition, the expansion 
of our operations into foreign countries increases our exposure to the anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-money 
laundering provisions of U.S. law, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, and foreign laws, including 
the U.K. Bribery Act 2010. 

Anti-Money Laundering Regulations 
Certain of our lines of business are subject to U.S. Department of the Treasury anti-money laundering 
regulations. Those lines of business have implemented anti-money laundering policies designed to insure their 
affected products comply with the regulations. 
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1<0RWARD~LOOKING INFORMATION/RISK FACTORS 
The Private Secl.irities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "1995 Act") provides a "safe harbor" for forward-looking 
statements, so long as (1) those statements are identified as forward-looking, and (2) the statements are 
accompailied by meaningful cautionary statements that id~ntify impo~t factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those discussed in the statement. We want to take advantage of these safe harbor provisions . 

. Certain information contai.ned in. this MD&A and elsewhere in the Annual Report and our Annual Report on Form 
10-K is forwat:.9.~109\<j,!lg wi~ the meaning of the 1995 Act or SEC rules. This information inclua·es,,,.g~t i~,._n~t 
limited to: the "Outlook for 2012" on page 5, "Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments" beginning on 
page 14 and "Regulatory Environment" beginning on page 25 of the Annual Report. In addition, throughout this 
MD&A and elsewhere, we use the follow:ing words, or variations or negatives of these words and similar 
expressions, wheri we intend to identify forWard-looking statements: 

Expects hltends Seeks Will Potential 

Projects Plans Estimates Should Continue 

Anticipates Believes May Could View 

Outlook Guidance Predict 

Forwmd-looking statements rely on a number of estimates, assumptions and projections concerning future events, 
.ind arc ;;ubjc·ct to a number of significant uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those statements. Many of these factors are outside our control. You should not put undue reliance 
on forward-looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 

Risk Factors 
You should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other" information set forth in this MD&A or 
elsewhere in our Annual Report or.our Arinual Report on Form 10-K. These risks and other factors may affect 

. forward~looking statements, including ·those we make in this :MD&A or_ elsewhere, such as in news releases or 
investor or analyst calls, meetings or presentations. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only 
ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be 
immaterial may also adversely affect our business. Any of these risks or uncertainties could cause our actual.results 
to differ materially from our expectations an.d the expected results discussed in our forward-looking statements. 
You should not consider pastresults to be an indication of future performance. ··. 

If any of the following risks or uncertainties develops into actual events or if the circumstances described in.the 
risks or uncertainties occur or continue to occur, these events or circumstances could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, cash flows, financial condition or operating results. In that ca5e, the trading price of our common 
stock could decline materially. 

The continuing public policy debate on Health Care Reform, additional changes to the U.S. health care 
system and the stressed economic environment, with high U.S. unemployment, present overarching risks to 
all aspects of our enterprise. 
The political environment in which we operate remains uncertain. There can be no assurance that the 
implementation of Health Care Reform, additional changes to the U.S. health care system, including changes to 
Health Care Reform, or the impact of the.economic environment will not adversely affect our business, cash flows, 
financial condition or operating results. See "Regulatmy Environment'- General" beginning on page 25 and 
"Adverse economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad can significantly and adversely affect our businesses and 
profitability, and we do not expect these conditions to improve in the near future" beginning on page 45. 
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We are subject to potential changes in public policy and Health Care Reform that can adversely affect the 
markets for our products and services and our profitability. The federal and state governments continue to 
enact and seriously consider many broad-based legislative and regulatory measures that have materially 
impacted and will continue to materially impact various aspects of the health care system and our business. 
The political environment in which we operate remains uncertain. It is not possible to predict with certainty or 
eliminate the impact of additional fundamental public policy changes, including changes to Health Care Reform, 
that could adversely affect us. Examples of these changes include policy chang~s that would fundamentally change 
the dynamics of our industry, such as the federal or one or more state govenunents assuming a larger role in the 
health and related benefits industry or managed care operations, fundamentally restructuring or reducing the 
funding available for Medicare or Medicaid programs, or a repeal or significant alteration of Health Care Reform, 
such as the elimimition of the obligation to purchase health care coverage (the "individual mandate") without the 
elimination of our obligation to offer health insurance to each person who wants to purchase it ("guaranteed issue"). 
Our business and operating results could be materially and adversely affected by such changes even if we correctly 
predict their occurrence. For more information on these matters, refer to "Regulatory Environment" beginning on 
page 25. · 

In March 2010, Health Care Refonn was enacted, legislating broad-based changes to the U.S. health care system. 
Components of the legislation will be phased in over the next six years. While the federal govenunent has issued a 
number of regulations implementing Heaith Care Reform, many significant parts.ofHealth Care Reform, including 
health insurance exchanges ("Insurance Exchanges"), premium rate review, the scope of "essential health benefits", 
employer penalties and the implementation of minimum MLRs, require further guidance and clarification at the 
federal level and/or in the form of regulations and actions by state legislatures to implement the law .. As a result, 
many of the impacts of Health Care Reform will not be known until those regulations and related regulatory 
guidance are issued and. actions are taken, which is expected to occur over the next several years. 

Health Care Reform imposes significant fees, assessments and taxes on us and other health insurers, health plans 
and other industry participants. Health Care Reform imposes an annual industry-wide $8 billion health insurer fee 
beginning in 2014 and increasing thereafter. This health insurer fee is not deductible for income tax purposes and 
will be allocated pro rata among us and other industry participants based on net premiums written. Health Care 
Reform also imposes industry-wide reinsurance assessments of$12 billion, $8 billion and $5 billion in 2014, 2015 
and 2016, respectively, which will be allocated pro rata among us and other industry participants based on net 
premiums written for insured business plus the fees received and cost of coverage administered for self-insured 
business. As we are one of the nation's largest Jlealth care benefits companies, we expect our share of the Health 
Care Reform assessments, fees and taxes lo be significant. If the Health Care Reform assessments, fees and taxes 
are imposed as enacted and we are unable to factor these assessments, fees and taxes into our premiums and fees or 
othef\Vise adjust our business model to address them, these assessments, fees and taxes could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and/or cash flows. 

In addition, at the state level, more than 40 states and the District of Columbia will hold regular legislative sessions 
in 2012. ln 2011, state legislatures focused on the impact of Health Care Reform and state budget deficits as well as 
preliminary Insurance Exchange design and implementation. We expect state legislatures to focus on these issues 
again in 2012. For more information on these rriatters, refer to "Regulatory Environment" beginning on page 25. 

The U.S. Supreme Court has agreed to review the constitutionality of several aspects of Health Care Reform and is 
expected to issue its decision. in mid-2012. This review, as welJ as other pending litigation regarding the 
constitutionality of Health Care Refonn, increases the risk of significant alteration of Health Care Reform that 
could materially and adversely affect our health care operations and/or financial results. For example, if the 
Supreme Court were to find the individual mandate unconstitutional, but generally uphold the remainder of Health 
Care Refonn, particularly guaranteed issue, people with greater needs for health care services could make up an 
increased portion of our Insured membership, which would adversely affect our operating earnings and medical 
benefit ratios. These effects could be magnified if we are unable to obtain, or are delayed in obtaining, approval of 
adequate premium rate increases for the risk we assume. These court proceedings, the 2012 presidential election 
and pending efforts in the U.S. Congress to repeal, amend or restrict funding for various aspects of Health Care 
Refonn create additional uncertainty about the ultimate impact of the legislation on us. 
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In addition to the Health Care Refonn measures described above, we expect the federal and state governments to 
continue to enact and seriously consider many broad-based legislative and .regulatory proposals ,that have materially 
impacted or could materially impact various aspects of the health care system and our business, including changes 
to Health Care Reform. 

We will need to continue to dedicate material resources and incur material expenses to implement and comply with 
Health Care Reform and any future changes in Health Care Reform at both the state and federal level, including 

.-;::·':.; -.,..~· .. implementing and complying with the future regulations that will provide guidance.QJ,J.:~d clarification of 
significant parts of the legislation. In addition, we anticipate that additional health care reforms will be enacted at 
the state level; however, we cannot predict what provisions they will contain in any state or what effect they will 
have on our business operations cir financial results. While health care refonn at the state and federal level presents 
us with new business opportunities and new.financial and other challenges and may, for example, cause 
membership in our health plans to increase· or decrease or make doing business in particular states more ·or less 
attractive, it is reasonably possible that our business operations and financial results could be materially adversely 
affected by such reform. 

We must continue to differentiate our products and services from those of our competitors; we operate in an 
evolving industry that requires us to anticipate changes in customer preferences and to innovate and deliver 
products and services that dem.onstrate value to our. customers, particularly in response t~ market changes 
from public policy. 
We operate in a highly competitive envirorunent and in an industry that is subject to significant ongoing changes 
from market pressures brought about by customer demands, business consolidations, strategic alliances, He.alth · 
Care Reform, and other legislative and regulatory changes and marketing practices. For example, beginning in 
2014, we expect to compete for sales on Insurance Exchanges: which will tequire·us·fo develop.or acquire the tools 
necessary to interact with Insurance Exchanges and individual consumers using Insurance Exchanges (including 
social media tools), increase our focus on individual consumers and improve our consumer-focused sales and 
marketing channels, customer interfaces and product offerings. In addition, our customers ~enerally, and our larger 
customers particularly, are well-informed and organized and can easily move between us and our competitors. 
These factors require us to differentiate our products and services, anticipate changes in customer preferences and 
innovate and deliver new and existing products and services that demonstrate value to our customers, particularly in 
response to market changes from public policy. Failure to differentiate our products and services, anticipate 
changes in customer or consumer preferences or innovate and deliver products and services that demonstrate :value 
to our customers can affect our ability to retain or grow profitable membership, which can adversely affecrour 
operating results. . ' 

.,. . 
Our ability to antidpate and detect medical cost trends and achieve appropriate pricing affects our -
profitability, and our business and profitability may continue to be adversely affected by prevailing economic 
condltioos. There can be no assurance t~at future health care and other benefit costs will not deviate from 
our projections. 
Adverse economic conditions and unanticipated incr~ases in our health care and other benefit costs can significantly 
and adversely affect our businesses and profitability in a number of ways. The current economic·environrnent is 
challenging and less predictable than the economic environment of the recent past, which .has caused and inay 
continue to cause unanticipated increases and volatility in our health care and other benefit costs. Premium 
revenues from our Insured Health Care products comprised approximately 80% and 81% of our total consolidated 
revenues for 2011 and 2010, respectively. While we generally have increased. our premium rates for Insured 
business under contract in 2012·, our health care premiums are' priced in advance :ind' generally fixed for one.year 
periods. Accordingly, cost increases in excess of health care or other benefit cost projections reflected in our 
pricing cannot be recovered in the fixed premium period through higher premiums. As a result, our profits are 
particularly sensitive to the acctiracy of our forecasts of the increases in health care and other benefit costs that we 
expect to occur during the fixed premium period. Those forecasts typically. are made several months before the 
fixed premiWll period begins, require a significant degree of judgment and are dependent on our ability to anticipate 
and detect medical cost trends. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics, advances in 
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medical technology and other factors contribute to rising health care costs and medical cost trends. Medical cost 
trends may also be impacted by a number of other factors that are beyond our control, such as epidemics, 
pandemics, terrorist attacks, natural disasters or other extreme events that materially increase utilization of medical 
services, as well as changes in members' healthcare utilization patterns and provider billing practices. During the 
year ended December 31, 2009, medical costs were higher and more volatile than we projected. During the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 20 l 0, medical costs and members' utilization of medical services were lower than we 
projected and members' utilization was below historical levels. Our 2010 and 2011 experience is not projected to 
continue in 2012; we expect utilization to increase to more normal levels in 2012. As a result of the volatility we 
have experienced in rec~nt years;·accurately anticipating, detecting, forecasting, managing and reserving for 
utilization of medical services for ourselves and our self· insured customers and med~cal cost trends have become 
more challenging. Such challenges are particularly heightened during and following periods when such utilization 
and/or trends are below historical levels such as we experienced during 2010 and 2011. There can be no assurance 
regarding the accuracy of the healih care or other benefit cost projections reflected in our pricing, and our health 
care and other benefit costs can be affected by external events that we cannot forecast or project and over which we 
have no control, such as the higher than projected HlNl influenza and COBRA related health care costs we 
experienced in 2009, as weil as changes in our products, contracts with providers, medical management, 
undeiwriting, rating and/or claims processing methods and processes. Relatively small differences between 
predicted and actual health care and other benefit costs as a percentage of premium revenues can result in 
significant adverse ch.anges in our operating results. Furthetmore, if we are unable. to accurately and promptly 
anticipate and detect medical cost trends,' our ability to take. timely pricing and other corrective actions may be 
limited, which would further exacerbate the extent of the adverse impact on our profitability. This risk is magnified 
by Health Care Reform and other legislation and regulations (such as rate reviews and limits on premium rate 
increases) that limit our ability to price for our projected and/or experienced increases in utilization of medical 
services and/or such trend. If health care and other benefit costs are higher than we predict or if we are not able to 
obtain appropriate pricing on new or renewal business, our prices will not reflect the risk we assume and our 
profitability will be adversely affected. If health care and other benefit costs are lower than we predict, our prices 
may be higher than those of our competitors, which may cause us to lose membership. For more information, see 
"Critical Accounting Estimates· Health Care Costs Payable" beginning on page 19. 

Our ability to manage hea,lth care amt o.ther benefit costs affects our profitability and competitiveness. 
Our profitability and competitiveness depend in large part on our ability to appropriately manage future health care 
and other benefit costci through underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation of favorable provider contracts 
and medical management programs. Govemment·imposed limitations on Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement 
also have caused the private sector to bear a greater share of increasing health care and other benefits costs over 
time. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics, advances in medical technology and other 
factors continue to contribute to rising health care and other benefit costs. Changes as a result of Health Care 
Reform and other changes in the reg1.1latory environment, implementation of ICD-10, changes in health care 
practices, general economic conditions such as inflation and employment levels, new technologies, increases in the 
cost of prescription drugs, direcMo·consumer marketing by pharmaceutical companies, clusters of high-cost cases, 
health care provider or member fraud, changes to Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement levels to health plans 
and provider~ and numerous other factor!! affecting the cost of health care can be beyond any health plan's control 
and may adversely affect our ability to predict and manage health care and other benefit costs, which can adversely 
affect .our competitiveness and operating results. 

We face risks from industry, public policy and economic forces that can change the fundamentals of the 
health and related benefits industry and adversely affect our business and operating results. 
Various factors particular to the health and relat~d benefits industry may affect our business model. Those factors 
include, among others, the rapid evolution of the business model, particularly as that model moves to a direct-to­
consurner marketing model, such as the model contemplated by the Insurance Exchanges, which will begin to 
operate in 2014; shifts in public policy, including those embodied in Health Care Reform; adverse changes in laws 
and regulations or the interpretation of laws and regulations; consumerism; pricing actions by competitors; 
competitor and supplier consolidation and integration; a declining number of corrunercially insured people; and 
changes in technology. We also face th~ potential of competition from existing or new companies that have not 
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historically been in the health or group insu:rance industries, such as health infonnation technology ("HIT") 
companies. Ifwe are unable to anticipate or detect these and other relevant external factors and deploy meaningful 
responses to all relevant external factors, our business and operating results may be adversely affected. 

Adverse economic conditions in the U.S~ and abroad can significantly and adversely affect our businesses and 
profitability, and we do not expect these conditions to improve in th~ near future. 
The current volatile U.S. a·nd global economic environment has resulted in significantly diminished expectations of, 
and higher uncertainty with respect to, the prospects for the U.S. and global economies going foiward. Our 
customers, medical providers and the other companies wiw~wh.ic.h we do business. are generally headquartered in 
the U.S.; however, many of our largest customers are global companies with operations around the worl~. As a 
result, adverse economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad have adversely affect~d and can in the future 
significantly and adversely affect, out businesses and profitability by: · 

Leading to reductions in workforce by our customers, which would reduce both the number of members we 

serve and our revenues. 
• . Leading our customers ·and potential customers, particularly those with the most members, and state and 

local governinents, to force us to compete more vigorously on factors such as price and service, including 
service and other performance guarantees, to retain or obtain their business. 
Leading our customers and potential customers to purchase less profitable mixes of products from us (i.e., 
purchase products that generate less profit for us (such as our administrative services products) than the 
ones they currently purchase or otherwise would have purchased) or purchase fewer products from us. 
Leading our customers and potential customers, particularly smalier .employers and individuals, to elect not 
to obtain or renew their health and other coverage with us. 
Adversely affecting state and federal budgets, resulting in reduced reimbursements or payments to us in 
Medicare, Medicaid,. SCIIlP and/or other feder.11 arid state goventri)ent healtra" care coverage programs. 
Causing unanticipated increases and volatility in utilization of medical services by our members and/or 
increases in medical unit costs, each of which would increase our health care and other benefit costs and 
~itnit our ability to accurately detect, forecast, manage and reserve for our members' utilization of medical 
services and our self-insured customers' medical cost trends and/or changes in those trends and/or future 
health care and other benefit costs. 
lncreasing our medical unit costs as hospitals and other providers attempt to maintain revenue levels in their 
efforts to adjust to their own economic challenges. 
Contributing to inflation that could cause interest rates t9 increase and thereby increase our interest expense 
·and adversely affect that component of our 013-erating results. 
Weakening the ability or perceived ability of the issuers and/or guarantors of the debt or other-securities we 
"bold in our mvesttiient portfolio t"o perform on their obligations to Us, which could result in defaults in those 
securities or reduce the value of those securities and create realized capital losses for us that r~duce our 

operating results. . 
Weakening the ability of our customers, medical providers and the other companies with which ·we do 
business to perform their obligations to us or causing them not to perform those obligations, either of which 
could reduce our operating results. 
Causing governments to impose new or higher taxes or assessments on us in response to budgetary 
pressures. 

Furthermore, reductions in workforce by our customers in excess of, or at a faster rate than, those we project could 
reduce both our membership and revenue below our proj~cted levels and c~us.e unanticipated increases in our health 
ca:i:e and other benefit costs. TI1ere can be no assurance that OUr health. care and other benefit costs, business and 
profitability will not be adversely affected by these economy-related conditions or other factors. 

Our continued business success is dependent on our ability to diversify our sources of revenue and earnings. 
As a result o.fHealth Care Reform, the declining number of commercially insured people and other factors, our 
ability lo grow profitably through the sale of traditional Insured health care and related benefits products in the U.S. 
may be limited. In order to profitably grow our business in the future, we are diversifying the sources of our 
revenue and earnings through investments in IDT, international expansion and a transformational change to our 
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business model. Accomplishing these strategic objectives will require us to simultaneously acquire and develop 
new personnel, products and systems to serve existing and new markets and enhance our existing infonnation 
technology, control anrl compliance processes and systems to deliver the new products and, in the case of 
international operations, meet country-specific customer and member preferences as well as country-specific legal 
requirements, including those relating to data storage location, protection and security. Accomplishing these 
objectives will require us to devote significant senior management and other· resources to acquisitions or other 
transactions and to develop new products, services and technology internally before any significant revenues or 
earnings are generated. In addition, many of our international and HIT competitors have longer operating histories, 
better'br'and recognition and greater scale in many of the areas in which we are seeking to expand and more 
experience at rapidly inn9v~ting procjucts. If we are not able to exp~nd our international business in countries 
where we currently operate and in targeted new countries and acquire and/or develop and launch products and 
services outside of our core He:ilth Care products and services, our ability to profitably grow our business could be 
adversely affected. 

Our international operations face political, legal and compliance, operational, regulatory, economic and other risks 
that we do not face or that are more significant than in our domestic operations. Our exposure to these.risks will 
increase as our international operations expand. These risks vary widely by country and include government. 
intervention and censorship, discriminatory regulation, nationalization or expropriation of assets, pricing issues and 
currency exchange controls or other restrictions that prevent us from transferring funds from these operations out of 
the countries in which they operate or converting local currencies that we hold into U.S. dollars or other currencies. 
Additionally, foreign curren~y ex;::hange ;-ates and fluctuations may have an impact on the future .::osts of or on 
future revenues and cash flows from our international operations, and any measures we may implement to reduce 
the effect of volatile currencies and other risks on our international operations may not be effective. Some of our 
operations are," and are likely to increasingly be, in emerging markets where these risks a~e heightened. In addition, 
our international business relies on local sales forces and other staff for some of its operations and may encounter 
labor laws, labor problems and less flexible employee relationships that can be difficult and expensive to terminate. 
In some countries, our international business operates or is required to operate with local business partners with the 
reslllting risk of managing partner relationships in addition to managing the business to reach business objectives. 
International operations also increase our exposure to and require us to devote significant management resources to 
comply with the privacy laws of non-U.S. jurisdictions and the anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-money 
laundering provisions of U.S. (including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the "FCPA")) and United 
Kingdom l:iw and similar laws in other jurisdictions and to overcome logistical and other challenges based on 
differing languages, cultures, legal and regulatory schemes and time zones. 

We are subject to funding and other risks with respect to revenue received from our participation in 
Medicare and Medicaid programs. We are also subject to retroactive adjustments to certain premiums, 
including as a result of CMS risk adjustment data validation ("RADV") audits. 
We continue to increase our focus on the non-Commercial part of our Health Care segment as part of our business 
diversification efforts. In many instances, to acquire and retain our non-Conunercial business, we m.ust bid against 
our competitors in an increasingly competitive environment, and winning bids increasingly are being challenged 
successfully. For the government-funded health program business we obtain, such as Medicare and Medicaid, our 
revenues are dependent on annual funding by the federal government and/or applicable state governments, and both 
federal and state govemrnentS have the right to 1100-renew or cancel their contracts with us on short notice without 
cause o~ if funds are not available. Funding for these programs is dependent on many factors outside our control, 
including general economic conditions and budgetary constraints at the federal or applicable state level an4 general 
political issues and priorities. For example, under Health Care Reform, 2011 Medicare Advantage payment rates to 
us were frozen bas_ed on 2010 levels with additional reductions over a multiyear period beginnin~ in 2012 based on 
regionally adjusted benchmarks, competitive bidding was introduced for Medicare Advantage plans for the 2012 
plan year, and our Medicare Advantage plans' profitability is likely to be significantly determined by their "star 
ratings" from CMS beginning in 2012. We also may be adversely affected by sequestration of Medicare payments 
starting in 2013. In addition, while Health Care Refonn will significantly expand tl1e number of people who will 
qualify to enroll in Medicaid beginning in 2014, most states currently face significant budget challenges, and 
several states are currently seeking to reduce their Medicaid expenditures; other states may take similar action. Our 
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government custo·mers also deteimirie the premium levels and other aspects of these programs that affect the · 
number of persons eligible for or enrolled in these programs, the services provided to enrollees under the programs, 
and our admiillstrative and health care and other benefit costs under these programs. In the past, determinations of 

. this type have adversely affected our financial results from and willingness to participate in such programs, and may 
do so in the future. For example, if a government customer reduces the premium levels or increases premiums by 
less than the increase in our costs and we cannot offset the impact of these act~ons with supplemental premiwns 
and/or changes in benefit plans, then our business and operating results could be adversely affected. 

In addition, premiums for certain fe!ieri!.bgovernment employee groups, Medicare members and Medicaid 
beneficiaries are subject to retroactive adjustments by the federal and applicable state govemments. CMS reg\ilarly 
audits our performance to determine our compliance with CMS's regulations ~dour con~cts with CMS and to 
assess the quality of services we provide to our Medicare members. CMS has instituted RADV audits of certain of 
our Medicare Advantage contracts for the 2007 contract year. We believe that the OIG also is auditing risk 
adjustment data, an:d we expect CMS and the OIG to continue auditing risk adjustment data for the 2007 contract 
year and beyond. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of CMS's final RADV audit methodology, other 
audits for the 2007 contract year or subsequent contract years, the amounts of any retroactive refunds of, or 
prospective adjustments to, premium payments made to us, or whether any audit findings would cause a change to 
our method of estimating future premium revenue in bid submissions to CMS for the current or future contract 
years or compromise premium assumptions made in our bids for prior contract years or the current contract year. 
For additional information, refer to "Regulatory Environment" beginning on page 25. Any prerniwn refunds or 
adjustments resulting from regillatory audits, including those resulting from CMS's selection of its final RADY 
audit methodology, whether as a result ofRADV or other audits by c;MS or OIG or othei:wise, c9uld be mate~al 

and could adversely affect our operating results, financial position and cash flows. 

We operate in a highly-competitive environment; loss or geographic shift of membershipt adverse change in 
the business mix of membership or failure to achieve profitable membership growth and diversify the 
geographic concentrations in our core Insured membership (including strategies to increase membership for 
targeted product types and customerst such as commercial or public sector business) could materially 
adversely affect our profitability. 
Competitive factors (including our customers' flexibility in moving between \is and our competitors), the current 
adverse and uncertain economic environment and ongoing changes in the health and related benefits industry 
(including merger and acquisition and strategic alliance activity in the industry) and Health Care Refonn, limit our 
ability to set premiwn rates and/or create pressure to contain premiunrprice increases despite being·faced with 
increasing health care and other benefit costs. Our customer contracts are generally for a period of~one year and 
subject to renegotiation, and our Medicare, Medicaid and SCHIP products are subject to termination without cause, 
periodic re-bid, rate adjustment ~d program redesign, as customers. seek to contain their benefit costs, particularly 
in a slow economy. Customers may elect to self-insure or to reduce benefits in order to limit increases in their 
benefit costs. Such elections may result in reduced membership in our more profitable Insured products and/or 
lower premiums for our Insured products, although such elections also may reduce our health care and other benefit 
costs. Alternatively, our customers may purchase different types of products from us that are less profitable, or 
move to a competitor to obtain more favorable pricing. Our membership is also concentrated in certain geographic 
areas in the U.S., and unfavorable changes in health care or other benefit.costs or reimbursement rates or increased 
competition in those geographic areas could therefore have a disproportionately adverse effect on our operatmg 
results: Among other factors, we compete for members oil the basis of overall eost, hospital and other mediCal 
provider discounts, plan design, customer service, quality and sufficiency of medical provider networks, quality of 
medical management programs and the tools we provide to members. In addition to competitive pressures affecting 
our ability to obtain new customers or retain existing customers, our men:ibership has been and may continue to be 
affected by·r"eductions in workforce by existing customers due to unfavorable general economic conditions, 
especially in the U.S. geographies and industries where our membership is concentrated. Failure to profitably grow 
and diversify our membership geographically or by product type may adversely affect our revenue and operating 
results. 
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Our ability to manage general and administrative expenses while expanding our market presence affects our 
profitability. 
Our profitability depends in part on our ability to drive our general and administrative expenses to competitive 
levels while expanding our market presence. Controlling general and administrative expenses is particularly 
important in our Health Care businesses that are subject to regulatory changes lhat may restrict our underwriting 
margins, such as minimum l\1LR requirements. We manage general and administrative expenses by, among other 
things, reducing.the number of products we offer and controlling salaries and related benefits and information 
technology and other general and administrative costs, while simultaneously seeking to implement Health Care 

,.... ·Reform and other regulatory requirements, attract and retain key employees,.:maintain robust management practices 

and controls, implement improvements in technology and achieve our strategic goals, including profitable 
membership growth. We can provide no assurance that we wiil be able to manage our general and administrative 
expenses to competitive levels. · 

Our business success and profitability depend in part on effective information technology systems and on 
continuing to develop and implement improvements in technology; we have several significant multi~ycar 
strategic information technology projects in process and have increased our commitment to health 
information technology products and services. 
Our businesses depend in large part on our infonnation and other tec!mology systems to a~equately price our 
products and services; accurately establish reserves, process claims and report financial results; and interact with 
providers, employer plan sponsors, members and vendors, including CVS Caremark, in an efficient and 
uninterrupted fashion. We have many different infonnation systems supporting our businesses. 

With our acquisition ofMedicitY in January 2ou, we increased our commitment to HIT products and services, a 
business that is rapidly changing and highly competitive. There is no assurance that we will be able to earn a profit 
in our HIT business, successfully adapt to changes to the HIT business or compete effectively in the HIT business 
or that we have been able to identify and mitigate the significant risks of pursuing that business, including 
protection of our proprietary rights. In addition, although the HIT industry is not currently subject to significant 
regulation, as we continue to implement our HIT initiatives, unce1tainty surrounding the regulatory authority and 
requirements in this area, as well as new legislation and/or regulation may make it difficult to achieve and maintain 
compliance and could adversely affect our ability to compete in the HIT business and the operating results of our 
HIT business. 

Our busi.ness strategy involves providing customers with differentiated, easy ~o use, secure products that leverage 
infonnation to meet the needs of those customers. The marketplace is evolving, and the types of technology and 
levels of service that are acceptable to customers and members today will not necessarily be acceptable in the 
future. Our success therefore is dependent in large part on modifying existing core and other technology systems to 
maintain their effectiveness, on anticipating and meeting market demands for technology, on effectively deploying 
our Medicity and other HIT resources and on continuing to timely develop, redesign and enhance technology 
systems that support our business strategy initiatives and processes in a compliant and cost and resource efficient 
manner, including through acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint ventures, social media and technology outsourcing, 
within the context of our existing business partnership relationships and a limited budget of human resources and 
capital. Certain of our technology systems (including software) are older, legacy systems that are less efficient and 
require an ongoing commitment of significant capital and human resources to maintain. 

We also need to effectively deploy our Medicity and other HIT resources; modify our existing systems or develop 
new systems to meet current and expected standards and keep pace with continuing changes in infonnation 
processing techno_logy, evolving industry and regulatory standards, including the minimum MLR rebates, Insurance 
Exchanges, administrative simplification and other aspects of Health Care Refonn, and changing customer 
demands. For example, the federal government has mandated that by October 2013 the health and related benefits 
industry, including health insurers, providers and laboratories, upgrade to an updated and expanded set of 
standardized diagnosis and procedure codes used for describing health conditions, known as ICD-J 0. ID-IS has 
announced that it will initiate a process to postpone the effective date for use ofICD-10 by certain health care 
entities. Implementing ICD-10 has required and will continue to require a substantial investment ofresources by us 
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and the health and related benefits industry in general over the next several years, including significant information 
technology investments, changes in business processes and documentation and extensive employee education and 
training. If we and/or the health and related benefits industry fail to adequately implement ICD-10 or if the 
implementation date ofICD-10 is postponed significantly beyond October 2013, we may suffer a significant loss in 
the resources invested and in productivity, and/or fluctuations in our cash flows. 

We also have several significant multi-year strategic information technology projects in process in addition to 
.preparing for ICD-10. System development and other information technology projects are long-tenn in nature and 
may take longerto·;complete.and cost more than we expect and may not deliver the ben~fits we proj<:9~;ph~:~ey . 
are complete. Ifwe do not effectively and efficiently manage ~d ~pgrade our technolQgy portfolio, we could, 
among other things, have proBlems de~ermining health care cost and other benefifcost estimates and/or establishing 
appropriate pricing, meeting the needs of providers, employer plan sponsors and members, or keeping pace with 
industry and regulatory standards, arid our operating results may be adversely affected. 

In order to remain competitive, we mu·st futther integrate our businesses and processes; significant 
acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint ventures and/or our ability to manage multiple multi-year strategic 
projects could make this integration more challenging; we expect to continue to pursue acquisitions as well as 
develop other inorganic groWth strategies. · . 
Ineffective integration of our businesses and processes may adversely affect our ability to compete by, among other 
things, increasing our costs relative to competitors. This integration task may be made more complex by significant 
acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint ventures, multi-year strategic projects, oµr existing business partners.hip 
relationships and a limited budget of liuman resources and' capital, 'particularly if we' ptirstie multiple transactions or 
other initiatives designed to diversify our sources ofrevenue and earnings simultaneously. For example, we 
completed four significant acquisitions during 2011. As a result of these and our previous acquisitions, we have 
acquired a number of information technology systems that we must effectively and efficiently consolidate with our 
own syste~s: Our strategy includes effectively investing our capital in appropriate strategic projects, current 
operations and acquisitions in addition to paying dividends and repurchasing our shares. Ifwe are unable to 
successfully integrate acquired businesses and other processes to realize anticipated economic and other benefits on 
a timely basis, it could result in substantial costs or delays or other operational or financial problems. 

Our strategic projects include, among other things, addressing rising healtJi care and other benefit costs, achieving 
profitable membership growth, further imp~oving the efficiency of our operations~ managing certain significant 

· technology p~ojects, further improving relations with health care providers, n·tgotiating contract changes· with 
customers and providers, and ·implementing other business process improvements. The future perfohnance of our 
businesses will depend in large part on our ability to design and implement these initiatives, some of which will 
occur over several years. If these initiatives result in increased health care or other benefit costs orao not achieve 
their objectives, our operating results could be adversely affected. 

We completed four significant acquisitions during 2011 and a number of other acquisitions and strategic alliances 
over the last several years. We expect to continue to pursue acquisitions and other inorganic growth opportunities as 
part of our growth strategy. See "Our continued business success is dependent on our ability to diversify our 
sources .of revenue and earnings" beginning on page 45. In addition to integration risks, some additional risks we 
face with respect to acquisitions and other inorganic growth sl!ategies include: 

The acquired business may not perform as projected; 
We may asswne liabilities that we do not anticipate, including those that were not disclosed to us or which we 
underestimated; 
Acquisitions and other inorganic growth strategies could disrupt or compete with our ongoing business, 
distract management, divert resources and make it difficuit to maintain our current business standards, 
controls and procedures; 
We may finance future acquisitions and other inorganic growth strategies by issuing cortiinon stock for some 
or all of the purchase price, which could dilute the ownership interests of our shareholders; 
We may incur additional debt related to future acquisitions and inorganic growth strategies; 
We frequently compete with other firms, some of which may have greater financial and other resources and a 
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greater tolerance for risk, to acquire attractive companies; and 
We may not have the expertise lo manage· and profitably grow the businesses we acquire, and we may need to 
rely on the retention of key personnel and other suppliers of companies we acquire, which may be difficult to 
accomplish. 

Managing executive succession and key talent retention, recruitment and development is critical to our 
success given the current environment. 
We would be adversely affected if we fail to adequately plan for succession of our executives and senior 
management and the retention, recruitment and development of key "talent particularly given the current 
envirorunent. While we have succession plans in place and we have employment arrangements with a limited 
number of key executives, these do not guarantee that the services of these or suitable successor executives will 
continue to be available to us. 

Our business activities are highly regulated; Health Care Reform as well as new Jaws or regulations or 
changes in existing laws or regulations or their enforcement or applicatio~ could materially adversely affect 
our business and profitability. 
Our business is subject to extensive regulation and oversight by state, federal and international governmental 
authorities. The laws and regulations governing our operations and interpretations of those laws and regulations 
change frequently (as evidenced by Health Care Reform as well as other new laws and regulations) and generally 
are designed to benefit and protect members and providers rather than our investors. In addition, the governmental 
authorities that administer our business have broad latitude to make, interpret and enforce the regulations that 
govern us and are interpreting and enforcing those laws and regulations more strictly and more aggressively. 

The federal ~nd m.any.state governments have enacted and continue to consider legislative and regulatory changes 
related to health and related benefits products, and changes in the interpretation, enforcement and/or application of 
existing laws and regulations, and the likelihood of adverse changes is increasing due to state and federal budgetary 
pressures. We must implement Health Care Refonn and monitor these and other changes and promptly implement 
any revisions lo our business processes-that these changes require. At this time, we are unable to predict the full 
impact of Health Care Reform or the impact of future changes, although we anticipate that some aspects 9fHealth 
Care Reform and other existing measures and new measures, if enacted, could materially adversely affect our health 
care operations and/or operating results includi,ng: 

Reducing our ability to obtain adequate premium rates for the risk we assume (including denial or delays in 
approval and implementation of those rates), 
Restricting our ability to price for the risk we assume and/or reflect reasonable costs or profits in our 
pricing, including mandating minimum medical loss ratios and/or pricing prospectively to mil)imum 
medical loss ratios, 
Reducing our ability to manage health care or other benefit costs, 
Increasing health care or other benefit costs and operating expenses (including duplicate expenses resulting 
from changes in regulations during implementation), 
Increasing our exposure to lawsuits and other adverse legal proceedings, 
Regulating levels and permitted lines of business, 
Restricting our ability to underwrite and operate our individual Health Care business, 
Imposing new or increasing taxes and financial assessments, and/or 
Regulating business practices. 

For example, premium rates generally must be filed with state insurance regulators and are subject to their approval, 
either before or after rates take effect. Health Care Reform generally requires a review of premium rate increases of 
10% or more by HHS in conjunction with state regulators. Regulators or legislatures in a number of states have 
implemented or are considering limits on premium rate increases, either enforcing existing legal requirements more 
stringently or proposing different regulatory standards. Premium rate review legislation (ranging from new or 
enhanced rate filing requirements to prior approval requirements) was introduced or passed in more than half the 
states in 2011. Regulators or legislatures"in a number of states also are considering conducting hearings on 
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proposed premium rate increases, which could result in substantial delay in implementing proposed rate increases 
even if they ultimately are approved. llliS has begun to issue determinations to plans that their rate increases are 
unreasonable. Rate reviews create risk for us in the current political and regulatory environment and could magnify 
the adverse impact on our operating margins and profitability of increases in utilization of medical services, health 
care and other benefit costs and/or medical cost trend that exceed our projections and Health Care Reform 
assessments, fees and taxes by restricting our ability to reflect updated projections and/or these assessments, fees 
and taxes in our pricing. The risk of higher than projected increases in utill,zation of medical services and/or 
medical cost trend is particularly acute during and foll<?wing periods when such utilization and/or trend are below 

;.,~·; · ·~.,.;~ .. , historical levels such as we have experienced during 2010 and 2011. There ispo, gu.~anty that.we wiBbe able to 
obtain rate increases that are actuarially justifie~ or that are sufficie1it to·make our· policies profitable in any product 
line or geography. During 2011, we experienced greater ~hallenges to appropriate prelnium rate increases in several 
states. Beginning in 2014, our plans may be excluded from.participating in Insurance }$xchanges if they are deemed 
to have a history of ''unreasonable" rate increases. We anticipate continued regulatory or legislative action with 
respect to regulation of premium rates in our Insured business, some of which could materially and adversely affect 
our operating margins and our ability to earn adequate returns on Insured business in one or more states or cause us 
to withdraw from certain geographic and/or product markets. 

·. ·. 

In addition, Health Care Reform requires us to pay minimum MLR rebates each year with respect to the prior year. 
The process supporting the determination of the amount of rebates payable is new and complex and requires 
judgment, and the rebate reporting requirements are detailed. As a result, challenges to our methodology and/or 
reports relating to minimum MLR rebates by federal· and state· regulat.ors and privatditigants a:re reasonably likely. 
The outcome of these challenges could adversely affect our profitability and results of operations. In the aggregate, 
the minimum MLR rebate requirements also cap the level of margin we can earn in our Commercial Insured and 
Medicare Insured business while leaving us exposed to medical costs that are higher than those reflected in our 
pricing. Refer to "Revenue Recognition" in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on 
page 73 for more information. 

Our Medicare., Medicaid and specialty and mail order pharmacy products are more highly regulated than our 
Commercial products. The laws and regulations governing participation in Medicare and Medicaid programs are 
complex, are subject to interpretafiori and can expose us to penalties for non-compliance, including penalties under 
federal and state false claims acts. In addition, Health Care Reform expanded the jurisdiction of, and thus our 
exposure to, the federal false claims act to insurance Exchanges, which will begin' to operate in 2014. Claims under 
federal and state false ciaims acts can be brought by the government or by private individuals on behalf of the 
government through a "qui tam" or "whistleblower" action. · ' 

If we fail to comply with the applicable laws and regulations we could be subject to criminal fines, Civil penalties, 
premium refunds, prohibitions on marketing or enrollment of members, termination of our contracts or other 
sanctions which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to participate in these and other programs, cash 
flows, financial condition and operating results. In addition, legislative or regulatory changes to these programs 
could have a material adverse effect on our business,. cash flows, financial condition and operating results. On June 
13, 2011, CMS lifted the intennediate sanctions it had previously imposed on us that required us to suspend the 
enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna lyiedicare Advantage and Standalone Prescription Drug 

· Plan ("PDP") contractS. The sanctlons related to our compliance with certain Medicare Part D requirements. As a 
result of these sanctions, our 2011 Medicare membership and operating results were adversely affected because we 
did not participate in the annual enrollment process for 2011. We have resumed marketing our Medicare Advantage 

. and PDP pr_oducts and have been enrolling beneficiaries with effective dates on and after July 1, 2011. CMS still is 
not assigning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPs at this time. However, low income subsidy 
members can make·their oWn choice to enroll in Aetna products. We continue to cooperate fully with CMS to 
·address residual maners identified in connection with the sanction review. Any failure of our prevention, detection 
or control systems related to regulatory compliance and/or compliance with our internal policies could adversely 
affect our reputation and also expose us to whistieblower, class action and other litigation, other proceedings, fines, 
sanctions and/or penalties, any of which could adversely affect our business, cash flows, operating results or 
financial condition. 
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There continues to be a heightened review by federal and state regulators of the health and related benefits 
industry's business and reporting practices, including payment of providers with whom the payor does not have a 
contract and other claim payment practices, and utilization management, as well as heightened review of the general 
insurance industry's brokerage, sales and marketing practices. As one of the largest national health and related 
benefits providers, we are regularly the subject of routine, regular and special governmental market conduct and 
other audits, investigations and reviews by, and we receive subpoenas and other requests for information from, 
CMS, ID-IS, various state insurance and health care regulatory authorities, state attorneys general and offices of 
inspector general, the CCIIO;·the OIG, the OPM, committees, subcommittees and members of the U.S. Congress, 
the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. Attorneys and other state and federal 
governmental authorities. Several such audits, investigations and reviews currently are pending, some of which 
may be resolved during 2012. These routine, regular and special govenunental audits, investigations and reviews 
could result in changes to or clarifications of our business practices, and also could result in significant or material 
premium refunds, fines, penalties, civil liabilities, criminal liabilities or other sanctions, including suspension or 
exclusion from participation in government programs, changes in the way we conduct business and loss of 
Ii censure. CMS has instituted RADY audits of certain of our 2007 Medicare Advantage contracts.'· For additional 
information on these Medicare matters, refer to "Regulatory Environment" beginning on page 25 and "We are 
subject to funding and other risks with respect to revenue received from our participation in Medicare and Medicaid 
Programs. We are also subject to retroactive adjustments to certain premiums, including as a result of CMS risk 
adjustment data validation ("RADY") audits," beginning on page 46. In January 2009, Aetna and the New York 
Attorney General announced an agreement relating to an industry-wide investigation into certain payment practices 
with respect to out-of-network providers. As a result of that 2009 agreement, Aetna contributed $20 million 
towards the establishment of an independent database system to provide fee information regarding out-of-network 
reimbursement rates. 

Our business also may be adversely impacted by judicial and regulatory decisions that change and/or expand the 
interpretations of existing statutes and regulations, impose medical or bad faith liability, increase our responsibilities 
under ERISA, or reduce the scope of ERJSA pre-emption of state law claims. 

Our business also may be adversely affected by other legislation and regulations. There can be no assurance that 
the Financial Reform Act and the.related rules will not impact our business. For instance, we believe we likely 
would be adversely affected if the Council designated us a "systemically important" nonbank financial company for 
purposes of the Financial Refonn Act. In addition, in July 2011, New York notified insurers that it expects insurers 
to, and will be amending its regulations to require insurers to, regularly consult the U.S. Social Security 
Administration's Death Mas.ter File or a similar database to detennine if unclaimed death benefits may be payable 
under life insurance and similar products, to pay any such benefits and to make certain other business process 
changes. Legislation mandating the use of such databases has been introduced in at least four other states. New 
York is one of over 35 states that are investigating life insurers' claims payment and related escheat practices, and 
these investigation_s have resulted in significant charges to earnings by other life insurers in connection with related 
settlement agreements. We have received requests for information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota 
with respect to our life insurance claim payment and related escheat practices. 

For more informa(ion regarding these matters, refer to "Regulatory Environment" beginning on page 25 and 
"Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on 
page 105. 

We would be adversely affected if ou~ prevention, detection or control systems fail to detect. and implement 
required changes to maintain regulatory compliance. 
Failure of our prevention, detection or control systems related to regulatory compliance and/or compliance with our 
internal policies, including data systems security issues and/or unethical conduct by managers and/or employees, 
could adversely affect our reputation and also expose us to litigation and other proceedings, fines, temporary or 
permanent suspens ion from participating in government health care programs and/or other penalties, any of which 
could adversely affect our business, cash flows, operating results or financial condition. For example, effective 
April 21 , 20 l 0, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions on us, suspending the enrollment of and marketing to new 
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members of all Aetna Med.icare Advantage and Standalone PDP contracts. The sanctions related to our compliance 
with certain Medicare Part D requirements. CMS lifted those sanctions on June 13, 201I, however CMS still is not 
as5igning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPs at this time. Refer to "Regulatory Environment" 
beginning on page 25 for more information. 

· Federal and state governments have made investigating and prosecuting health care and other insurance fraud, 
waste and abuse a priority: Fraud, waste and abuse prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities, including 
kickbacks for referral of members, billing for unnecessary medical service·s, improper marketirig and viqlations of 
patient privacy rlghts. The reglilations ang contracti.Jal .r~qui!~ments applicable to' us and other participants are 
complex and subject to change. We have invested significant resources to comply with our regulatory and 
contractual requirements. Ongoing vigorous law enforcement and the highly technical regtilatory scheme mean that 
ow: compliance efforts in this area will continue to require significant resources.· 

We face increasing risks related to litigation, regulatory audits and investigations and other regulatory 
proceedings. in addition, as a· government contractor, we are exposed to additional risks that may adversely 
affect our business or our Willingness to participate in government health care programs. If these matters 
are resolved adversely to us or these risks materialize, our financial position, operating results and cash flows 
could be adversely affected. 
We are growing by expanding into certain segments and subs~gments Qf the health care mark.etplace. Some of the 
segments and subsegments we have targeted for growth include Med.icare, Medicaid, individual; public sector and 
certain labor customers who are not subject to ERISA's limits on state law remedies. In addition, over the last 
several years·we have entered product lines in which we previously did not participate, including IDT (such as 
Medicity and ActiveHealth), support services for accountable care organizations, Insured Medicaid, Medicaid 
management and care coordination and care management on behalf of state regulators, international managing 
general underwriting, Medicare PDP, mail order pharmacy and specialty pharmacy. We also significantly expanded 
OU! Medicare Supplement, HSA and FSA and low cost claims administration businesses through acquisitions in 
2011. These products subject us to litigation, regulatory and other risks that are different from the risks of 
providing Commercial managed care· and health insurance products and may increase the risks we face from 
intellectual property and other litigation, regulatory reviews, audits and investigations and other adverse legal 
proceedings. For example, our Medicare and Medicaid products are more highly regulated. than om Commercial 
products, and· our mail order and specialty pharmacies dispense medications directly to members. There is the 
possibility of temporary or pennanent suspension from participating in government health care progriims, including 
Medicare and Medicaid, including if we do not comply with program rules or are convicted of fraud or other: 
criminal conduct in the performance of a health care program or if there is an adverse decision against us under the 
False Claims Act. For example, effective April 21, 2010, CMS imposed intermediate sanctions on us, suspending 
the enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna· Medicare Advantage and Standalone PDP contracts. 
These sanctions remained in place until June 13, 20 l l. Any similar suspensions could adversely affect our other 
businesses, Including by harming our reputation. Iii addition to the risks of purported dispensing and other 
operational errors, failure to adhere to the laws and regulations applicable to the dispensing of pharmaceuticals 
could subject our pharmacy subsidiaries to civil and criminal penalties. 

' . . . . 
In addition, we are routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits, regulatory audits, investigations and other legal 

· proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our businesses. Certain of these lawsuits are purported to be class 
actions. The majority of these cases relate to the conduct of our health care operations and allege various Violations 
of law. Many of these cases seek substantial damages (including non-economic or punitive damages and treble 
damages) and may also seek changes in otir business practices_ We may also be subject to· additional litigation and 
olher adverse legal proceedings in the future. Litigation and other adver5e legal proceedings could materially 
adversely affect our business or' opefatirig results because of reputational harm to Us caused by such proceedings, 
the costs of defending such proceedings, the costs of settlement or judgments against us, or the change·s in our 
operations that coul~ .result from such proceedings. For example, during 2009, Aetna and the New York Attorney 
General announced an agreement relating to an industry-wide investigation into certain payment practices with 
respect to out-of-network providers. Among other things, the agreement required Aetna to contribute $20 million 
towards the establishment of an independent database system to provide fee information regarding out-of-network 

. . 
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reimbursement rates. Refer to "Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements beginning on page 105 for more infonnation. 

Our products providing PBM and pharmacy services face regulatory and other risks and uncertainties 
associated with the PBM and/or pharmacy industries that may differ from the risks of our core business of 
providing managed care and health insurance products. 
The following are some of the PBM and pharmacy related risks that could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, cash flows, financial condition or operating results: 

.~·. ~ . . . 
Federal and state anti-kickback and other laws that govern our PBM.and mail order and specialty mail order 
phaffi1acies' relationship with pharmaceutical manufacturers, customers and consumers. 
Compliance requirements for PBM fiduciaries under ERISA, including compliance with fiduciary obligations 
under ERlSA in connection witl:i the development and implementation of items such as drug formularies and 
preferred (lrug listings .. 
Federal and state legislative proposals under consideration that could adversely affect a variety of pharmacy 
benefit industr; practices, including without limitation the receipt or required disclosure of rebates from 
pharmaceutical manufacturers, the regulation of the development and use of.fonnularies, legislation imposing 
additional rights to access to drugs for individuals enrolled in health care benefits plans, and restrictions on the 
use of average wholesale prices. 
The application of federal, state and local laws and regulations to the operation of our mail order pharmacy and 
mail order specialty pharmacy products. 
The risks inherent in the dispensing, packaging and distribution of pharmaceuticals and other health care 
products, including claims related to purported dispensing errors. 

In addition, on July 27, 2010, we entered into the PBM Agreement with CVS Caremark, under which CVS 
Caremark provides certain PBM services to us and our customers and members. The PBM Agreement has a tenn of 
up to 12 years, although we have certain tennination rights beginning in January 2018. CVS Caremark began 
providing services under the PBM Agreement on January I, 2011. If the PBM Agreement were to terminate for any 
reason or CVS Caremark's abillty to perform its obligations under the PBM Agreement were impaired, we may not 
be able to find an alternative supplier in a timely manner or on acceptable financial terms. As a result, we may not 
be able to meet the full demands of our customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
reputation and operating results. 

Failure by us or CVS Caremark to adhere to the laws and regulations that apply to our PBM and/or phannacies' . 
products could expose our PBM and/or phannacy subsidiaries to civil and criminal penalties and/or have a material 
adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition and operating results. 

Our reputation is one of our most important assets; negative public perception of the health and related 
benefits industry, or of the industry's or our practices, including social media activities, can adversely affect 
our profitability. · 
The health and related benefits industry regularly is subject to negative publicity, which can arise from, among 
other things, the ongoing public debate over Health Care Reform and/or from actual or perceived shortfalls 
regarding the industry's or our own business practices and/or products, including social media activities. The risk of 
negative publicity is particularly high in 2012, which is a presidential election year, and due to Health Care Refonn 
and related issues. This risk would increase further if medical cost inflation were to accelerate and cause us to raise 
premiums at a higher pace than in recent years. This risk may also be increased as the U.S. Supreme Court reviews 
the constitutionality of, and states and the federal government implement and continue to debate, Health Care 
Reform and as we continue to offer products, such as products with lim~ted benefits, targeted at market segments, 
such as the uninsured, part-time and hourly workers, students and those eligible for Medicaid, beyond those in.our 
core Commercial business and as our business model evolves to a more consumer-centric focus. Negative publicity 
of the health and related benefits industry in general or Aelna in particular can further increase out costs of doing 
business and adversely affect our profitability and our stock price by: . 

Adversely affecting the Aetna brand particularly; 
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Adversely affecting o~r ability to market and sell our products and/or services; 
Requiring us to change our products and/or services; and/or 
Increasing the regulatory and legislative requirements with which we must comply. 

We would be adversely affected if we fail to adequately protect member and customer related health, 
financial and other sensitive"iriformation, including taking· steps to ensure that our bus_iness associates who 
obtain access to sensitive information maintain its confidentiality. 
The use and disclosure of personal health; financial and other sensitive information is regulated at the federal, state 
and international levels, and thes~:'.laws.:and rules -are subject to change by legislation or administrative or judicial 
determination and increased enforcement activity. HlPAA requires business associates as well as Covered Entities 
to comply with certain privacy and security requirements. HHS recently announced that it is launching a new audit 
program under HIPAA. At this time we· cannot predict whether we will be audited or any potential penalties from 
or result.S of such an audit. In addition, international laws governing the use and disclosure of such information are 
generally more stringent than in the U.S., and they vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. 

We collect, process, maintain, retain and distribute large amounts of personal health and financial information and 
other confidential and sensitive data about our members and customers in the ordinary course of our business. Our 
bu·siness therefore depends substantially on our members' and customers' willingness to entrust us with their health 
related and other sensitive infoimatio~. Events that negatively affect that trust; including. failing.lo keep our . 
computer networks, information technology systems, computers and programs and our members' and customers' 
sensitive infonnation secure from attack, damage or unauthorized access, whether as a result of our action or 
inaction or that of one of our business associates or other vendors, including CVS Caremark, could adversely affect 
our reputation, membership and revenues and also expose us to mandatory disclosure to the media, litigation 
(including class action litigation) and other enforcement proceedings, material fines, penalties and/or remediation 
costs, and compensatory, special, punitive and statutory damages, consent orders, adverse actions against our 
licenses to do business and/or injunctive relief, any of which could adversely affect our business, cash flows, 
operating results or financial condition. We have experienced cyber attacks such as distributed denial of service 
attacks in the past and e~pect to continue to experience them going forward. Although the impact of such attacks 
has not been material through December 31, 2011, we can provide no assurance that we will be able to identify, 
prevent or contain the effects of s\Jch attacks in the future. As we expand our IDT business~ including through our 
acquisition and growth ofMedicity, expand our Accountal?le Care Solutions business, increase the amount of 
information we make available to members and consumers on mobile devices, expand our use of social media and 
expand internationally, our exposure to these data security and related cybersecurity risks, including the risk of 
undetected attacks, damage or unauthorized access, increases, and the cost of attempting to protect against these 
risks also increases. 

, . , . 

We would be adversely affected if we do not effectively deploy our capital. 
Our operations generate significant capital, and we have the ability to raise additional capital. In deploying our 
capital to fund our investments in operations (including information technology and other strategic projects), 
dividends, acquisitions, share repurchases or other capital uses, OW' financial position and operating results could be 
adversely affected if we do not appropriately balance the riskS and ·opportu.Iiities·that'are inherent 'in each m·ethod ·of 
deploying our capital. 

The manner in which we deploy our capital impacts our financial strength, claims paying ability and credit ratings 
issued ~y recognized rating organizations. We believe ratings are important factors in establishing the competitive 
position of insurance companies and health care benefits companies. Information about ratings issued by 
nationally-recognized ratings organizations is broadly distributed and generally used throughout our industry. We 
believe the financial strength and claims paying ability of our principal insurance and HMO subsidiaries are 
important factors in marketing our products to certain of our customers. In addition, Aetna Inc. 's credit ratings 
impact the cost and availability of future borrowings, and accordingly our cost of capital. Each of the ratings 
organizations reviews our ratings periodically, and there can be no assurance that our current ratings will be 
maintained in the future. Our ratings reflect each rating organization's opinion of our fmancial strength, operating 
performance and ability to meet our debt obligations or obligations to our insureds. Downgrades in our ratings, 
should they occur, could adversely affect om business, cash flows, financial condition and operating· results. 
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We must continue to provide our customers with quality service that meets their expectations. 
Our ability to ::i.ttract and retain membership is dependent upon providing quality customer service operations (such 
as call center operations, claim proces:iing, outsourced PBM functions, mail order phaimacy prescription delivery, 
specialty pharmacy prescription delivery, customer case installation and on-line access and tools) that rneet or 
exceed our customers' expectations. We depend on third parties for certain of our customer service, PBM and 
prescription delivery operations. For example, as a result of our PBM Agreement with CVS Caremark, we obtain 
certain PBM services from CVS Caremark. Failure by us or our vendors to provide service that meets our 
customers' expectations or our vendors' contractual obligations to us, including failures resulting from operational 
performance issues, can affect our ability to retain or grow profitable membership which can ad\lersely affect our 
operating results. 

Our profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to contract with providers on competitive terms 
and otherwise develop and maintain favorable provider relationships. 
Our profitability is dependent in part upon our ability to contract competitively while developing and maintaining 
favorable relationships with hospitals, physicians, phannaceutical benefit service providers, pharmaceutical 
manufacturers and other health care benefits providers. That ability is affected by the rates we pay providers for 
services rendered to our members (including financial incentives to deliver quality medical services in a cost­
effective manner), by our business practices and processes and by our provider payment and other provider 
relations practices (including whether to include providers in the various network options we make available to our 
customers), as well as factors not associated with us that impact these providers, such as merger and acquisition 
activity and other consolidations among providers, changes in Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement levels to 
providers, and increasing revenue and other pressures on providers. Ongoing reductions by CMS and state 
governments in amounts payabl~ to providers, particularly hospitals, for services provided to Medicare and 
Medicaid enrollees may pressure the financial condition of certain providers and increase this risk. The breadth and 
quality of our networks of available providers and our ability to offer different network options are important 
factors when customers consider our products and services. Our contracts with providers generally may be 
tenninated by either party without cause on short notice. The failure to maintain or to secure new cost-effective 
health care provider contracts may result in a loss of or inability to grow membership, higher health care or other 
benefits costs (which we may not be able to reflect.in our pricing due to rate reviews or other factors), health care 
provider network disruptions, less desirable products for our customers and/or difficulty in meeting regulatory or 
accreditation requireme.nts, any of which could adversely affect our operating results. 

In addition, some providers that render services to our members do not have contracts with us. In those cases, we 
do not have a pre-established understanding with these providers about the amount of compensation that is due to 
these providers for services rendered to our members. In some states, the amount of compensation due to these 
non-participating providers is defined by law or regulation, but in most instances it is either not defined or it is 
established by a standard that is not clearly translatable into dollar terms. In such instances providers may believe 
that they are underpaid for their services and may either litigate or arbitrate their dispute with us or try to recover 
from our members the difference between what we have paid them and the amount they charged us. For example, 
we are currently involved in litigation with non-participating providers, and during 2009, we settled a matter with 
the New York Attorney General that caused us to transition to other databases to determine the amount we pay non­
participating providers under certain benefit plan designs. The outcome of these disputes may cause us to pay 
higher medical or other benefit costs than we projected. 

These matters are described in more detail in "Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings" in Note 18 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page I 05. 
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We must demonstrate that our products and processes lead to access by our members to quality care by their 
µrnvid(!rs, or delivery of care .by us. 
F:iilurc lo demonstrate that our products and processes (such as disease management and patient safety programs, 
provider credentialing and other quality of care aild infonnation management initiatives) lead to access by our 
members to qualify care by providers or delivery of quality care by us or certain of our vendors, including CVS 
Caremark, would adversely affect oitr ability to differentiate our product and/or service offerings from those of 
competitors and could adversely affect our operating results. 

Sales of'our~products and.services ~re dependent on our ability to attract, retain and provide siipporMo a 
network of internal sales p·ersonnel and independe·nt third-party brokers, consultants and agents. 
Om products are sold priinarily through oilr sales personnel, who frequently work with independent brokers, 

·consultants and agents who assist in the production and servicing of business. The independent brokers, consuitants 
and agents generally are not dedicated to. us exclusively and may frequently also recommend and/or market health 
care benefits products of our competitors, and we must compete intensely for their services and alfegiance. During 
2011, we ch~ged the compensation model for most sales of our Commercial ·Insured Health Care products to 
groups of fifty-one or more employees. Under the revised model, in most states, we will not pay commissions, and 
the third-party broker or agent must negotiate compensation directly with its customer. Additionally, for sales to · 
groups of fifty or fewer employees and· individuals, we have reduced the arriqlmts ·we pay third-party .brokers and 
agents in order to reduce our administrative costs. This new model may negatively affect our relationships with 
brokers, consultants and agents. Our sales could be adversely affected if we are unable to attract or retain sales 
personnel and third-party brokers, consultants and agents or if we do not adequately provide support, training and 
education to this sales network.i·egarding our product po1tfolio, which is complex, or if our sales strategy is not 
appropriately aligned across distribution channels. This risk is heightened as our business model evolves to a more 
consumer-centric focus. 

In addition, there have been a. number of investigations regarding the marketing practices of brokers and agents 
selling health care and other insurance products and the payments they receive. These have resulted in enforcement 
actions against companies in our industry-and brokers and agents marketing and selling those companies' products. 
For example, CMS and state departments of insurance have increased their scrutiny of the marketing praciices of 
brokers and agents who market Medicare products. These investigations and enforcement actions could result in 
penalties and the imposition of corrective action plans and/or changes to industry practices, which could adversely 
affect our ability to market our products. 

We face a wide range of risks, and our success depends on our ability to identify, prioritize and··appropriately 
manage our enterprise risk exposures. · ...: · · 
As a large company operatihg in a complex industry, we encounter a variety of risks. The risks we face include, 
among other matters, the range of industry, competitive, regulatory, financial, operational or external risks identified 
in this Risk Factors discussion. We contiriue to devote resources to further develop and integrate oilr enterprise­
wide risk management processes. Failure to identify, prioritize and appropriately manage Or mitigate these risks, 

. includirig risk conceni.ratiotis across different .industries, segments °and geographies, can advers'ely affect our 
profitability, our ability to retain or grow business, or, in the event of extreme circumstances, our financial condition 
or business operations. 

We hold reserves for expected claims, which are estimated, and these estimates invoive an extensive degree of 
judgment; if actual claims exceed reserve estimates, our operating results could be materially adversely 
affo<'l'l~d . 

Our reported health care costs payable for any particular period reflect our estimates of the ultimate cost of claiins 
that have been incurred by our members but not yet reported to us and claims that have been 'reported to 1ls but not 
yet paid. We also must estimate the amount of rebates payable under Health Care Refonn's minimum lvfLR rules. 
We estimate health care costs payable periodically, and any resulting adjustments are reflected in ~urrent-period 
ope~ating results within health care costs. bur estimates of health care costs payable are based on a number of 
factors, including those derived from historical claim experience. A large portion of health care claims.are not 
submitted to us until after the end of the quarter in·which services are rendered by providers to our members. As a 
result, an extensive degree of judgment is used in this estimation process, considerable variability is inherent in 
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such estimates, and the adequacy of the estimate is highly sensitive to changes in medical chims submission and 
payment patterns, changes in membership and product mix, utilization of medical services, and changes in medical 
cost trends. A worsening (or improvement) of medical cost trend or changes in claim payment patterns from those 
that were assumed in estimating health care costs payable at December 31, 2011 would cause these estimates to 
change in ·the near tem1, an.d such chanse coi,tld _be materiaL Fuajiermore, if we are not able to accurately estimate 
the cost of incurred but not yet reported claims or reported claims that have not been paid, our ability to take timely 
corrective actions may be limited, which would further exacerbate the extent of any negative impact on our 
operating results. These risks are particularly acute during and following periods when utilization of medical 
services and/or medical cost trends are below historical_ levels such as we have experienced during 2010 and 2011 
and magnified by Health Care Refom1 and other legislation and regulations (such as rate.reviews and limits on 
premium rate increases) _that limit our ability to price for our projected and/or experienced increases in such 
utilization and/or trend. Refer to our discussion of "Critical Accounting Estimates - Health Care Costs Payable" 
beginning on page 19 for more infonnation. 

Any requirement to restate financial results due to the inappropriate application of accounting principles or 
other matters.could also have a material adverse effect on us and/or the trading price of our common stock. 
The appropriate application of accounting principles in accordance with GAAP is required to ensure the soundness 
and accuracy of 9ur financial statements. An inappropriate application of these principles may lead to a restatement 
of our financial results and/or a deterioration in the soundness and accuracy of our reported financial results. If we 
experienced such a deterioration, users of our financial statements might lose confidence in our reported results, 
which could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock, our credit ratings and/or our access to capital 
markets. 

We are dependent on O\lr ability to manage, engage and retain a very large and diverse workforce. 
Our products and services and our operations require a large number of employees, and a significant number of 
employees joined us during 2011 as a result of our acquisitions. Our business could be adversely affected if our 
retention, development, succession, integration and other human resource mauagement techniques are not aligned 
with our strategic objectives. In addition, as we expand internationally, we face the added challenge of integrating, 
educating, managing and retaining a more culturally diverse workforce .. The impact of the external environment or 
other factors on employee morale and engagement could also significantly impact the success of our company. 

Epidemics, pandemics, terrorist attacks, natural tJisasters or other extreme events or the continued threat of 
these extreme events could materially increase health care utilization, pharmacy costs and/or life and 
disability claims and impact our business continuity; and we cannot predict with certainty whether any such 
events will occur. 
Extreme events, including terrorism, can affect the U.S. economy in general, our industry and us specifically. Such 
events could adversely affect our business, cash flows, and operating results, and, in the event of extreme 
circumstances, our financial condition or viability .. Other than obtaining insurance coverage for our facilities and 
limited reinsurance of our Health Care and/or Group Insurance liabilities, there are few, if any, commercial options 
through which to transfer the exposure from terrorism away from us. In particular, in the event of nuclear, 
biological or other terrorist attacks, natural disasters, epidemics or other extreme events, we could face significant 
health care (including behavioral health), life insurance and disabilit)' costs which would also be affected by the 
government's actions and the responsiveness of public heallh agencies and other insurers. In addition, our life 
insurance members _and our employees and those of our vendors are concentrated in certain large, metropolitan 
areas which may be exposed to these events. Our business could also be adversely' affected if we do not maintain 
adequate procedures to ensure disaster recovery and business continuity during and after such events. 

We outsource and obtain PBM services and certain information technology systems and other services from 
independent third parties and also dekgate selected functions to independent practiee associations and 
specialty service providers; portions of our operations are subject to their performa~ce. 
We take steps to monitor and regulate the perfonnance of independent third parties who provide PBM services, 
systems·-related or oilier services or facilities to us or to whom we. delegate selected functions. Certain of these third 
parties provide us with significant portions of our requirements. These third parties include CVS Caremark, 
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information technology system providers, independent practice associations, accountable care organizations and 
call center and claim and billing service providers. These arrangements may make our operations vulnerable if 
those third parties fail to comply with applicable laws or regulations or to meet their obligations to us, whether 
because of our failure to adeq·uately niortitor and regulate their performance, or changes in their own financial 
condition or other matters outside our control. A termination of our agreements with one or more of these service 
providers could result in reduced service quality and effectiveness, inability to meet our obligations to our 
customer's or less favorable contract terms that may adversely affect our operating results. 

Under the PBM Agreement, CVS Caremark provides certain PBM services t6'iis and·'our customers and members. 
The PBM Agreement is for a term of up to 12 years, although we have certain tennination rights beginning in 
January, 2018. CVS Ca:reinark began providing services under the PBM Agreement on January I, 2011. Ifthe 
PBM Agreement were to terminate for any reason or CVS Caremark's ability to· perform its obligations under the 
PBM Agreement were inlpaited, we may-riot be able to find an alternative supplier in a timely manner or on 
acceptable financial tern'ls. As a result, we.may not be able to meet the full demands of our customers, which could 
have a material adverse effect on olir business, reputation and operating results. 

In addition, certain of our vendors have been responsible for releases of sensitive information of our members· and 
employees, which has caused us to incur additional expenses and given rise to litigation against us. Certain 
legislative authorities have in recent years also discussed or proposed legislation that would restrict outsourcing 
and, if enacted, could materially increase our costs. We also could become overly dependent on key vendors, which 
could cause us to lose core compet~ncies if not properly monitored. In recent years, certain third parties to whom 
we delegated selected functions, such as independent practice associations and specialty services providers, have 
experienced financial difficulties, including bankruptcy, which may subject us to increased costs and potential 
health care benefitS provider network disruptions, and in some cases cause us to incur duplicative claims expense. 

Adverse conditions in the U.S. and global capital markets can significantly and adversely affect the value of 
our investments in debt and equity securities, mortgage loans, alternative investments and other investments, 
our profitability and/or our financial position. 
The global capital markets, including credit markets, continue to experience volatility, uncertainty and disruption. 
As an insurer, we have a substantial investment portfolio that supports our policy liabilities and surplus and is 
comprised largely of debt secwities of issuers located in the U.S. As a result, the income we earn from our 
investment portfolio is largely driven by the level of interest rates in the U.S., and to a lesser extent the international 
financial markets; and volatility, uncertainty and/or disruptions in the global capital markets, particularly the U.S. 
credit markets, and governments' nion.etary policy, particularly the easing of U.S. monetary policy, can significantly 
and adversely affect the value ofour investment portfolio, our profitability and/or our financial position by: 

Significantly reducing the Value of the debt securities we hold in our investment portfolio and creating realized 
capital losses that reduce our operating results and/or unrealized capital lpsses that reduce our shareholders' 
equity .. 
Keeping interest rates low on high-quality short-term debt secwities (such as we have experienced during 
recent years) and thereby materially reducing our net investment income and operating results as the proceeds 
from maturing securities in our investment portfolio continue to be reinvested in lower yielding securities. 
Making it more difficult to yalue certain of our investment securities, for example if trading becomes Jess 
frequent, which could lead to significant period-to-period changes in our estimates of the fair values of those 
securities and cause period-to-period volatility in our net income and shareholders' equity. 
Reducing our ability to issue short-tenn debt securities at attractive interest rates, thereby increasing our interest 
expense and decreasing our operating results. 
Reducing our ability to issue other securities. 

Although we· seek, within guidelines we deem appropriate, to match the duration of our assets and liabilities and to 
manage olir credit exposures, a failure to adequately do so could adversely affect our net income and our financial 
condition. 
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Our pension plan expens~s are affected by general market conditions, interest rates and the accuracy of 
actuarial estimates of future benefit costs. 
We have pension plans that cover a large nwnber of current employees and retirees. Even though our employees no 
longer earn future pension service credits. in the Aetna Pension Plan effective December 31, 2010, the Aetna 
Pension Plan continues to operate. Therefore, unfavorable investment performance, interest rate changes or 
changes in estimates of benefit costs, if significant, could adversely affect our operating results or financial . 
condition by significantly increasing our pension plan expense and obligations. For example, due to market-driven 
unfavorable investment performance in 2008, our pension expense incre~ed in 2009. The decrease in pension cost 
in 2011 an4 2010 was ca~ed by .. the freezing of the Aetna Pension Plan. <";;c-;.· . ·;:--:, ,_ . 

We also face other risks t~at could adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition, 
which include: 

Health care benefits provider fraud that is not prevented or detected and impacts our medical cost trends or 
those of our self-insured customers. In. addition, in an uncertain economic· environment, whether in the 
United States or abroad, our businesses may see increased fraudulent claims volume, which may lead to 
additional costs because of an increase in disputed claims and litigation; 

. A significant failure of internal control over financial reporting; 
Failure of our corporate governance policies or procedures, for example significant financial decisions 
being made at an inappropriate level in our organization; 
Financial ·loss from inadequate insurance coverage due to self-insurance levels or unavailability of 
insurance and reinsurance coverage for credit or other reasons; and 
Failure to protect our proprietary information. 

:..· . . 
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Sclccled Financial Data 

For the Years Ended Decerriber.31, 
(Millions, except per common share data) 2011 1010 2009 2008 2007 
Revenue ; $ 33,779.8 $ 34,246.0 $ . 34,764.l · $ 30,950.7 s· 27,599.6 
Net income 1,985.7 1,766.8 1,276.5 1,384.1 1,831.0 
Net realized capital gains (losses), net of tax 109.1 183.8 55.0 (482.3) (47.9) 
Total assets 38,593.J 37,739.4 jS,550.4 35,852.5 50,724.7 

Short-term debt ·~·"'';. · :"",frs.9 480.8 215.7 130.7 

Long-term debt 3,977.7 . 4,382.5 3,639.s 3,638.3 3,138.5 

Shareholders' equity 10,120.2 . 9,890.8 9,503.8 . 8,186.4. 10,038.4 

Per common sbare data: 

Cumulative annual dividends declared s .625 (l) $ .04 $ .04 $ .04 $ .04 

Net income: 

Basic · 'S.33 4 .25. . 2.89 2.91 3.60. 

Diluted s.22 4.18 2.84 2.83 3.47 

(I) In February 2011, we aWJounced that our Board of Directors (our "Board") increased our cash dividend to shareholders to $.1 S per share 
and moved to a quarterly dividend payment cycle. On December 2, 2011, our Board incrca~ed our quarterly cash dividend to 
shareholders to S.175 per common share. 

Set· Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and MD&A for significant events affecting the comparability of 
results as well as material u.ncertainties. 

I 

. . 
. '• ·. 

/:; 
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Consolidated Statements of Income 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(Millions, exeept per common share data) 2011 2010 2009 

. Revenue: 

Health care premiums $ 27,189.2 $ 27,610.6 $ 28,243.8 

Other premium~ 1,775.8 1,822.I 1,892.4 

Fees and other revenue (J) 3,716.1 3,529.5 3,536.5 

Netinvestment income 930.8 -:: ,!_,05fi);;. _ 1,036.4 

Net realized capital gains 167.9 227.5 55.0 

Total revenue 33,779.8 34,246.0 34,764.1 

Benefits and expenses: 

Health care costs (ll 21,653.S 22,719.6 24,061.2 

Current and future benefits 1,876.S 2,013.4 2,078.1 

Operating expenses: 

Selling expenses 1,104.8 1,226.6 1,251.9 

General and administrative expenses 5,699.6 5,292.4 5,131.l 

Total operating expenses 6,804.4 6,519.0 6,383.0 

Interest expense 246.9 254.6 243.4 

Amortization of other acquired intangible assets 120.7 95.2 97.2 

Total benefits and expenses 30,702.0. 31,601.8 32,862.9 

Income before income taxes 3,077.8 2,644.2 1,901.2 

Income taxes 1,092.l 877.4 624.7 

Net income s 1,985.7 $ 1,766.8 $ 1.276.5 

Earnings per common share: 

Basic $ 5.33 $ 4.25 $ 2.89 

Diluted $ 5.22 $ 4.18 $ 2.84 

(I) Fees and other revenue include administrative services contract member co-payments and plan sponsor reimbursements related to our 
mail order and specialty pharrnacy operations of $63 million, $83 million and $81 million (net of phannaceutical and processing costs 
of$l.3 billion, $1 . .4 billion and $1.6 biHion) for 2011, 2010 and 2009 respectively. 

(l) Health care costs have been reduced by Insured member co-payments related to our mail order _and specialty phann.acy operations of 
$130 million, $148 million and $122 million for 2011, 2010 and 2009 respectively. 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 

At December 31, 

(Millions) 2011 2010 
Assets: 

Current "assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents s 679.7 s 1,867.6 

Investmeilts 2,211.8 2,169.7 

Premiums receivable, net 761.4 661.9 

Other receivables, net ,,~_:· ~"":· '::-,;,!-~' 701.5 692.6 ( . .:::· ~·:· 

A~rued investment inoorrie 195.8 203.4 

Collateral received under securities loan agieements 210.6 

Income taxes receivable 161.!I 210. l 

Deferred income taxes 387.2 327.0 

Other current assets 790.7 651.3 

Total current assets s,89~.o 6,994.2 

Long-term invesinients 18,083'.2 17.546.3 

Reinsurance recoverables 921.7 960.J 

Goodwill 6,203.9 5, 1'46.4 

Other ncquiied intangible assets, net 958.6 495.5 

Property and equipment, net 556.9 529.3 

Deferred income 1axes 29.9 

OU1cr Jong-1cnn ns~cLS 760.6 742.4 

Separate Accounts assets 5,218.2 5,295.3 

Total assets s 38,593.1 $ 37,739.4 

Liabilities and sharebolders' equity: 

Current liabilities: 

Health can costs payable s 2,675.S s 2,630.9 

Future policy benefits 668.0 728.4 

Unpaid claims 581.2 . 593.3 

Unearned premiums 369.7 318.7 

Policyholders' funds 1,281.6 . 918.1 

Collateral payable under securities loan agreements 210.8 

Short-term debt 425.9 

Current portion of long-term debt 899.9 

Accrued expenses and other CWTenl .liabilities 2,520.J 2,436.8 

Total current liabilities 8,522.2 8,736.9 

Future policy benefits 6,092_.8 6,276.4 

Unpaid claims l,SOS.8 1,514.3 

Policyholders' funds 1,351 .6 1,316.6 

Long-term debt, less current portion J,977.7 3,482.6 

Deferred income taxes 208.8 . 

O!her long-1em1 liabilities 1,595.8 l,226.5 

Scparalc l\ccounls liabilities S,218.2 S,295.3 

ToLl!.l liabilities 28,472.9 27,848.6 

·Commitments and contingencies (Note 18) 

Shareholders' equity: 

Common stock ($.01 par velue; 2.6 billion shares authorized and 349.7 million shares issued 

and outstanding in 2011; 2.7 billion shares authorized and 384.4 million shares issued and 

outstanding in 20 I 0) and additional paid-in capital 962.8 651.5 

Retai.oed earnings 10,346.6 l0,401.9 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss· . (1,189.2) {l , l 62.6) 

Total shareholders' equity 10,120.l 9,890.8 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity s 38,S93:J s 37,739.4 

Refer 10 ~ccompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity 

Common 
Number of St.ock and Accumulated 

Common Additional Other Total 
Shares Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Shareholders' Comprehensive 

(Millions) Outstanding Capital Earnings Loss Equity lneome 

Balance at December 31, 2008 456.3 $ 351.2 $ 9,716.S $ (1,881.3) $ 8,186.4 

Cumulative effect of adopting new ~ccounting 

standard at April 1, 2009 (Note 2) 53.7 {53.7) 
~;.'.i.·. ,:' :·· .. {!• •. • '. .. 

Comprehensive income: 

Net income 1,276.5 1,276.5 s 1,276.S 

Other comprehensive income (Note 9): 

Net unrealii.ed gains on securities 619.0 619.0 

Net foreign currency and derivative gains 34.0 34.0 

Pension and OPEB plans 59.0 59.0 

Other comprehensive income 712.0 712.0 112.0 

Total comprehensive income $ 1,988.5 

Common shares issued for benefit plans, 

including tax benefits 3.4 119.2 119.2 

Repurchases of common shares (28.9) (.3) (772.7) (773.0) . 

Dividends declared (17.3) (17.3) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 430.8 470.1 10,256.7 (1,223.0) 9,503.8 

Comprehensive income: 

Net income - 1,766.8 1,766.8 $ 1,766.8 

Other comprehensive income (Note 9): 

Net unreali2ed gains on securities 114.3 114.3 

Net for~ign currency and derivative losses (52.6) (52.6) 

Pension &.nd OPEB plans (1.3) (1.3) 

Other comprehensive income 60.4 60.4 60.4 

Total comprehensive income $ 1,827.2 

Common shares issued for benefit plans, 

including tax benefits 6.0 181.9 181.9 

Repurchases of common shares (52.4) (.S) (1,605.5) (1,606.0) 

Dividends declared - (16.1) (16.1) 

Balance at December 31, 2010 384.4 651.5 10,401.9 (J,162.6) 9,890.8 

Comprehensive income: 

Net income 1,985.7 1,985.7 S· 1,985.7 

Other comprehensive loss (Note 9): 

. Net unrealized gains on securities 203.1 203.l 

Net fore.ign currency and derivative losses (6.4) (6.4) 

Pension and OPEB plans (223.3) (223.3) 

Other comprehensive loss (26.6) (26.6) (26.6) 

Total comprehensive in.come s 1,959.~ 

Common shares issued for benefit plans, 

including tax benefits 10.4 311.7 311.7 

Repurchases of common shares (45.1) (.4) (1,812.6) (1,813.0) 

Dividends declared (228.4) (228.4) 

Balance at December 31, 2011 349.7 s 962.8 $10,346.6 s (1,189.2) s 10,120.2 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Fiows 

For .the Years .Ended December 31, 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Cash flows from operating activitie's: 

Net income s J,985.7 $ 1,766.8 $ 1,276.5 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Net realt~~4 c~pj~l gains •.. (167.9) (227:.5) ~~~ :·.1 (55.0) 

Depreciation and amortization 447.2 444.4 416.0 

Equity in losses (earnings) of affiliates, net '1.4 (33.1) (15.7) 

Stock-based compensation expense 141.4 I 10.4 90.7 

Amortization (accretion) of net investment premium (discount) . . 1.9 . (28.9) (67.0) 

Changes in assets and lia.bilities: 

Accrued investment income 6.7 5.8 (15.6) 

Premiums due and other receivables 16.4 (38.6) (53. 7} 

Income taxes 154.9 182.8 (14.4) 

Other assets and other liabilities 215 (309.3) 570.4 

He~hh care and insurance liabilities (103.0) (458.6) 357.6 

Other, net 1.6 (2.1) (1.5) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,507.8 1,412.I 2,488.3 

Cash flows from investing activities: . 

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 10,045.6 i I ,966.7 10,029.6 

Cost of investments '(9;998.1) .(1 I ,043.4) (11,592.2) 

Additions to property, equipment and softWare (372.0) (288.7) (362.0) 

Cash u.sed for acquisitions, net of cash acquired . (J,555.7) (.1) (75.1) 

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities (1,880.2) 634.5 (1,999.7) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

Net repayment oflong-tenn debt (900.0) 

Net issuance of long-term debt 480.1 697.8 

Net issuance (repayment) of short-tenn· debt 425.9 (480.8) 266.1 

Deposits and interest credited for investment conttacts S.6 8.0 7.1 

cs:9> 
• ' 

Withdrawals of investment contracts (9.5) (9.0) 

Conunon shares issued under ben.cflt.p Jans 12s.s· 43.2 
.. 

14.S I 

Stock-based compensation tax benefits 38.S 22.5 5.1 

Common shares repurchased (J,813.0) (l,606.0) (773.0} 

Dividends paid to shareholders (167.2) (16.1) (17.3) 

Collateral on interest rate swaps (2.0) (41.7) 41.7 

Net cash used for financing activities (1,815.5) (I ,382.6) (464.5) 

Ncl (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (J,187.9) 664.0 24.I 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period J,867.6 1,203.6 1,179.5 

Cash and cash equivalc:nts, end of period s 679.7 $ 1,867.6 $ 1,203.6 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Organization 

We conduct oui operations in three business segments: 

Health Care consists of medical, pharmacy benefit management services, dental, behavioral health and 
vision plans offered on both an Insured basis (where we assume all or a majority of the risk for medical and 
dental care costs) and an cmployer-funded.~asis (where the plan sponsor ui1deran administrative services 
contract ("ASC") assumes all or a majority of this risk). Medical products include point-of-service 
("POS"), preferred provider organization ("PPO"), health maintenance organization ("HM:O") and 
indemnity benefit plans. Medical products also include health savings accounts ("HSAs") and Aetna 
Healthfund®, consumer-directed health plans that combine traditional POS or PPO and/or dental coverage, 
subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit account (which may be funded by t.he plan sponsor 
and/or the member in the case ofHSAs). We also offer Medicare and Medicaid products and services and 
specialty products, such as health information technology services, medical management and data analytics 
services, medical stop loss insurance, and products that provide access to our provider network in select 
markets. 

Group Insurance primarily includes group life insurance products offered on an Insured basis, including 
basic and supplemental group tenn life, group universal life, supplemental or voluntary programs and 
accidental death and dismemberment coverage. Group Insurance also includes (i) group disability products 
offered to employers on both an Insured and an ASC basis which consist primarily of short-term a~d long­
term disability insurance (and products which combine both), (ii) absence management services offered to 
employers, which include short-term and long-term disability administration and leave management, and 
(iii) long-tenn care products that were offered primarily on an Insured basis, which provide benefits 
covering the cost of care in private home settings, adult day care, assisted living or nursing facilities. We 
no longer solicit or accept new long-term care customers. 

Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) 
primarily for tax qualified pension plans. These products provide a variety of funding and benefit payment 
distribution option_s and other services. Large Case Pensions also includes certain discontinued products 
(refer to Note 20 beginning on page l l 0 for additional information). 

Our three business segments are distinct businesses tha~ offer different products and services. Our Chief Executive 
Officer evaluates fmancial performance and makes resource allocation decisions at these segment levels. The 
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies in Note 2, below. We evaluate the performance of these business segments based on operating earnings 
(net income .or loss, excluding net realized capital gains or losses and other items, if any) (refer to Note 19 
beginning on page 108 for segment financial information). 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally­
accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and include the accounts of Aetna and the subsidiaries that we control. 
All significant intercompany balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company has eval_uated 
subsequent events from the balance sheet date through the date the financial statements were issued and detennined 
there were no other items to disclose. 
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····-

New Accounting Standards 
Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impainnents 
Effective April 1, 2009, we.adopted new accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impairments ("OITI") of 
debt securities. This guidance establishes new criteria for the recognition of OTTI on debt securities and also 
requires additional financial statement disclosure. Under this guidance an OTTI must be recognized if either a 
credit-related loss is deemed to have occurred or we have the intention to sell a security that is in an unrealized loss 
position. Refer to Note·s 8 and 9 beginning on pages 78 and 84, respectively; for additional iriformation. 

Upon adoption of this new guidance; we evaluated securities held at April l;,4009..for which.a previous OTTI was 
recognized, and identi'fied those secllrities that we did not intend to sell .. As a result of this analysis, we recorded a 
$54 million ($83 million pretax) ciimulative effect adjustment that increased retained earnings and accumulated 
other comprehensive loss as of April 1, 2009. 

Future Application of Accounting Standards 
Testing Goodwill for Impairment 
Effective January I, 2012, we will adopt new accounting guidance for testing goodwiH for impairment. Under this 

·.guidance, we will have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not 
that the fair value of our Health Care or Group Insurance segment is less than its carrying value. Ifwe determine 
that the fr.ir value is likely greater than its carrying value, then no additional analysis is necessary; and the goodwill 
is not impaired. We do not expect the new guidance to have a material impact on our financial position or operating 
results. 

Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Health Insurers 
·Beginning January I, 2014, we will adopt new accounting guidance relating to the recognition and income 
statement reporting of any mandated fees to be paid to the federal government by health insurers. This guidance 
will apply primarily to new fees enacted in the Patient Prot~ttion and Affordable Care Act arid the Health Care and 
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, "Health Care Reform"). We are evaluating the impact this 
guidance will have on our financial position or operating results. 

Presentations of Comprehensive Income 
Beginning January I, 2012, we will adopt new presentation requirements for other comprebensi ve income in 
financial statements. Under this new guidance, we will present comprehensive income as a separate statement 
immediately following the statement of income. This t.hange in presentation will not have an impact on out 
financial position or operating results. 

Fair Value Measurements 
, ... 

Beginning January 1, 2012, we will adopt new guidance relating to fair value·measurements. This new guidance 
amends and clarifies certain existing fair value measurement principles and requires additional disclosures for all 
Level 3 assets, including a qualitative discussion about the sensitivity of Level 3 fair value measurements. The new 
requirements are not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or operating results. 

Reconsideration of Effective Control for Repurchase Agreements 
Beginning January 1, 2012, we will adopt new guidance relating to repurchase agreements an.d other agreements 
that entitle and obligate a transferor to repurchase or redeem financial assets before maturity. The guidance 
prescribes when an entity may recognize a sale upon the transfer of financial assets subject to repurchase 
agreements. Since we treat these transactions as collateralized borrowings rather than sales, we do not expect the 
adoption of this accounting guidance to have a material impact on our financial po·sition or operating results. 

· . . 
Deferred Acquisition Costs 
Beginning January 1, 2012, we will adopt new guidance for costs associated with acquiring or renewing insurance 
contracts. This guidance clarifies that such costs qualify for capitalization when directly related to the successful 
acquisiticn of new and renewed insurance contracts. We do not expect the adoption of this accounting guidance to 
have a material impact on our financial position or operating results . 
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Use of Estimates 
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the use 
of estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statem~nts and notes. 
We consider the following accounting estimates critical in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements: health care costs payable, other insurance liabilities, recoverability of goodwill and other 
acquired intangible· assets, measurement of defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans, other­
than-temporary impainnent of debt securities and revenue recognition, and allowance for estimated tenninations 
and uncollectable accounts. -We use information available to us at the time estimates are made; however, these 
estimates could change materi(llly if different information or assumptions were used. Additionally, these estimates 
may not ultimately reflect the acti.ial amounts of the final transactions that occur. 

Cash and Ca~h Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on-hand and debt securities with an original maturity of three months or less 
when purchased. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of 
these investments. 

Investments 
Debt and Equity Securities 
Debt and equity securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury and agency securities, mortgage-backed securities, 
corporate and foreign bonds and other debt and equity securities. Debt securities are classified as either current or 
long-tenn investments based on.their contractual maturities unless we intend to sell an investment within the next 
twelve months, in which case it is classified as current on our balance sheets. We have classified our debt and 
equity securities as available for sale and cany them at fair value. Refer to Note 10 begiJUling on page 85 for 
additional infonnation on how we estimate the fair value of these investments. The cost for mortgage-backed and 
other asset-backed' securities is adjusted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which are amortized using the 
interest method over the estimated remaining term of the securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments. We 
regularly review our debt and equity securities to detennine whether a decline in fair val11e below the carrying 
value is other-than-temporary. When a debt or equity security is in an unrealized capital loss position, we monitor 
the duration and severity of the loss to detennine if sufficient market recovery can occur within a reasonable 
period of time. Beginning April 1, 2009, we recognize an impairment on debt securities when we intend to sell a 
security that is in an unrealizeo loss position. or if we detem1ine a credit-related loss has occurred. Prior to April 
l, 2009, we would recognize an impainnent if we did not have the intention and ability to hold the security until it 
recovered its value (refer to New Accounting Standards beginning on page 67 for additional infonnation). We do 
not accrue interest on debt securities when management believes the collection of interest is unlikely . . 

We lend certain debt and equity securities from our investment portfolio to other institutions for short periods of 
time. Borrowers must post cash collateral in the amount of 102% to l 05% of the fair value of the loaned security. 
The fair value of the loaned securities is monitored on a daily basis, with additional collateral obtained or refunded 
as the fair value of the loaned securities fluctuates. The collateral is retained and invested by a lending agent 
according to our guidelines to generate additional income for us. 

Mortgag~ loa!fs 
We carry the value of our mortgage loan investments on our balance sheets at the unpaid principal balance, net of 
impainnent reserves. A mortgage loan may be impaired when it is a problem loan (i.e., more than 60 days 
delinquent, in bankruptcy or in process of foreclosure), a potential problem loan (i.e., high probability of default 
within J years) or a restructured loan. For impaired loans, a specific impairment reserve is established for the 
difference between the recorded investment in the loan and the estimated fair value of the collateral. We apply our 
loan impairment policy individually to all loans in our portfolio. 

The quarterly impairment evaluation described above also considers characteristics and risk factors attributable to 
the aggregate portfolio. We would establish an additional allowance for loan losses if it were probable that there 
would be a credit loss on a group of similar mortgage loans. We consider the following characteristics and risk 
factors when evaluating if a credit loss is probable: loan to value ratios, property lype (e.g., office, retail, apartment, 
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industrial), geographic location, vacancy rates and property condition. We determined that a credit loss was not 
probable and did not record any additional allowance for loan losses with respect to performing mortgage loans in 
2011, 2010 or 2009. 

We record full or partial charge-offs of loans at the time an event occurs affecting the legal status of the Joan, 
typically at the time of foreclosure or upon a loan modification giving rise to forgiveness of debt. Interest income on 
an imp<1ired loan is accrued to the extent we deem it collectable and the loan continues to perform under its original 
•)r rcslructured terms. Taterest income on problem loans is recognized on a cash basis. Cash payments on loans in 
W.e process of foreclosure are treated as a rettim of principal; Mortgage loans with a matUrity date or a committed 
prepayment date.within twelve months are classified as current on our balance sheets. 

Othet Investments 
Other investments.consist primarily of alternative investments (which are comprised Of private equity and hedge 
fund limited partnerships), investment real estate and derivatives. We typica11y do not have a controlling 
ownership in our alternative investments, and therefore we apply the equity method .of accounting for these 
investments. We invest in real estate for the production of income. We carry the value of our investment real 

· estate on our balance sheets at depreciated cost, including capital additions, net of write-downs for other-than­
temporaiy declines in fair value. Depre'ciation is calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated 
useful life of each asset. If any of our real estate investments is considered held-for-sale, we carry it at the lower of 
its carrying value or fair value Jess estimated selling costs. We generally estimate fair value using a discounted 
future cash flow analysis in conjunction with comparable sales information. At the time of the sale, we record the 
difference between the sales price and the carrying value as a realized capitai gain or loss; 

We make Ii.Iil.ited us·e of derivatives in order to manage interest rate, fcireigri exchange, price risk and credit 
exposure. The derivatives we use consist primarily of futures contracts, forward contracts, interest rate swaps, 
credit default swaps, warrants and put options. Derivatives are reflected at fair value on our balance sheets. 

When we enter into a derivative contract, if certain criteria are met, we may designate it as one of the following: a 
hC'dge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm coqunitment; a hedge of a 
filrt>castt:<l transaction or of the variability of cash flows tc;> be received or paid related to a recognized asset or 
liability; or a foreign currency fair value or cash flow hedge. 

Net Investment Income and Realized Capital Gains and Losses 
Net investment income on investments supporting Health Care and Group Insurance liabilities and Large <:::ase 

. Pensions products (other than e~pei-ience-raied a;1d discohtinued products). are reflected ih our operati"ng results. 

Experience-rated products are products in the Large Case Pensions busines~ where the contract holder; not us, 
. assumes in.vestment and other riskS, subject to, among other things, minimum gu~rantees provided by us. the 
effect of investment performance on experience-rated products is allocated to contract holders' accounts daily, based 
on the underlying investment's experience and, therefore, does not impact our·op.erating results (as long as 
minimum guarantees are not triggered). 

Wh~n we disconLinued the sale of our fully-guaranteed Large Case Pensions products, we established a reserve for 
anticipated futilre losses from these discontinued products and segregated the related investments. Investment 
performance on this separate pc>rtfolio is ultimately credited/charged to the reservy and, generally, does not impact 
our operating results. · 

Net investment income supporting Large Case Pensions' experience-rated and discontinued products is included in 
net investment income in our statements of income and is credited to contract holders accounts or the reserve for 
anticipated future losseS'through a charge to current and future benefits. 

Realized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Health Care and Group Insurance liabilities and Large 
Case Pensions products (other than experience-rated and discontinued products) are reflected in olir operating 
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results. Realized capital gains and losses are determined on a specific identification basis. We reflect purchases and 
sales of debt and equity securities and alternative investments on the trade date. We reflect purchases and sales of 
mortgage loans and investment real estate on the closing date. 

Realized gains and losses on investments supporting Large Case Pensions' experience-rated and discontinued 
products are not included in realized gains and losses in our statements of income and instead are credited directly 
to contract holders' accounts, in the case of experience-rated products, or allocated to Lhe reserve for anticipated 
future losses established at discontinuance, in the case of discontinued products. The contract holders' accounts are 
reflected in policyholders' funds, and the reserve for anticipated future losses is reflected in future policy benefits on 

our balance sheets. 

Unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Health Care and Group fosurance liabilities and 
Large Case Pensions products (other than experience-rated and discontinued products) are reflected in shareholders' 
equity, net of tax, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

Unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Large Case Pensions' experience-rated products are 
credited directly to contract holders' accounts, which are reflected in policyholders' funds on our balance sheets. Net 
unrealized capital gains and losses on discontinued products are reflected in other long-term liabilities on our 
balance sheets. 

Refer to Note 20 beginning on page 110 for additional information on our discontinued products. 

Reinsurance 
We utilize reinsurance agreements primarily to reduce our required statutory capital and to facilitate the acquisition 
or disposition of certain insurance contracts. Ceded reinsurance agreements permit us to recover a portion of our 
losses from reinsurers, although they do not discharge our primary liability as the direct insurer of the risks 
reinsured. Failure ofreinsurers to indemnify us could result in losses; however, we do not expect charges for 
unrecoverable reinsurance to have a material effect ~n our operating results or financial position. We evaluate the 
financial position of our reinsurers and monitor concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic 
regions, activities or economic characteristics of our reinsurers. At December 31, 20 l I, our reinsurance 
recoverables consisted primarily of amounts due from third parties that are rated consistent with companies that are 
considered to have the ability to meet ilieir obligations. 

In the nonnal course of business, we enter into agreements w_ith other insurance companies under which we 
assume reinsurance, primarily related to our group life and health products (refer to Note 17 on page 103 for 
additional information). We do not transfer any portion of the financial risk associated with our HMO products to 
third parties, except in areas where we participate in state-mandated health insurance pools. We did not have 
material premiums ceded to or assumed from unrelated insurance companies in the three years ended December 

31,2011. 

Goodwill 
We evaluate goodwill for impainnent (at the reporting unit level) annually, or more frequently if circumstances 
indicate a possible impairment, by comparing an estimate of the fair value of the applicable reporting unit to its 
carrying value, including goodwill. if the carrying value exceeds fair value, we compare the implied fair value of . 
the applicable goodwill to its carrying amount to measure the amount of goodwill impairment, if any. Our reporting 
units with goodwill are our Health Care and Group Insurance segments. Impairments, i(any, would be classified as 
an operating expense. There were no goodwill impairment losses recognized in any of.the three years ended 
December 31, 2011, 20 IO and 2009. 

Our annual impairment test~ were based on an evaluation of future discounted cash fl.ows. These evaluations 
utilized the best infonnation available to us at the time, including supportable assumptions and projections we 
believe are reasonable. Collectively, these evaluations were our best estimates of projected future cash flows. Our 
discounted cash. flow evaluations used discount tales that correspond to a weighted-average cost of capital 
consistent with a market-participant view. The di;;count rates are consistent with those used for investment 
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decisions and takes into ac.count the specific and detailed operating plans and strategies of the Health Care and 
Group Insurance segments. Certain other key assumptions utilized, including changes in membership, revenue, 
health care costs, operating expenses and effective tax rates, are based on estimates consistent with those utilized in 
our annual pianning process that we believe are reasonable. Ifwe do not achieve our earnings objectives, the · 
assumptions and estimates underlying these goodwill impairment evaluations could be adversely affected, and we 
may impair a portion of our goodwill, which would adversely affect our operating results in the period of 
impa i1111ent. 

Property and Equipment ai;id_,Othcr Acquired Intangible Assets 1;;::.:. . · ,.,~.,.. 

We report property and equipment and other acquired intangible assets at historical cost, net of accwnulated 
depreciation or amortization. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the historical cost of property and equipment was· 

. ·· - . · approximately $1.l biliion and $l.O billion, respectively, and ~he related accu.'nulated·depreciation was 
approximately $507 million and $473 million, respectively. Refer to Note 1 beginning on page 77 for cost and 
accumulated amortization associated with other a,cquired intangibles. We calculate depreciation and amortization 
primarily using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets ranging from two to 
forty years~ 

As part of the acquisition of Genworth Financial, lnc.'s ("Genworth") Medicare Supplement and related blocks of 
in-force business we recognized an asset for the valuation of business acquired ("VOBA"). VOBA represents the 
present value of the future profits embedded in the acquired businesses, and was determined by estimating the net 
present value of future cash flows from the contracts in force at the date of acquisition. VOBA is amortized in 
proportion to estimated premiums arising from the acquired con_tracts over their expected life. 

We regularly evaluate whether events or changes in circwnstances indicate that the carrying value of property and 
equipment or other acquired intangible assets may not be recoverable. If we determine that an asset inay not be 
recoverable, we estimate the future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from future use of the asset and its 
eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value of 
the ::isset, we recognize an impaitment loss for the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair 
value. There were no material impairment losses recognized in the three years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 
and 2009. 

Separate Accounts 
Separate Account assets and liabilities in the Large Case Pensions business represent funds maintained to meet 
specific· objectives of contract holders who bear the investment risk. ··These assets and liabilities are-carried at fair · 
value. Net investment income and net realized capital gains and losses accrue directly to such contract holders. 
The assets of each account are legally segregated and are not subject to claims arising from our other businesses. 
Deposits, withdrawals, net investment income and netrealized and net unrealized capital gains and losses on 
Separate Account assets are not reflected in our statements of income or cash flows. Management fees charged to 
contract holders are included in fees and other revenue and recognized over the period earned. 

Health Care and Other Insurance Liabilities 
Health care costs payable 
Health care costs payable consist principally of unpaid fee-for-service medical, dental and phannacy claims, 
capitation costs and other amounts due to health care providers pursuant to risk-sharing arrangements related to 
Health Care's POS, PPO, HMO, Indemnity', Medicare and Medicaid products. ·unpaid health care claim5 include 
our estimate of payments we will make on claims reported to us but not yet paid and for health care services 
rendered to members but not yet reported to us as of the balance sheet date (collectively, "IBNR"). Also included 
in these estimates is the cost of services that will continue to be rendered after the balance sheet date if we are 
obligMed to pay for such services in accordance with contractual or regulatory requirements. Such estimates are 
developed using actuarial principles and assumptions which consider, among other things, historical and projected 
claim submission and processing patterns, assumed and historical medical cost trends, historical utilization of 
medical services, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant 
factors. We reflect changes in these estimates in health care costs in our operating results in ·the period they are 
detennined. Capitation costs represent contractual monthly fees paid to participating physicians and other medical 
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providers for providing medical care; regardless of the medical services provided to the member. Approximately 
five percent of our ·health care costs related to capitated arrangements in each of the last three years_ Amounts due 
under risk-sharing arrangements are based on the terms of the underlying contracts with the providers and consider 
claims experience under the contracts through the balance sheet date. 

Future policy benefits 
Future policy benefits consist primarily of reserves for limited payment pension and annuity contracts in the Large 
Case Pensions business and long-duration group life and long-term care insurance contracts in the Group Insurance 
business. Reserves for limited payment contracts are computed using actuarial principles that consider, among 
other _things, assumptions reflecting anticipated mortality, retirement, expense and interest rate experience. Such 
assumptions generally vary by plan, year of issue and policy duration. Assumed interest rates on such contracts 
ranged from 2.0% to 11.3% in 2011 and from l.8% to l l.3% in 2010. We periodically review mortality 
assumptions against both industry standards and our experience. Reserves for long-duration group life and long­
.term care contracts represent our estimate of the present value of future benefits to be paid to or on behalf of 
policyholders less the present value of future net premiums. Assumed interest rates on such contracts ranged from 
2.5% to 8.8% in both 2011and201Q. Our esli~ate of the present value of future benefits under such contracts is 
based upon mortality, morbidity and interest rate assumptions. 

Unpaid claims 
Unpaid claims consist primarily of reserves associated with certain short-duration group disability and term life 
insurance contracts in the Group Insurance business, including an estimate for IBNR as of the balance sheet date. 
Reserves associated with certain short-d:uration group disability and term life insurance contracts are based upon 
our estimate of the presentvalue of future benefits, which is based on assumed investment yields and assumptions 
regarding mortality, morbidity and recoveries from the U.S. Social Security Administration. We develop our 
reserves for IBNR using actuarial principles and assumptions which consider, among other things, contractual 
requirements, claim incidence rates, claim recovery rates, seasonality and other relevant factors. We discount 
certain claim liabilities related to group long-term disability and premium waiver contracts. The discounted unpaid 
claim liabilities were $1.8 billion and $ 1.9 billion at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The undiscounted 
value of these unpaid claim liabilities was $2.6 billion at both December 31, 201 J and 2010. The discount rates 
generally reflect our expected investment returns for the investments supporting all incurral years of these 
liabilities and ranged from 3 .5% to 6.0% in both 2011 and 20 I 0. The discount rates for retrospectively-rated 
contracts are set at contractually specified levels. Our estimates of unpaid claims are subject to change due to 
changes in the underlying experience of the.insurance contracts, changes in investment yields or other factors, and 
these changes are recorded in current and future benefits in our statements of income in the period they are 
determined. 

Policyholders' funds 
Policyholders' funds consist primarily of reserves for pension and annuity investment contracts in the Large Case 
Pensions business and customer funds associated with group life and health contracts in the Health Care and Group 

. Insurance businesses. Reserves for such contracts are equal to cumulative deposits less withdrawals and charges 
plus credited interest thereon, net of experience-rated adjustments. In 2011, interest rates for pension and annuity 
investment contracts ranged from 3.8% to 8.0%, and interest rates for group life and health contracts ranged from 
0% to 3.5%. In 2010, interest rates for pension and arumity investment contracts ranged from 3.5% to 11.8%, and 
interest rates for group life and health contracts ranged from 0% to 4.0%. Reserves for contracts subject to 
experience rating reflect our rights as well as the rights of policyholders and plan participants. 

We review health care and insurance liabilities periodically. We reflect any necessary adjustments during the 
current period in operating results. While the ultimate amount of claims and related expenses are dependent on 
future developments, it is management's opinion that the liabilities that have been established are adequate to cover 
such costs. The health care and insurance liabilities that are expected to be paid within twelve months are 
classified as current on our balance sheets. 
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?;emium Deficiency Reserves. •· ·· 
We evaluate our in.Surailce contracts to determine if it is probable that a loss will be incurred. We recognize a 
premium deficiency loss when it is probable that expected future claims, including maintenance costs (for 
example, claim processing costs), will exceed existing reserves plus anticipated future premiums and reinsurance 
r~coverics. Anticipated investment income is considered in the calculation of premium deficiency losses for short­
d 11r:itinn conrr:icis. For purposes of determining premium deficiency losses, contracts are grouped in a manner 
consistent with our method of acquiring, servicing and measuring the profitability of such contracts. We did not 
have any premium deficiency reserves at December 31,, 2011 or 20 I 0. 

Health Care Contract Acquisition Costs . . . . . 
Health. care benefits products included in the Health C.are.segrnent are ·canceiable by either the c:ustOmer or the 
member monthly upon Written n6tice~ Acquisition costs related to OUr prepaicfliealth care.and health indemnity 
contracts are generally expensed as incurred. 

Revenue Recognition 
Health care premiums are recognized as income fo the month in which the ertroJlee is entitled .to receive health care 
services. Health care premiums are reported net of an allowance for estimated terminations arid uncollectable 
amounts. Additionally, beginning in 2011, premium revenue subject to the minimum MLR rebate requirements of · 
Health Care Reform is recorded net of the estimated minimum MLR rebates for the current calendar year. Other 
premium revenue for group life, long-term care and disability products is recognized as income, net of allowances 
for termination and uncoliectable ·accowits, over the term of the coverage. Other premiuin revenue for Large Case 
Pensions' limited payment pension and annuity contracts is recogniied as revenue in the period received·. Prem1ums· 
related to unexpired contractual. coverage periods are reported as unearned premiums in our balance sheets. 

The balance of the allowance for estimated terminations and uncollectable accounts on premiums receivable was 
$73 million and $80 million at December 31, 2011and2010, respectively, and is reflected as a reduction of 
rrrn1iu1m receivable in our balance sheets. The b.alance of the allowance for uncollectable accounts on other 
rei.:i:ivables was $20 million and $26 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and is reflected ~s a 
reduction of other receivables 1n our balance sheets. 

Some of our contracts allow for premiums to be adjusted to reflect actual experience or the relative health status of 
members. Such adjustments are reasonably estimable (based on actual experience of the customer emerging under 
the contract and the terms of the unqerlying contract) and are recognized as the exp~rience emerges. ·:;. : 

Fees and other revenue consists primarily of ASC fees which are received in exchange for petfonning· certain claim 
processing and member services for health arid disability members and are recognized as revenue over the period 
the service is provided. Some of our contracts include guarantees with respect to certain functions, s~ch as 
customer service response time, claim processing accuracy and claim processing turnaround time, as"well as certain 
guarantees that a plan sponsor's claim experience will fall within a certain range. With any of these guarantees, we 
are financially at risk if the conditions of the arrangements are not met, although the maximwn amount at risk is 
typically limited to a percentage of the fees otherwise.payable to' us by the customer involved. We accrue for any 
such exposure when it becomes probable that an obligation has arisen under the terms of a guarantee. 

In addition, fees .and other revenue also include charges assessed against contract holders' funds for contract foes, 
participant fees and asset charges related to pension and annuity products in the Large Case Pensions business. 
Other amounts received on pension and annuity investment-type contracts are reflected as deposits and are not 
recorded as revenue. Some of our'Large Case Pension contract holders have the contractual right to purchase 
annuities with life contingencies using the funds they maintain on deposit with us. Since these products are 
considere.d an insurance contract, when the contract holder makes this election, we treat the· accumulated investment 

. balance as a single premium arid reflect it as both· premiums and cune·nt and future benefits in ciilr statements of 
income. 
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Accounting for the Medicare Part D Prescription Drug Program ("PDP) · 
We were selected by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") to be a national provider of PDP in 
all 50 states to both individuals and employer groups in 2011, 2010 and 2009. Under these annual contracts, CMS 
pays us a portion of the premium, a portion of, or a capitated fee for, catastrophic drug costs and a portion of the 
health care costs for low-income Medicare _beneficiaries and provides a risk-sharing arrangement to lin}it our 
exposure to unexpected expenses. 

We recognize prerpiwns received from, or on behalf of, members or CMS and capitated fees as premium revenue 
ratably over th~ contract period. We expeni;.e_.!he,...sost of co':.ered prescription drugs as incurred. Costs associated 
with low-income Medicare beneficiaries (deductible, coinsurance, etc.) and the catastrophic drug costs paid in . 
advance by CMS are recorded as a liability and offset health care costs when incurred. for individual PDP 
coverage, the risk-sharing arr~gementprovides a risk corridor whereby the amotint we received in premiums from 
members and CMS based on our annual bid is compared to our actual drug costs incurred during the contract year. 
Based on the risk corridor provision and PDP activity-to-date, an estimated risk-sharing receivaple or payable is 
recorded on a quarterly basis as an adjustment to premium revenue. We perform a reconciliation of the final risk­
sharing, low-income subsidy and catastrophic amounts after the end of each contract year. 

Allocation of Operating Expenses 
We allocate to the business segments centrally-incurred costs associated with specific internal goods or services 
provided to us, such as employee services, technology services and rent, based on a reasonable method for each 
specific cost (such as membership, usage, headcount, compensation or square footage occupied). Interest expense 
on third-party borrowings and the financing components of our pension and other post-retirement benefit plan 
expense is not allocated to the reporting ·segments', since it is not u·sed as a basis for meastiring the operating 
perfonnance of the segments. Such amounts are reflected in Corporate Financing in our segment financial 
infonnation. Refer to Note 19 beginning on page 108 for additional information. 

Income Taxes 
We are taxed at the statutory corporate income tax rates after adjusting income reported for financial statement 
purposes for certain items. We recognize deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the differences between the 
financial and income tax reporting basis of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. Valuation 
allowances are provided when it is. considered.more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
Deferred income t<lX expense or benefit primarily reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities during the year. · 

Our current income taic provision reflects the tax results of revenues and ·expenses currently tax.able or deductible. 
Penalties and interest on our tax positions are classified as a component of our income tax provi~ion. 

3. Acquisitions 

We completed the acquisitions of Medi city Inc. ("Medicity"), Prodigy Health Group ("Prodigy"), Genworth's 
Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force business and PayFlex Holdings, Inc. ("Payflex") in 
2011, and Horizon Behavioral Services, LLC ("Horizon") in 2009. Each of these acquisitions was funded using 

_ available resources. Refer to Note 7 on page 77 for additional infonnation. 

Horizon Behavforai Services~ LLC 
lit 2009, we acquired Horizo~, a leading provider of employee assistance programs, for approximately $70 
million, net of c~h acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of approximately $56 
million in 2009, of which $37 miUion will be tax deductible. All of the goodwill related to this acquisition 
was assigned to our Health Care segment. 
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Medicity Inc. 
In January 2011, we acquired Medicity, a health information exchange company, for approximately S490 · 
million, net of cash acquired. We recorded goodwill related to this transaction of approximately $385 
million, an immaterial amount of which will be tax deductible. All of the goodwill related to this 
acql1isit ion was assigned to our Health Care segment. 

Prodigy Health Group 
In june 2011, we acquired Prodigy, a third-party administrator of self-funded health care plans, for 
approximately $600 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill related to this 
transaction of approximately $446 million, of which approximately $52 million will be tax deductible. All 

· of the goodwill.rela~ed.tq ihis·.acquisition was·assigned to· our Heidth.'Cate segment. · 

Genworth Financial, Inc. 's Medicare Supplement Business and Related Blocks of In-Force Business 
· In October 2011, we acquired Genworth's Medicare Supplement business and related blocks of in-force 

business for approximately $225 million, netof cash acquired . .We preliminarily recorded $52 "million of 
goodwill related to this transaction. The excess of the purchase price over the fair market value of the net 
assets we acquired, including goodwill, is tax deductible as a resul.t of the transaction being treated as an 
asset purchase for tax purposes. All of the goodwill related to this acquisition was assigned to our Health 
Care segment. 

PayFlex Holdings. Inc. 
· In October 2011, we acquired PayFlex, one of the nation's largest independent account-based health plan 
administrators, for approximately $200 million, net of cash acquired. We preliminarily recorded goodwill 
related to this transaction of approximately $147 million, an immaterial amount of which will be tax 
deductible. All of the goodwill related to this acquisition was assigned to our Health Care segment. 

4. Earnings Per Common Share 

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the reporting period._ Diluted EPS is computed in a similar manner, except that the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding is adjusted for the dilutive effects of our outstanding 
stock-based compensation awards, but on~y _if the effect is dilutive. 

The computations of basic and diluted EPS for 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as folJows: . . 
(Millions, except per common_ share_ data) 2011 2010 20()9 

Net income s 1,985.7 $ 1,766.8. $ · •. 1,276.5 

Weighted average shares used to compute basic EPS 372.5 415.7 441.1 

Dilutive effect of outstanding stock-based compensation awards (l) 7.7 7.2 8.4 

Weighted average shares used to compute diluted EPS 380.2 422.9 449.5 

Basic EPS s S.33 $ 4.25 $ 2.89 

Diluted EPS 5 S.22 $ 4.18 $ 2.84 

<
1J Stock-based compensation awards are ~ot included in the calculation of diluted EPS if the exercise price is greater than the average 

market price of Aetna conunon shares during the period (i.e., the awards are anti-dilutive). Approximately 12.4 million, 18.6 million and 
I 9.3 million stock appreciation rights ("SARs") were not included in the calculation of diluted EPS for 2011, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively. The stock options not included in the calculation of diluted EPS for 2011 were not material. Approximately 5.7 million 
and 6.2 million stock options were not included in the calculation of diluted EPS for 2010 and 2009, respectively. These stock-based 
compc11s31ion awards were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because their effect was anti-dilutive. 
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5. Operating Expenses 

For 2011, 2010 and 2009, selling expenses (which include broker commissions, the variable component of our 
internal sales force compensation and premium taxes) and general and administrative expenses were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Selling expenses $ 1,104.8 $ 1,226.6 $ I ,251.9 

Genera I and administrative expenses: 

Salaries and related benefits (I). 3,284.3 3,076.4 2,971.8 

Other general and administrative expenses <2> 2,415.3 2,216.0 2,159.3 

Total general and administrative expenses (l) 5,699.6 5,292.4 5,131.1 

Total op~rating expenses 6,804.4 s 6,519.0 $ 6,383.0 

<
1
> Includes a one-time pretax charge of$ I 37.0 million in 2011 related to the voluntary early retirement program that we announced in July 

2011. 
<
21 Includes the following for 20 I 0: transaction-related costs of $66.2 million and litigation-related insurance proceeds of $156.3 million. 

Includes the following for 2009: litigation-related insurance proceeds of$38.2 million. 
<» In 2010 and 2009, we recorded severance and facilities charges of $47.4 million and $93.7 million, respectively. 

Refer to the reconciliation of operating earnings to net income in Note 19 beginning on page I 08 for additional 
infonnation. 

6. Health Care Costs Payable 

The following table shows the components of the change in health care costs payable during 2011, 2010 and 2009: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Health care costs payable, beginning of 1hc period $ 2,630.9 $ 2,895.3 $ 2,393.2 

Less: Reinsurance recoverables 1.7 l.9 2.0 
Health care costs payable, beginning of the period, ne1 2,629.2 2,893.4 2,391.2 

Acquisition of businesses 89.4 I.I 

Add: Components of incurred health care costs 

Current ye~r 22,047.9 23,045.6 24,127.2 

Prior years (394.4) (326.0) (66.0) 

Total incuned health .care costs 21,653.5 22,719.6 24,061.2 

Less: Claims paid 

Current year 19,642.9 20,588.5 21,401.1 

Prior years 2,057.0 2,395.3 2,159.0 

Total claims paid 21,699.9 22,983.8 23,560.J 

Health care costs payable, end of period, net 2,672.2 2,629.2 2,893.4 
Add: Reinsurance recoverablcs 3.3 1.7 1.9 

Health care costs payable, end of the period $ 2,675.5 $ 2,630.9 $ 2,895.3 

Our prior year estimates of health care costs payable decreased by approximately $394 million, $326 million and 
$66 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, resulting from claims being settled for amounts less than 
originally estimated. These reductions were primarily the result oflower health care cost trends as well as the 
actual claim submission time being faster than we assumed in establishing our health care costs payable in the prior 
year. These reductions were offset by estimated current period health care costs when we established our estimate 
of the current year health care costs payable. When significant decreases (increases) in prior-year health care cost 
estimates occur that we believe significantly impact our current year operating results, we disclose that amount as 
favorable (unfavorable) development of prior-years health care cost estimates. In 2011, we had approximately $207 
million pretax of favorable development of prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower 
than projected paid claims in the first half of 2011 for claims incurred in the latter half of 2010 caused by lower than 
projected utilization of medical services. In 20 I 0, we had approximately $118 million pretax of favorable 
development of prior-years health care cost estimates that primarily resulted from lower than projected paid claims 
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in the first half of 2010 for claims' incurred in the latter part of 2009 caused by lower than projected utilization of 
medical services driven by the abatement ofHINl and other flu, among other factors. In 2009, we had 
approx ima!ely $ J J 6 million of unfavorable development of prior~years health care cost estimates that was driven by 
tin usually high paid claims activity in the first half of 2009 related to the second half of 2008. 

7. Goodwill and Other Acqwred Intangible Assets 

As discussed in Note 3, we completed four significant acquisitions during 2011. In accordance with applicable 
accounting guidance, we allocated the amount pai~;~o the fair value of the net assets acquired, with any excess 
amounts recorded,as goodwill. The incr~ase in goodwill in 2011 and .2010 is as fol~ows: . . . . . .. 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Balance, beginning of the period 

Goodwill acquired: 

s 5,146.4 $ 5,146.2 

Prodigy <1> 

Medicity 

PayF!ex (•l 

Genworth OI 

Other <1> 

446.2 

384.7 

14t4 

Sl.9 

27.3 .2 

Balance, end of the period <2> s 6,203.9 $ 5, 146.4 

(I) Goodwill related to these acquisitiOns is consid~red preliminary, pending the final alloeation of the applic~ble purchase price. 
<
2
> At December 31, 2011 and 20'10, approximately $10.4 million was assigµed to the Group Insurance segment, with the remainder 

assigned to the ·Health Care segment.' · 

Dthcr acquired intangible assets at December 31, 2011and2010 were comprised of the following: 

Accumulated Amortization 
(Millions) Cost Amortizatfon Net Balance Period (Years) 

2011 

Provider networks s 703.2 s· 428.3 s 274.9 12-25 
(1) 

Customer lists 684j 331.7 352.6 ~14 
(I} 

Value of business acquired 149.0 . .. 6.3. i42.7 20 (1) 

Technology . 129.0 24.3 104.7 5-10 

Other 15.6 9.4 6.2 2-15 

Definite-lived trademarks 69.0 13.8 SS.2 9-2.0 

Indefinite-lived trademarks 22.3 22.3 

Total other acquired intangible assets s 1,772.4 $ 813.8 s 958.6 

2010 

Provider networks $ 703.2 $ 398.9 s 304.3 12-25 
(I) 

Customer lists 420.4 262.6 157.8 4-10 
(I) 

Technology 25.3 25.0 .3 3-5 

Other 17.J 16.8· .. . 3 2-15 

Definite-lived trademarks 21.0 10.5 10.5 2-15 

Indefinite-lived trademarks 22.3 22.3 

To1af 01hcr acc1uircd intangible assets s J,209.3 s 713.8 s 495.5 

(I) The amortization ~eriod for our pi'oVider nctWtirks and customer lists includes an assumption of renewal or exterision of these 
ammgements. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the periods prior to the next renew'al or.extension for our provider networks primarily 
ranged from I to 3 years and the period prior \o the next renewal or extension for our customer lists was approximately one year. Any 
costs related to the renewal or extension of these contracts is expensed as incurred. 

(2) YOBA is being amortized over the expected life of the acquired contracts in proportion to estimated premium. 
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The value assigned' to other acquired intangible ass~ts for acquisitions completed during 2011, primarily for 
customer lists, VOBA and technology intangibles, totaled approximately $584 million, of which $443 million is 
preliminary pending the finalization of purchase price allocations. . 

We estimate annual pretax amortization for other acquired intangible assets over the next five years to be· as 
follows: 

(Millions) 

2012 $ 
· · -; 2of J'_: , .. _ .. ....... . 141.8 

12.9.2 
2014 107.2 

2015 91.2 
2016' 84.2 

8. Investments 

Total investments at December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0 were as follows; 

2011 2010 

(Millions) Current Long-term Total Current Long-term Total 

Debt and equity securities available for sale $ 2,168.1. s IS,222.7 $ 17,390.8 $ 2, 11 l.9 $ 14,849.7 $ 16,961.6 

Mortgage loans 41.7 1,606.8 1,648.S 55.2 1,454.6 1,509.8 

Other investments 2.0 1,253.7 1,255.7 2.6 1,242.0 1,244.6 

Total inveslments $ 2,211.8 $ 18,083.2 s 20,295.0 $ 2,169.7 $ 17,546.3 $ 19,716.0 
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Debt :md Equity Securities 
Debt 3nd equity securities available for sale at December 31, 2011and2010 were as follows: 

Gross Gross 
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 

(Millions) Cost Gains Losses Value 

December 31, 2011 

Debt securities: 

U.S. goveminent securities .t;·:.·-~- . 'i~~'.· $ 1,394.7 $ ~65.0 s (.4) s 1,559.3,., .. 
·~:: -·.: . . ; ··. 

·: ... 
'States; municipalitieS and politieal ·subdivisions 2,654.9 2os.s (3:3) 2,860.1 

U.S. corporate securities 6,484.0 718.2 . (28.1) 7,174.1 

Foreign securities 2,614.9 278.2 (38.0) 2,855.1 

Residential mort1age-backed securities 849.8 51.1 (.l) 900.8 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 1,29S.~ 98.3 (5.8) i•> l,387.8 

Other asse1-backed securities . 437.0 20.6 (3.8) (I) 453.8 

Redeemable preferred securities 164.2 l-2;6 . (14.S) 162.3 

Total debt securities 1~,894.8 1,552.S (94.0) 17,353.3 

Equity securities 40.3 5.0 (7.8) 37.5 

Total debt and equity securities (ll s 15,935.1 s 1,557.5 s (101.8) s 17,390.8 

December 31 , 2010 

Dehl sccuri1ics: 

U.S. government securities s 1,293.S $ 80.8 $ (.6) $ 1,373.7 

SlaLcs, municipalities and political subdivisions 2,288.8 54.4 (46.9) 2,296.3 

U.S. corporate securities 6,731.S 553.0 (21.9) 7,262.6 

Foreign securities 2,667.4 231.1 (21.2) 2,877.3 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 1,089.2 53.6 (2.8) 1,140.0 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 1,226.4 99.5 (J3 .7) (I) 1,312.2 

Other asset-backed securities 447.6 21.1 (4.8) ( I). 463.9 

. Redeemable preferred securities 196.7 . 12.3. ,(12.7) . 196.3 

Total debt securities 15,941.1 1,105.8 (124.6) 16,922.3 

Equity sec~rities . 3S.3 5.6 (1.6) 39.3 

Total de~t and .equity securities <2> s 15,976.4 s (111.4 ~ (126.2) ·' s 16,961.6 

ii) At December 31, iOl I and 2010, we held securities for which we recognized $10.7 million and $38.3 million, respectively, of non-
credit-related impairments in other comprehensive income in the past. These securities had a net unrealized capital gain at December 31 , 
2011and2010 ofS7.4 million and $3.9 million, respectively. 

(2) Investment risks associated with our experieoce-rated and discontinued products generally do not impact our operating results (refer to 
Note 20 beginning on page 110 for additional in formation oo our accounting for discontinued products). M December 31, 2011, debt 
and equity securities with a fair value of $4:0 billion, gross unrealized capital gains of$505.6 ~illion and gross unrealized capital losses 
of$48.2 million and, at December 31, 2010, debt and equity securities with a fair value of$4.1 billion, gross unrealized capital gains of 
$339.S million and gross unrealized capital losses of$38.1 million were included in total debt and eq~ity securities, but support our 
experience-rated and discontinued products. Changes io oetunrealized capital gains (losses) on these securities are not reflected in 
accumulated other comprehensive income. 
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The fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2011 is shown below by contractual maturity. Actµal maturities 
may differ from contractual maturities because securities may be restructured, called or prepaid. 

(Millions) 

Due to mature: 

Less than one year 

One year through five years 

After five years through ten years 

Greater than ten years 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 

Other asset-backed securities 

Total 

Mortgage-Backed and Other Asset-Backed Securities 

s 

Fair 
Value 

924.3 

3,041.0 

S,341.3 

5,304.3 

900.8 

1,387.8 

453.8 

s 17,353.3 

All of our residential mortgage-backed securities at December 31, 2011 were issued by the Government National 
Mortgage Association, the Federal National. Mortgage Association or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
and carry agency guarantees and explicit or implicit guarantees by the U.S. Government. At December 31, 2011, 
our residential mortgage-backed securities had an average quality rating of AAA and a weighted average duration of 
1.6 years. 

Our conunercial mortgage-backed securities have\mderlying loans that are dispersed throughout the U.S. 
Significant market observable inputs used to value these securities include probability of default and loss 
severity. At December 31, 201 l, these securities had an average quality rating of AA+ and a weighted average 
duration of 3.6 years. 

Our other asset-backed securities have a variety of underlying collateral (e.g., automobile. loans, credit card 
receivables and home equity loans). Significant market observable inputs used to value these securities include the 
unemployment :rate, loss severity and probability of default. At December 31, 2011, these securities had an average 
quality rating of AA and a weighted average duration of 3.2 years. 

Unrealized Capital Losses and Net Realized Capital Gains (Losses) 
When a debt or equity security is in an unrealized capital loss position, we monitor the duration and severity of the 
loss to determine if sufficient me:trket recovert can occur within a reasonable period of time. As described in Note 2 
beginning on page 66, effective Aprii 1, 2009, w.e recognize an OTTI on debt securities when we intend to sell a 
security that is in an unrealized capital loss position or if we determine a credit-related loss has occurred. Prior to 
April 1, 2009, we recognized an OITI on a security in an unrealized capital loss position if we could not assert our 
intention and apility to hold the security until it recovered its value. 
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I :;wn•narizi:d below are lhe debt and equity securities we held at December 31, 2011 and 2010 that were in an 

I ' unrealized capital loss position, aggregated by the length of time the investments have been in that position: 

I Less than 12 mo·nths Greater than 1Z months Total Ol 

Fair. UnreaJized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 
(Millions) Value Losses ·Value Losse.11 Value Losses 

December 31, 2011 · 

Debt securities: 

U.S. government securities s ]4.0 s s ~S-1 $ .4 $ . . .29.J S. .4 
'::.·. ;!','::··. ··.). · ... ; . · . • . 

2'.9 
: .. ~,: : .. ":!::· 

I States, muiiicipalities and political subdivisions .. 23.8 .4 68.6 92.41 3.3 

I I 
U.S. corporate securities 62S.S 2S.7 62.4 2.4 687.9 28.1 

! Foreign securities 498.8 2S.4 SS.3 12.6 554.l 38.0 I 

Residential mortgage-baclced securities .9 2.9 .1 3.8 .1 

Commercial mongage-backed securities 102.7 2.8 · 42.8 3.0 145.5 5.8 

Other asset-baclced securities 27.8 .] 3.9 3.7 31.7 . 3.8 

Re~eemable preferred ·securities "17.6 .9 34.S 13.6 S2.J 14.S 

Total debt securities : 1,311.1 55.3 285.S 38.7 1,596.6 94.0 

&tuity securities 6.2 2.4 20.8 S.4 27.0 7.8 

Total debt and equity securities tll s 1,317.3 $ 57.7 s 306.3 ) 44.1 s 1,623.6 $ 101.8 

J'J('t'~miwr JI, 2010 

!\:ht .;;ccurilil':s: 

U.S. government securities $ 8.4 $ .2 $ 19.8 $ .4 $ 28.2 s .6 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 964.9 37.6 82.7 9.3 1,047.6. 46.9 

U.S. corporate securities 665.8 17.0 210.2 4.9 8?°6.0 21.9 

Foreign securities 375.9 14.6 34.~ 6.6 410.5 21.2 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 103.7 2.6 6.6 .2 110.3. 2.8 

Commercial mon~agc-backed securities · 103.7 2.4 78.S I 1.3 182.2 13.7 

Other asset-backed securities 85.9 2.0 4.9 2.8 90.8 4.8 

Redeemable preferred securities 4.S .. 94.3. 12.7 98.8 12.7 

Total debt securities 2,312.8 ~6.4 531.6 48.2 . 2,844.4 124.6 . 

Equity securities .S 9.5 1.6 10.0 1.6 

.Total de~t and equity securities rn . $ · 2,313.3 $ 76.4 $ 541. I $ 49.8 s 2,854,4 $ 126.2 

(I) At December 3 I, 2on and 2oio. debt and equity securities in an unrealized capital loss position of$48.2 million and $38.'J million, 
respectively, and with related fair value of$446. I million and $650.5 million •. respectively, related to experience-rated and discontinued 
products. 

We reviewed the secwities in the tables a.hove and concluded that these are performing assets generating investment 
income to support the needs ·ofour business. In pei-forming this.review, we considered factors such as the quality of 
the investment security based on research performed by our internal credit analysts and external ·rating agencies and 

! the prospects ofrealizing the cariying value of the security based on the investment's current prospects for 
! recovery. At December 31, 2011, we did not have the intention to sell the de~t secwities th!'t were in an unrealized 
' t <..:apital loss posi tion . · · · I 
I 

I ,. 
I 
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The maturity dates for debt securities in an unrealized capital loss position at December 31, 2011 were as follows: 

Supporting discontinued 
and experience-rate4 products 

Supporting remaining 
products Total 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unreali.ted 
(Millions) Value Losses Value Loss.es Value L<isses 

Due to mature: 

Less than one year $ $ $ 66.8 $ 1.4 s 66.8 s 1.4 

One year through five years 49.2 1.8 298.3 - 9.0 347,S 10.8 

After five years through ten years 155.8 7.5 .400.1 15.9 555.9 23.4 

Greater than ten years 187.7 30.3 257.7 18.4 445.4 48.7 

Residential mortgage-backed .securities 3.8 .1 3.8 .1 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 26.3 .9 119.2 4.9 145.5 5.8 

Other asset·backed securities .6 31.1 3.8 31.7 3.8 

Total $ . 419.6 $ 40.S s 1,177.0 $ 53.S $ 1,596.6 s 94.0 

Net realized capital gains for the three years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, excluding amounts related 
to experience-rated contract holders and discontinued products, were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 :i009 

OTT! losses on debt securities $ (10.2) $ (46.7) $ (122.1) 

Portion of OITI losses on debt securities recognized 
in other comprehensive income 14.4 27.6 

Net OTTI losses on debt securities recogaiz.ed in earoiogs (10.2) (32.3) (94.5) 

Net realized capital gains, excluding Om losses on debt securities 178.1 f59.8 149.5 

Net realized capital gains $ 167.9 $ 227.5 s 55.0 

The net realized capital gains in 2011, 2010 and 2009 were primarily attributable to the sale of debt securities. In 
2011 and 2010, these gains were partially offset by losses on derivative transactions while in 2009, these gains were 
also attributable to gains on derivative transactions. The net realized capital gains in each year were also partially 
offset by the OTII losses on debt securities shown in the table above. 

Yield-related impairments are recognized in other comprehensive income unless we have the intention to sell the 
security in an unrealized loss position, in which case the yield-related OTII is recognized in earnings. Yield-related 
OTTI losses were not significant in 2011 or 2010. In 2009, yield-related OTTI losses were $76 million, primarily 
related to. U.S. Treasury and corporate securities_ that were temporarily in a loss position due to changes in interest 
rates and the widening of credit spreads on corporate securities relative to the interest rates on U.S. Treasury 
securities in the first half of 2009. Because we did not assert our intention to hold these securities, under applicable 
accowiting guidance, as further discussed in Note 2 beginning on page 66, we recorded a yield-related OITI loss. 
We had no other individually material realized capital losses on debt or equity securities that impacted our operating 
results during 2011, 20 l 0 or 2009. 

Excluding amounts related to experience-rated and discontinued products, proceeds from the sale of debt securities 
arid the related gross realized capital gains and losses for 2011, 2 0 I 0 and 2009 were as follows: \ 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Proceeds on sales $ 6,278.3 $ 7,663.4 $ 5,506.5 

Gross realized capital gains 265.3 364.8 205.0 

Gross realized capitai losses 38.S 43.2 . 71.6 
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Mortgage Loans 
Ow- mortgage loans are collateralized by commercial real estate. During 2011 and 20 l 0 we had the following 
activity in our mortgage loan portfolio: 

(Millions) 

New mortgage loans 

Mortgage loans fully-repaid 

Mortgage loans foredosed 

s 
2011 

260.4 $ 

70.4 

2010 

103.3 

129.3 

20.0 

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had no material problem, restrudfured-'6r .potential problem mortgage loans. 
We also had no material impainnent reserves on these Joans at December 31, 2011or2010. 

We assess our mortgage loans on a regular basis for credit impainnents, and annually we assign a credit quality 
indicator to each loan. Our credit quality indicator is internally developed and categorizes our portfolio on a scale 
from I to 7. Category I represents loans of superior quality, and Categories 6 and 7 represent Joans where 
collections are at risk. Most of our mortgage loans fall into the Level 2 to 4 ratings. These ratings represent foans 

· where credit risk is minima_! to acceptable; however, these loam may display some susceptibility to economic 
changes. Category 5 represents loans where credit risk is not substantial but these loans warrant management's 
close attention. These indicators are based upon several factors, including current loan. to value ratios, property 
condition, market trends, borrower quality and deal slructure. :Based upon our 'most recent 'assessment at 
December 31, 2011, our mortgage loans were given the following credit quality indicators: 

(In Millions, except credit ratings indicator) 

2 to 4 

5 

6 and 7 

Total 

At December 3 l, 201 I scheduled mortgage loan principal repayments were as follows: 

(Millions) 

2012 
2013 
2014 

2015 

2016 
Thereafter 

Variable Interest Entities 

s 

$ 

s .. 
-.. 
... 

,' .. 

95.6 

1,426.1 

97. l 

29.7 

1,648.5 

41.7 

269.S 

102.8 
148.8 

248.2 

844.0 

In determining whether to consolidate a variable interest entity. ("VIE"), we consider several factors including 
whether we have the power to direct.activities, the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive benefits that 
could potentially be significant to the VlE. We have relationships with certain real estate and hedge fund 
partnerships that are considered VIEs, but are not consolidated. We record the amount of our investment in these 
partnerships as long-term investments on our balance sheets and recognize our share of partnership income or losses 
in earnings. Ow- maximtim exposure to loss as a result of our investment in these partnerships is oiir investment 
balance at December 31, 201 i and 2010 of approximately $175 million and $153 million, respectively, and the risk 
ofrecapture of tax credits related to the real estate partnerships previously recognized, which we do not consider 
significant. We do not have a future obligation to fund losses or debts on beha.lf of these investments; however, we 
may voluntarily contribute funds. The real estate partnerships construct, own and manage low-income housing 
developments and had total asset~ of approximately $5.1 billion at both December 31; 2011 and 2010. The hedge 
fund partnerships had total a5setS of approximately $5.9 billion and $6. 1 billion at December 31 , 2011 and 20 l 0, 
respectively. · 
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Non-controlling (Minority) Interests 
At December 31; 2011 and 20 I 0, approximately $71 million and $74 million, respectively, of our investment 
holdings were partially owned by third parties. The non-controlling entities' share of these investments was 
included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities. Net income attri~utable to these interests was $2 million 
for 2011 and $4 million for both 2010 and 2009. These non-controlling interests did not have a material impact on 
our financial position or operating results. 

Net lnvestment·lncome 
1. . •• -- . 

Sources of net investment income for 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009 were as follows: 

(Millions) 

Debt securities 

Mortgage loans 

Other inve.5tments 

Gross investment income 

Less: investment eitpenses 

Net investment income Ol 

$ 

2011 

829.2 s 
102.8 

29.8 

961.8 

(31.0) 

930.8 $ 

.1,;:· ~" . . . ..; 

2010 2009 

911.8 $ 907.8 

118.7 118.6 

56.5~· · ·- -· .... 38.6 

1,087.0 1,065.0 

(30.7) (28.6) 

1,056.3 $ 1,036.4 

Investment risks associated with our experience-rated and discontinued products generally do not impact our operating results (refer to 
Note 20 beginning on page 110 for additional infonnation on our accounting for discontinued products). Net investment income 
includes $317.5 million, $344.9 million and $347.8 million for December 3 l, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, related to investments 
supporting our experience-rated and discontinued products. 

9. Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income 

Shareholders' equity included the following activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss in.2011, 2010 and 
2009: 

(Millions) 

Balance at December 31, 2008 

Cumulative effect of adopting a new 

accounting standard ($83.0 pretax) '2l 

Net unrealized gains (losses) ($1,004.6 pretax) 

Reclassification to eamings ($110.5 pretax) 

Other comprehensive income 

Balance at December 31, 2009 

Net unrealized gains (losses) ($333.5 pretax) 

Reclassification to earnings ($172. 9 pretax) 

Other comprehensive (loss) income 

Balance at December 31, 201.0 

Net unrealized gains {losses) ($105.7 pretax) 

Reclassification to eamings ($137.8 pretax) 

Other comprehensive (loss) income 

Balance at December 31, 2011 

$ 

$ 

Net Unrealized Gains (Losses) 
Securities 

PreviousJX 
Impaired < All Other 

(5.3) 

106.3 

(.7) 

100.3 

100.3 

42.5 

(67.7) 

(25.2) 

75.1 

2.4 

(19.3) 

(16.9) 

$ 

58.2 s 

(229.3) $ 

(48.4) 

592.4 

(79.0) 

465.0 

235.7 

327.5 

(188.0) 

139.5 

375.2 

337.2 

(117.2) 

220.0 

595.2 $ 

Foreign 
Currency 

and 
Derivatives 

(8. 7) $ 

34.4 

(.4) 

34.0 

25.3 

(53.9) 

1.3 

(52.6) 

(27.3) 

(9.2) 

2.8 

(6.4) 

(33.7) $ 

Total 
Accumulated 

Other 
Pension and Comprehensive 
OPEB Plans (Loss) Income 

(1,643.3) $ (l,881.3) 

(80.1) 

139.1 

59.0 

(1,584.3) 

(99.3) 

98.0 

(1.3) 

(1,585.6) 

(261.7) 

38.4 

(223.3) 

(1,808.9) $ 

(53. 7) 

653.0 

59.0 

658.3 

(1,223.0) 

216.8 

(156.4) 

60.4 

(1,162.6) 

68.7 

(95.3) 
(26.6) 

(1,189.2) 

(I) Represents unrealized losses ·on the non-credit-related component of impaired debt securities that we do not intend to sell and 
subsequent appreciation in the fair value of those securities as well as those that we intend to sell. 

<
2J Effective April I, 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance for other-than-temporary impairments of debt securities. Refer to Note 2 

beginning·on page 66 for additional information on the cumulative effect adjustment required. 
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The components of our pension and other postretirement benefit plans· ("OPEB") included the following activity in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss in 2011, 2010 and 2009: 

Pension Plans OPED Plans 

. Unrecognized. Unrecognized Unrecognized Unrecognized 

Net Actuarial Prior Service Net Actuarial Prior Service 

(Millions) Losses Costs Losses Costs Total 
Halann al Derember 31, 2008 $. (1,631.0} ~ 12.0 $ . . (55.6) $ 31.3 $ -(1,643.3) 

Unrealized net losses arising during .... · ... 
·~· 

the period ($(123.2) pretax} 
•.. 

(7i.5) (7.6) (80.1) 

Reclassification to earnings ($(214.0) pretax) 140.7 (1.4} 2.2 (2.4) 139.1 

Balam:e at December 31, 2009 (1,562.8) 10.6 (61.0) 28.9 (1,584.3) 

Unrealized ·net losses arising during 

the period ($(152.8) pretax} (91.2) (8.1) (99.3) 

Reclassification to earnings ($(150.8) pretax) . 106.1 (8.8) 3.0 (2.3) 98.0 

Balanc·e al December 31, 2010 . (1,547.9) 1.8 (66.I) 26.6 (1,585.6) 

Unrealized riet losses arising during · 

the period ($(402.6) pretax) (268.J) 6.6 .(261.7) 
Reclassification to earnings ($(59.1) pretax) 37.9 (.3) . 3.2 (2.4) 38.4 
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ (1,778.3) s 1.5 $ (56.3) $ 24.2 $ (J,808.9) 

10. Financial Instruments 

The preparation of our consolidated fmancial statements in accordance with GAAP requires certain of our assets 
and liabilities to be reflected at their fair value, and others on another basis, such as an adjusted historical cost 
basis. In this note, we provide details on the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and how we determine 
those fair values. We present this information for those financial instruments that are measured at fair value for 
which the cl1ange in fair value impacts net income or other comprehensive income separately from other financial 
:is::t:ls :.nd liabilities. 

Financial ·instTurilents. Measured at Fair Value in our Balance Sheets 
Certain of our financial instruments are measured at fair value in our balance sheets. The fair values of these 
instruments are based ~n valuations that include inputs that can be classified witlun one of three lev~ls of a 
hierarchy established by GAAP. The following are the levels of the hierarchy and a brief descriptiop of the type of 
valuation infonnation ("inputs") that qualifies a financial asset or liability for each level: · ., 

0 Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets .. 
0 Level 2 - Inputs other than Level 1 that are based on observable market data. These include: quoted prices 

for similar assets in active markets, quoted prices for identical assets in inactive markets, inputs that are 
observable that are not pnces (such as interest rates and credit risks) and inputs that are derived from or 
corroborated by observable markets. 

0 Level 3 - Developed from 'unobservable data, reflecting our own assuinptions. 

Financial assets and liabilities are classifi"ed based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the 
valuation. When quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities are available, we use these 
quoted market prices to determine the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and classify these assets and 
liabilities as Level 1. In other cases where a quoted market price for identical assets and liabilities in an active 
market is either not available or not observable, we estimate fair value using valuation methodologies based on 
available and observable market information or by using a matrix pricing model. These financial assets and 
liabilities would then be classified as Level 2. If quoted market prices are not available, we determine fair value 
a~ing broker quotes or an internal analysis of each investment's financial performance and cash flow 
projections. Thµs, financial assets and liabilities may be class_ified in Level 3 even though there. may be some 
significant inputs that may be observable. . . . . 
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The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for our financial assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value, including the general classification of such ass~ts and li1tbilitie~ pursuant to the valuation 
hierarchy.. · · · 

Debt Securities - Where quoted prices are available in an active market, our debt securities are classified 
in Level I of the fair value hierarchy. Our Level I debt securities are comprised primarily of U.S. Treasury 
securities. If Level 1 valuations are not available, the farr value is detennined using models such as matrix 
pricing, which use quoted market prices of debt secwities with similar characteristics, or discounted cash 
flows to estimate fair value. We ol:>tained one price for each of our Level ~. 9ebt.~ecurities and did not 
adjust any of these prices at December 31, 2011or2010. ·.· . 

We also vaiue·certain debt securities using Level 3 inputs. For Level 3 debt securities, fair values are 
determined by outside brokers or, in the case of certain private placement securities, are priced 
internally. Outside brokers determine the value of these debt securities through a combination of their 
knowledge of the c.un:ent pricing environment and market flows. We obtained one non-binding bro).<.er 

·· quote for each of these Leve) 3 debt'secuntfos and did not adjust any of these quotes at December 3 J, 2011 
or 2010. The total fair value of our broker quoted securities was approximately $107 million and $153 
million at December 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively. Examples of these Level 3 debt securities·include 
certain U.S. and foreign corporate securities and certain of our commercial mortgage-backed securities as 
well as other asset-backed securities. For some of our private placement securities, our internal staff 
deter:mines the value of these debt securities by analyzing.spreads of corporate and sector indices as well as 
interest spre~ds of comparable public bonds. Examples of these Level 3 debt securities include certain U.S . 
. and foreign securities and certain tax-exempt municipal securities. 

Equity Securities - We currently have two classifications of equity securities:. those that are publicly 
traded and those that are privately held. Our publicly-traded securities are classified as Level l because 
quoted prices are available for these securities in an active market For privately-held equity securities, 
there is no active market; therefore, we classify these securities as Level 3 .because we price these securities 
through an internal analysis of each investment's fmancial statements and C<!Sh flow projections. 

Derivatives-:- Our derivative instruments are v~tued using models that primarily use market observable 
inpuLc; and therefore are classified as Level 2 because they are traded in markets where quoted market prices 
are not.readily available. 
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! ' 
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in our balance sheets at December 31 , 

' 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

(Millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

December 31, 2011 

Assets: 

Debt securities: 

U.S. government securities $ 1,307.0 $ 252.3 s $ 1,559.3 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 2,858.4 1.7 2,860.·1 -. . 

U.S. corporate securities 7,122.S 51.6 7,174.1 

Foreign securities 2,805.7 49.4 2,855.1 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 900.8 900.8 

Commercial mortgage-backed. securities 1,358.3 29.S 1,387.8 

Other asset-backed securities 419.4 34.4 453.8 

Redetinable preferred secwit{es 146.6 15.7 162.3 

Total debt securities 1,307.0 15,864.0 182.3 17,353.3 

Equity securities .8 36.7 37.S 

Derivatives 2.0 2.0 

Total $ 1,307.8 $ 15,866.0 s 2.19.0 s 17,392.8 

Liabilities: 

Derivatives $ - $ .1 s s .1 

December 31, 2010 

Assets: 

D~bt securities: 

U.S. government securities .$ 1,081.0 $ 292.7 $ $ 1,373.7 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 2,292.7 36 2,296.3 

U.S. corporate securities 7,201.9 60.7 7,262.6 

Foreign ·securities 2,822.4 5.4.9 2,877.3 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 1,140.0 1,140.0 

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 1,275.3 36.~ 1,3 12.2 

Other asset-backed securities 407.4 56.5 463.9 

Redeemable preferred securities 178.5 17.8 196.3 

Total debt securities 1 ,081.0 15,610.9 230.4 16,922.3 

Equity securities 1.4 37.9 39.3 

Derivatives 2.6 2.6 

Total $ 1,082.4 $ 15,613.5 $ 268.3 $ 16,964.2 

Liabilities: 

Derivatives $ - $ 6.5 $ - $ 6.5 

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 
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·The change in the balance of Level 3 financial assets during 2011 was as follows: 

Commercial 
Mortgage-

Foreign backed Equity 
(Mllllons) Seeurldes Securities Securitjes Other Total 

Beginning balanc.e $ 54.9 $ 36.9 $ 37.9 $ 138.6 $ 268.3 

Net realized and unrealized capital gains (losses): 
Included in earnings 1.0 3.4 (2.8) 1.6 

Included in other comprehensive income <~~) .o; I 1.9 2.2 3.3 

Other Cll (.9) (6.4) (4.2) (l 1.5) 

Purchases 35.1 5.5 22.7 63.3 

Sales (24.5) (.3} (18'.0) (42.8) 

Settlements (1.3) (12.7) (28.5) (42.5) 

Transfers out of Level 3, net (14.I) (6.6) (20.7) (2) 

Ending balance $ 49.4 $ 29.5 s . 36.7 s 103.4 $ 219.0 

Amount ofLc:vel ~ net unrealized lo'sses 

included in riet income s $ $ $ (.2) $ (.2) 

(I) Reflects realized and unrealized ·capital gains and losses on investments supporting our experience-rated and discontinued products, 
which do not impact our operating results. 

(2) . Gross transfers into Leve( 3 during 2011 im:lude $11. I million of Other financial assets. Gross transfers out of Level 3 during 
201 l include $17.7 million of Other financial assets and $14.1 million ofForeign Securities. 

The change in the balance of Level 3 financial assets during 2010 was as follows: 

U.S. 
Corporate Foreign 

(Millions) Securities Securities Other Total 

Beginniog balance $ 128.l . $ 199.0 $ 156.4 $ 483.5 

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses): 

Included in earnings (.9) 8.2 4.1 11.4 

Included in other compr¢hensive income .I (2.3) 27.1 24 .9 

Other (l) (.8) .5 (5.9) (6.2) 

Purchases, sa !es an cl settlements (64.4) (83.6) (24.1) (1 72.1) 

Transfers out of Level 3, net (1.4) (66.9) (4.9) . (73.2) 

Ending balance $ 60.7 $ 54.9 $ 152.7 $ 268.3 

Amount of Level .3 net unrealized losses 

included in net income $ - $ - $ (.9) $ (.9) 
-·· ·· . . . 

(I) Reflects re·alized ilnd unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting our experience-rated and discontinued products, 
which do not impact our operating results. 

Transfers into Level 3 during 2010 were not significant. Additionally, during 2010, certain investments previously 
classified as Level 3 were reclassified to Level 2 because we were able to obtain observable market data. 

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value in our Balance Sheets 
The following is a description of ~e valuation methodologies used for estimating the fair value of our financial 
assets and liabilities that are carried on our balance sheets at adjusted cost or contract value . 

. Mortgage loans: Fair values are estimated by discounting expected mortgage loan cash flows at market 
rates that reflect·the rates at which similar loans would be made to similar borrowers. These rates reflect 
our assessment of the credit quality and the remaining duration of the loans. The fair value estimates of 
mortgage loans oflower credit quality, including problem and restructured loans, are based on the estimated 
fair value of.the underlying collateral. 
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Investment contract liabilities: · 
With a fued maturity: Fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows at interest rates currently 
being offered by, or available to, us for similar contracts. 
Without a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated as the amoiint payable to the contract holder upon 
demand. However, we have the right under such contracts to delay payment of withdrawals that 
may ultimately result in paying an amount different than that determined to be payable on demand. 

Long-term debt: Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the same or..similar issued debt or, if 
.,-:-no quoted market prices are available, on the current rates estimated to be availabJe~to ~so(or debt.of similar 

terms and remaining maturities. 

The carrying value and estimated fair value of certain of our financial instruments at December 31, 2011 and 20 l 0 
· were as follows: 

(Millions) 

Assets: 

Mortgage loans 

Liabilities: 

lnvc-stment contract liabilities: 

With a fixed maturity 

Wi•hout ~ fi~ed maturity 

Long-tenn debt 

$ 

2011 

Carrying 
Value. 

1,648.5 

34.6 

543.9 

3,977.7 

$ 

Estimaied 
Fair 

Value 

1,703.7 

34.9 

559.4 

4,643.1 

$ 

2010 

Carrying 
Value 

1,509.8 

41.7 

511.5 

4,382.S 

$ 

Estimated 
Fair 

Value 

1,526.1 

42.7 

510.9 

4,728.9 

Separate Accounts Measured at Fafr Value in our Balance Sheets 
Separate Accounts assets in our Large Case Pensions business represent funds maintained -to meet specific 
objectives of contract holders. Since contract holders bear the investment risk of these .assets, a corresponding 
Separate Accounts liability has been established eql!al to the assets. These assets and liabilities are carried at fair 
value. Net investment income and capital gains and losses accrue directly to such contract holders. The assets of 
each account are legally segregated and are not subject to claims arising from our other businesses. Deposits, 
withdrawals, net investment income and realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on Separate, Accounts 
assets are not reflected in our statements of income, shareholders' equity or cash flows. · 

• • • • : • • • • > • • • • • • • ·.q.· '!' 

Separate Accounts assets include debt arid equity securities and derivative instruments. The valuatio.n 
methodologies used for these assets are similar to the methodologies described beginning on page 85. Separate 
Accounts assets have included investments in real estate carried at fair value. Separate Accounts real estate assets 
were transitioned out of our business in the second quarter of2010. The following is a description of the valuation 
methodologies used to price our real estate investments that were carried at fair value, including the general 
classification pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. 

Real Estate - The values of the underlying real estate investments are estimated using generally accepted 
valuation techniques and give consideration to the investment structure. An appraisal of the underlying real 
estate for each of these investments is performed annually. In the quarters in which an investment is not 
appraised or its valuation is.not updated, fair value is based on available market information. The valuation 
of a real estate invesfment is adjusted only ifthete has been a significant change in economic circtlmstances 
related to .the investment sin.ce acquisition or the most recent independent.valuation and .upon the · 
appraiser's review and concurrence with the valuation. Further, these valuations have been prepared giving 
consideration to the income, cost and sales comparison approaches of estimating property value. These 
valuations do not necessarily represent the prices at which the real estate investments would sell, since 
market prices of real estate investments can only be determined by negotiation between a willing buyer and 
seller. Therefore, these investment values are classified as Level 3. · 

Annual Report- Page 89 



Separate Accounts financial assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

2011 2010 

(Millions) Level 1 Level 2 Leve13 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Debt securities s 1,079.l s 2,817.8 s s 3,896.9 $ 1,059.7 $ 2,524.9 $ 56.0 $ 3,640.6 

Equity securities 936.0 936.0 1,231.9 1,231.9 

Derivatives (5.0) (S.O) .2 .2 

Tota11ll s 2,015.l s 2,812.8 s s 4,827.9 ·$ 2,291.6 -~ _2,s7s.1 $ 56.0 $ 4,872.7 
. .. 

(I) Excludes $390.3 million and $422.6 milii_iJn ol~asb and cash equivalents and other receivables at December 3 I, 2011and2010, 
respectively: 

There were no transfers between Levels l and 2 dw-ing the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 

The change in the balance of Level 3 Separate Accounts financial assets for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010 was as follows: 

(Millions) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 

Total losses a ccruerl to contn11:t holders 

Purchases, sales and settlements 

Transfers out of Level 3 

Balance at December 31, 2010 

Total losses ac.crued to contract holders 

.Purchases 

Sales 

Transfers out of Level J 

Balance at December 31, 2011 

$ 

s 

Debt 
Securilies 

97.3 $ 

(60.4) 

19.8 

(.7) 

56.0 

(15.6) 

.4 

(39.7) 

(I.I) 

-$ 

Re.al Estate Total 

71.4 $ 168.7 

5.2 (55.2) 

.2 20.0 
(76.8) (I) (77.5) 

56.0 

(15.6) 

.4 

(39.7) 

(1.1) 

s 

(I) The transfers out of level 3 for 20 I 0 primarily represent real estate Separate Accolll'!ts assets that were transitio~_ed out of our business in 
· the secc;md quarter of 20 I 0. · · · 

11. . Pe~sion and Other Postretircinent Plans 

Defined Benefit Retirement Plans 
We sponsor various defined benefit plans, including two pension plans, and OPEB plans that provide certain health 
care and life insurance benefits for retired employees, including those of our fonner parent company. 

On August 31, 20 l 0, we announced that pension eligible employees will no longer earn future pension service 
credjts in our tax-qualified noncontributory defined benefifpension plan (the ''Aetna Pension Plan") effective 
December 31, 2010 (i.e., the plan was "frozen1

'). The Aetna Pension Plan will continue to operate and account 
balances will continue to earn annual interest credits. As a result of this action, we re~measured our pension assets 
and obligations as of August 31, 20 l 0. 

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, we made $60 million, $505 million and $45 million, respectively, in voluntary cash 
contributions to the Aetna Pension Plan. 

We also sponsor a non-qualified supplemental pension plan that, prior to January 1, 2007, had been used to provide 
benefits for wages above the Internal Revenue Code wage limits applicable to tax qualified pension plans (such as 
the Aetna Pension Plan). Effective January 1, 2007, no new benefits accrue under the non-qualified supplemental 
pension plan, bµt interest will continue to be credited on outstanding supplemental cash balance accouQts; and the 
plan may continue to be used to credit special pension arrangements. 
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In addition, we currently provide certain medical and life insurance benefits for retired employees, including those of 
our fonner parent company. We provide subsidized health care benefits to certain eligible employees who 
terminated employment prior to December 31, 2006. There is a cap on our portion of the cost of providing medical 
and dental benefits· to our retirees. All current and future retirees and einpfoyees who terminate employment at age 
45 or later with at least five years of service are eligible to participate in our group health plans at their own cost. 

The information set forth in the following tables is based upon current actuarial reports using the ~nnual 
measurement dates (December 31: fot each year presented) for our pension and OPEB plans; however, certain 
components of the net periodic cost for th~ Aetna Pension Plan inl:20 I O:also include adjustments from the re­
measurement that occurred as of August 31, 2010. 

The following table shows the changes in the benefit obligations during 201 l and 2010 for our pension and OPEB 
plans. 

. Pension Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ S,821.2 $ 5,346.l s 333.3 $ 330.5 

Service cost 65.7 .2 .2 

Interest cost 312.3 299.5 16.6 17.9 

Actuarial loss (gain) 293.6 394.3 (12.5). 10.8 
Benefits paid (296.8) (284.4) . (24.9) . (26.1) 

Benefit obligation, end of year $ 6,JJ0.3 $ 5,821 .2 $ 312.7 $ 333.3 

The Aetna Pension Plan comprises approximately 96% of the pension plans' total benefit o~ligatfon at December 31, 
2011. The discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation of our pension and OPEB plans were calculated 
using a yield curve as of our annu~~ measurement da_te. The yield curve consisted.of a se~ies of-individual discount 
rates, with each discount rate corresponding to a single point in time, based on high-quality bonds. Projected ·benefit 
payments are discounted to the measurement date. using the corresponding rate .from the yield curve. The weighted 
average discount rate for our pension plans was 4.98% and 5.50% for 2011and2010, respectively. The di.scount rate 

·for our OPEB plans was 4.78% and 5.20% for 2011 and 2010, respectively. The discount rates differ for our pension 
and OPE13 plans due to the dj.iration of the projected benefit payments for each plan. 

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending balances of the fair value of plan assets during 20 ll and 
2010 for the pension and OPEB_ plans: 

(Millions) 

Fair value of plan asse!S, beginning of year 

Actual return on plan assets 

Employer contnbutions 

Benefits paid 

Fair value.ofplan assets, end of year 

$ 

$ 

Pension Plans 

2011 

S,243.8 $ 

265.8 

84.0 

(296.8). 

2010 

4,394.9 $ 

604.7 

528.6 

(284.4) 

5,296.8 $ 5,243.8 $ 

OPE'e Plans 
. ·2011 2010 

66.6 $ 67.9 
. 1.2 2.0 

21.3 22.8 

(24.9) (26.1) 

64.2 s 66.6 

The difference between the fair value of plan assets and the plan's benefit obligation is referred to as the plan's 
funded status. This funded status is an accounting-based calculation and is not indicative of our mandatory funding 
requirements, which are described on page 93 . . 

The funded status of our pension and OPEB plans at the meas\ll'ement date for 2011 arid 2010 were as follows: 

Pension Plans OPED Plans 

(Miilions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Benefit obligation $ (6,130.3) $ . (5,821.2) s (312.7) $ (333.3) 

Fair value of plan assets 5,296.8 5,243.8 64.2 66.6 

Funded status $ (833.5) $ (577.4) $ (248.S) S (266.7) 
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The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive Joss that have not yet.been recognized in net periodic benefit cost 

as of December 31, 2011and2010 were as follows: 

/ 
Pension Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Unrecognized prior service credit $ (2.4) $ (2.8) $ (37.1) $ (40.8) 

Unrecognized net actuarial losses 2,734.8 2,380.3 86.7 101.7 

Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss s (2,732.4) $ (2,377.5) $ (49.6) $ (60.9) 

The liabilities recognized on our balance sheets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 for our pension and OPEB.plans 
were comprised of the following: 

Pe·nsion Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Accrued benefit liabilities reflected in other cunent liabilities $ 82.6 $ 84.6 s 24.0 $ 26.9 

Accrued bendit liabilities reflected in other long-term liabilities 750.9 492.8 224.5 239.8 

Net amount of liabilities recognized at December 31, $ 833.S $ 577.4 $ 248,5 $ 266.7 

At December 31, 2011, we had approximately $2. 7 billion and $87 million ofnet actuarial losses for our pension and 
OPEB plans, respectively, and approximately $2 million and $37 million of prior service credits for our pension and 
OPEB plans, respectively, that have not been recognized as components of net periodic benefit costs. We expect to 
recognize approximately $70 million and $4 million in amortization of net actuarial losses for our pension and OPEB 
plans, respectively, and approximately $4 million in amortization of prior service credits for our OPEB plans in 
2012. Our amortization of prior service credits for our pension plans in 2012 is not expected to be material. 

Components of the net periodic benefit (income) cost of our tax-qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension 
plans and OPEB plans for December 31, 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009 were as follows: 

Pens!on Plans OPEB Plans 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009 

Operating component.: 

Service cos1 $ $ 65.7 $ 48.3 $ .2 $ .2 $ .2 

Amortization of prior service cost (.4) (1.6) (2.2) (3.7) (3.6) (3.7) 

Cunailmenl gain (11 .9) 

Total operating component (I (.4) 52.2 46.1 (3.S) (3.4) (3.S) 

Financing component: 

Interest cost 312.3 299.5 316.5 16.6 17.9 21.7 

Expected return on plan assets (385.0) (350.9) (319.0) (3.6) (3.7) (3.6) 

Recogniz~d net. acniarial losses 58.3 163.3 215.8 4.9 4.6 3.4 

To1al financing component lll (14.4) 111.9 213.3 17.9 18.8 21.S 

Net periodic benefit (income) cost . s (14.8) $ 164.I $ 259 .. 4 s .14.4 $ 15.4 $ 18.0 

(II The operating component of this expense is allocated to our business segments and the financing component is allocated to our Corporate 
Financing segment. ·our Coll'orate Financing segment is not a business segment but is added to our business segments to reconcile to our 
consolidated results. Refer 10 Note 19 beginning on page 108 for addirional infonnation on our business segments. 

As a result of the August 31, 2010 announcement freezing the Aetna Pension Plan and related requirement to 
remeasure the Aetna Pension Plan's obligations and plan assets as of August 31, 2010, our pension obligation 
increased by approximately $743 million (due primarily to a lower discount rate), accumulated other comprehensive 
income decreased by approximately $836 million ($543 million after-tax), and the fair value of plan assets increased 
by approximately $156 mill ion. In performing this re-measurement, we used a discount rate of 4. 77%, consistent 
with our methodology for determining the discount rate using a yield curve, and an expected long-tenn rate ofretum 
of 7.50%. Additionally, as a result of this re-measurement, we revised the amortization period we use for actuarial 
gains and losses from 9 years to 31 years, reflecting the estimated average remaining participation period for current 

participants. 
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Our voluntary contribution of $505 million to the Aetna Pension Plan in 2010 and the higher fair value of our 
. pension assetS at December 31;2010 also contributed to ilie aetreasein pensio~ expense ·betWeen 2010 and 2009. 

The re-measurement of the Aetna Pension Plan's obligations and plan assets also resulted in $12 million of one-time 
curtailment gains in the third quarter of 20 I 0. 

The weighted average assumption$ lised to detennine net periodic benefit (income) cost in 2011, 2010 and 2009 for 
the pension and OPEB plans were as follows: 

Discount rate 
Expected long-term return on plan assets 

Rat~_of i_ncre~e in futtire.compen·~tio~levels 

.. sj~ . 'i-¥.': 

2011 

5.50% 

7.50 

NIA 

Pension Plans 

2010 

5.67% 

8.00 
4.51 

OPEB Plans 

2009 2011 . 2010 

6.89% 5.20% 5.64% 

8.50 5.50 5.50 
. ·4.51 -

We assume different health care co.st trend rates for medical costs and prescription drug costs in estimating the . . 

2009 

6.92% 

S.50 

expected costs of our OPEB plans. The assumed medical cost trend rate for 2012 is 7%, decreasing gradually to 5% 
by 2014. The assumed prescription drug cost trend rate for 2012 is i 2%, decreasing gradually to 5% by 2019. These 
asswnptions reflect our historical as well as expected future trends for retirees. In addition, the. trend assumptions 
reflect factors specific to our retiree medical plan, such as plan design, cost-sharing provisions, benefits covered and 
the presence of subsidy caps. A one-percentage point increase in both the assumed medical cost and assunied 
prescription chug cost trend rates would result in an approximately $0.6 million pretax increase in the aggregate of 
the service and interest cost components of OPEB costs and an approximately $12 million increase in the OPEB 
benefit obligation. A one-percentage point decrease in _both the assumed medical cost and assumed prescription drug 
cost trend rates would result in ~i1 approximately $0.5 million.pretax decrease in the aggregate of the service and 
interest cost components ofOPEB costs and an approximately $10 million decrease in the OPEB benefit obligation. 

Our current funding strategy is to fund an amount at.least equal to the minimum funding requirement as determined 
under applicable regulatory requirements with consideration of factors such as the maximum tax deductibility of 

. such amounts. We do not have any mandatory contribution requirements for 2012; however, we may make a 
voluntary contribution of approximately $60 million to the Aetna Pension Plan _in 2012. Employer contributions 
related to the supplemental pension and OPEB plans represent payments to retirees for current benefits. We have no 
plans to return any pension or OPEB plan assets to the Company in 2012. 

Expected benefit payments, which reflect. future employee service, as appropriate, of the pension and OPEB plans to 
be paid Jor each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the next five years thereafter at December 31, 2011 

were as follows: 

Pension OPEB 
(Millions) Plans Plans 

2012 $ 326.8 $ 24.0 

2013 333.S 23.6 

2014 341.0 23.4 

2015 36i.I 23.2 

2016 368.6 22.9 

2017-2021 1,912.6 106.0 
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Assets of the Aetf}a Pension Plan 
The assets of the Aetna Pension Plan ("Pension Assets") include debt and equity securities, common/collective trusts 
and real estate investments. The valuation methodologies used to price these assets are similar to the methodologies 
described beginning on pages 85 and 88. Pension Assets also include investments in other assets that are carried at 
fair value. The following is a description of the valuation methodology used to price these additional investments, 
including the .general classification pursuant. to the valuation hierarchy. 

Other Assets - Other assets consist of derjvatives and private equity and hedge fund limited partnerships. 
~·,;\. · Derivatives are either valued with models that primarily use market o~servable iilputs and therefore are 

classified.as Level 2 because they are traded in markets where quoted market prices are not readily available 
or are classified as Level I because they are traded in mark.ets where quoted market prices are readily 
av11ilable. The fair value of private equity and hedge fund limited partnerships are estimated based on the net 
asset value of the investment fund provided by the general partner or manager of the investments, the 
financial statements of which generally are audited. Management considers observable market ~ata, 
valuation procedW'es in place, contributions and withdrawal restrictions collectively in validating the 
appropriateness of using the net asset value as a fair value measurement. Therefore, these investments are 
classified as ·Level 3. · 

Pension Assets with changes in fair value measured on a recurring basis, asset allocation and the target asset 
allocation presented as a perc~ntage of the total plan assets at December 31, 2011_ were as follows: 

Actual Target 
(Millions) Level 1 Levell Level 3 Total Allocation Allocation 

Debt securities: 37-43% 

U.S. government securities s 103.6' s 423.9 $ $ 527.S 10.3% 

States, municipalities and political subdivisions 102.4 102.4 2.0% 

U.S. rorporate securities 903.S .1 903.6 17.6%' 

Foreign securities 112.0 112.0 2.2% 

~esidential mortgage-backeq securities · 171.9 171.9 3.3% 

Conunercial mortgage-backed securities 37.0 37.0 .1•1o 

Other assc,t-backed i;ecurities 15.3 .1 JS.4 .3% 

Redeemable preferred securities 11.8 11.8 .2%· 

Total debt securities 103.6 . 1,777.8 .2 1,881.6 36.6% 

Equity securities and conunon/collective trusts: .43-53% 

U.S. Domestic 1,174.2 .2 1,174.4 22.8% 
) 

International 620.4 620.4. 12.1% 

Common/collective trusts 774.6 774.6 .JS.1% 

Domestic real estate ·20,3 20.3 . .4% 

Total equity securities ao,d common/collective trusts 1,814.9 774.8 2,589.7 50.4% 

Other investments: 10·14% 

Real estate 433.2 433.2 8.5% 

Other assets 232.2 232.2 4.5% 

Total pension investments Ol $ . 1,918.S s 2,552.6 $ 665.6 $ 5,1.16.7 100% 

(t) Excludes $160.1 million of cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. 
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Pension Assets with changes in fair value measured on a recurring basis, asset allocation and the target asset 
allocation presented as ·a percentage of ·the total plan a5seis at December 3 i, 20 l 0 were as follows: 

Actual Target 
(Millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Allocation Allocation 

Debt securities: 

U.S. government securities 
States, miinicipalities and political subdivisions 

U.S. corporate securities 
Foreign securities : - ::--:. .. 'v· 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Commercial mortgage-backed securiti'es 

OtJ,ier asset:backed securities 

Redeemable preferred securities , -

Total debt securyties 

Equity securities and cominon/collective trusts: 

U.S. Domestic 

International 

Commt>n/colleetive trusts 

Domestic real estate 

Total equity securities _and coml'il.on/collective trusts 

Other investments: 

Real estate 

Other assets 

Total pension investments (I) 

$ 232.7 $ 

232.7 

1,281.1 

871.5 

31.8 

2,184.4 

30.0 $ 

70.8 
6"73.3 

76.1 

296.0 

37.5 

. 36.1 

2.i 
1,222.0 

1.8 

866.3 

868.1 

.3 

.7 

.7 

395.3 

203.6 

$ 262.7 

70.8 

673.3 
76.I 

296.7 

37.5 

36.I 

2.2 

1,455.4 

1,282.9 

871.S 

866.3 

31.8 

3,052.5 

395.3 

203.9 

$ 2,417.1 $ 2,090.4 $ 599.6 $ 5,107.1 

Cll Excludes.$136.7 million of cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. 

The changes in the balances of Level 3 Pension Assets during 2011 were as follows: 

Beginning balance 

Actual return on plan assets 

Purchases, sales and settlements 

transfers out of Level 3 

Ending .balan.ce. 

Real Estate 

$ 395.3 $ 

49.4 

(11.5) 

$ 433.2 $ 

The changes in the balances of Level 3 Pension Assets during 2()10 were as follows: 

Beginning balance 

Actual return on plan assets 

Purchases, sales and sett\ ements 

Transfers out of Level 3 
Ending balance 

, " I e 
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Real Estate 

$ 353.0 $ 

54.0 

(J 1.7) 

s 395.3 ·s 

2011 

2010 

:S.2% 
1.4% 

13.2% 

28-38% 

1.5% .,.. . . . .. 
5.8% 

.7% 

. . 7'Vo 
-% 

28.5% 

. 25.1% 

17.1% 

17.0% 
·.6% 

59.8% 

7.7% 

4.0%. 

100.0%· 

Other· 

204.3 $ 

14.9 

13;9 

(7) 

232.4 $ 

Other 

151.4 $ 

12.4 

40.5 

204.3 $ 

48-58% 

10-18% 

Total 

599.6 

64.3 

2.4 

(.7) 

665.6 

Total 

504.4 

664 

28.8 

599.6 



The actual and target asset allocation of the OPEB plans used at December 31, 2011 and 2010 presented as a 
percentage of total plan assets, were as follows: 

Target Target 

(Millions) 2011 Allocation 2010 Allocation 

Equity securities 9% 5-15% 8% 5-15% 

Debt securities 87%. 80-90% 90% 80-90% 

Real estate/other 4"/o 0-10% 2% 0-10% 

The Aetna Pension Plan invests in a diversified mix of assets intended to maximize long-term returns while 
recognizing the need for adequate liquidity to meet ongoing benefit and administrative obligations. The risk of 
unexpected investment and actuarial outcomes is regularly evaluated. This evaluation is performed through 
forecasting and assessing ranges of investment outcomes over short- and long-tenn horizons, and by assessing the 
Aetna Pension Plan's liability characteristics, our financial condition and our future potential obligations from both 
the pension and general corporate perspectives. Complementary investme~t styles and techniques are utilized by 
multiple professional investment fimis to further improve portfolio and operational risk characteristics. Public and 
private equity investments are used primarily to increase overall plan returns. Real estate investments are viewed 
favorably for their diversification benefits and above-average dividend generation. Fixed income investments 
provide diversification benefits and liability hedging attributes that are desirable, especial1y in falling interest rate 
environments. 

Asset allocations and investment performance are formally reviewed periodically throughout the year by the plan's 
Benefit Finance Committee. Forecasting of asset and liability growth is performed at least annually. More thorough 
analyses of assets and liabilities are.also performed periodically. 

We have several benefit plans for retired empioyees currently supported by the OPEB plan assets. OPEB plan assets 
are directly and indirectly invested in a diversified mix of traditional asset classes, primarily high-quality fixed 
income securities. 

Our expected return on plan assets assumption is based on many factors, including forecasted capital market real 
returns over a long-tenn horizon, forecasted inflation rates, historical compounded asset returns and patterns and 
correlations on those returns. Expectations for modest increases in interest rates, nonnal inflation trends and average 
capital market real returns led us to an expected return on the Pension Assets assumption of7.50% for 2011, 8.25% 
for January 1, 2010 through August 31, 2010 and 7.50% for September 1, 2010 through December 31,. 2010 and an 
expected return on OPEB plan assets assumption of 5.50% for 2011 and 5.50% for 2010. We regularly review actual 
asset allocations and periodically rebalance our investments to the mid-point of our targeted allocation ranges when 
we consider it appropriate. At December 31, 2011, our actual asset allocations were consistent wit~ our asset 
allocation assumptions. Investment returns can be volatile. Although our return on plan assets is a long-term 
assumption, shorter-term volatility in our annual pension costs can occur if investment returns differ from the 
assumed rate. For example, a one-percentage point deviation from the long-term 7.50% return assumption that we 
will use for 2012 would impact our annual pension expense by approximately $4 million after-tax and would have a 
negligible effect on our annual OPEB expense. 

40l(k) Plan · . . . . .. 
Our employees are eligibie to participate in a defined contribution retirement savings plan under which designated 
contributions may be invested in our common stock or certain other investments. Beginning October 2010, we 
increased our 401 (k) contribution to provide a match of 100% of up to 6% of the eligible pay contributed by the 
employee. From January 1, 2010 to October I, 2010, we matched 50% ofup to 3% of the eligible pay contributed 
by the employee. Prior to January 1, 2010, we matched 50% ofup to 6% of the eligible pay contributed by the 
employee. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, we made $114 million, $53 million and $49 million, respectively, in 
matching contributions. The matching contributions are made in cash and invested according to each participant's 
investment elections. The plan trustee held approximately 9 million shares of our common stock for plan 
participants at December 31 , 2011. At December 31, 20l1, approximately 34 million shares of our common stock 
were reserved for issuance under our 401 (k) plan. 
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12. Stock-based Empioyee I~ceritlve Plans 

Our stock-based employee compensation plans (collectively, the "Plans") provide for awards of stock options, 
SARs, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), market stock units ("MSUs"), performance stock units ("PSUs"), deferred 
<.:ontingerl comrnon stock and the ability for employees to purchase common-stock at a discount. At December 
31, 2011, approximately 52 million common shares were available for issuance under the Plans. Executive, 
niiddle management and non-management employees may be granted stock options, SARs, RSUs, MSUs and 

, , ~P$U,'~, each of which are described below: · .;_:'.. ,-;, ,. 

Stock Options and SARs - We have not ~anted stock options ~ince 2005, but some remain outstand.ing . 
. Stock options were granted to pure.base oui common stock ~tor !;lb6ve. th~ market P.rice on the date ()f grant. 
SARs granted wili be settled.in stock, net of taxes, based on the appreciation of our stock price on the 

exercise date over the market price on the date of grant. SARs and stock options generally become 100% 
vested three years after the grant is made, with one-third vesting each year. Vested SARs and stock options 
may be exercised at any time during the ten years after grant, except in certain circumstances, generaily 
related to employment termination or retirement. At the end of the ten-year period, any unexercised SARs 
and stock optfons expire. 

RSUs - For each RSV granted, employees receive one share of common stock, net of taxes, at the end of 
the vesting period. For RSUs granted prior to 2010, the RSUs will generally become 100% vested three 
years after the grant is made, with one-third vesting each year. Beginrung in 2010, the RSUs generally ':"ill 
become 100% vested approximately three years from the grant date, with .one~third vesting each December. 

. .. . . .. 

J\lSUs - The number of vested M~Us (which could range from zero to 150% of the original number of units 
granted) is dependent on the weighted average closing price of our common stock for the thirty trading 
days, including the vesting date. The MSUs have an approximately two-year vesting period. 

PSUs -The number ofvested PSUs (which could range from zero to 200% of the original number ofunits 
granted) is dependent upon the degree to which we achieve performance goals as determined by our 
Eoard's Committee on Compensation and Organization (the "Compensation Committee"). The value of 
each vested PSU is equal to one share of common stock, net of taxes. the PSUs have an approximately 
two-year vesting period. The p"erfonnance period for the 201 I and 2010 PSU ·grants ended~on December 
31, 2011and2010, respectively. The PSUs granted in 2011 will vest at 200% of the original number of 
units granted, a:nd the PSUs granted in 2010 vested ~t 200% of the original number oflinitS~granted, as the 
Compensation Committee has determined that the underlying performance goals have bee~· met at the 
tnaximum level. The PSUs granted in .. 2009 did not vest as the underlying performance metric was not 
achieved by December 31, 2010. 

We estimate the fair value o(SARs using a modified Black-Scholes option pricing model. We did not grant a 
material amount of SARs in 2011 or 20 l 0. SARs granted in 2009 had a weighted average per share fair value of 
$11.37, using the assumptions noted in the following table: · 

Dividend yield 

Expected volatility 

Risk-free iaterest rate 

Expec1ed tenn 

2009 
.!% 

.39.8% 

1.8% 
4.6 years 

We use historical data to estimate the period of time that stock options or SARs are expected to be outstanding. 
Expected volatilities are based on a weighted average of the historical volatility of our stock price and implied 
volatility from traded options on our stock. The risk-free interest rate for periods within. the expected life of the 
stock opton or SAR is based on the benchmark five-year US. Treasury rate in effect on the date of grant. The 
dividend yield assumption is based on our historical dividends declared. · 
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The stock option and SAR transactions dliring 2011; 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

Weighted 
Average Weighted Aggregate 

Number of Stock Exercise Average Remaining · Intrinsic 
(Millions, except exercise price and remaining life) Options and SARs Price Contractual Life Value 

2009. 

Outstanding, beginning of year 41.9 $ 27.50 4.9 $ 347.0 

Granted S.6 32.00 

Exercised (2.5) 10.01 46.9 
. ,., ·z",J'.;..-;_ 

Expired or forfeited (.9) 36.34 

Outstanding, end of year 44.1 $ 28.88 4.7 $ 356.6 

Exercisable, end of year 34.6 $ 26.16 3.7 $ 355.0 

2010 

Outstanding, beginning of year 44.1 $ 28.88 4.7 $ 356.6 

Granted 
(I) 

29.20 
Exercised (5.0) 10.65 102.4 

Expired or forfeited (1.3) 37.32 
Outstanding, end of year 37.8 $ 31.01 4.1 $ 232.9 

Exercisable, end of year 33.3 $ 30.22 3.6 $ 232.1 

2011 

Outstanding, beginning of year 37.8 $ 31.01 4.1 $ 232.9 

Gran.ted .1 36.87 

Exercised (10.0) 17.35 228.8 

Expired or forfeited (1.6) 47.95 
Outstanding, end of year 26.3 $ 35.18 4.0 $ 246.3 

Exercisable, end of year 24.7 s 35.38 3.8 s 230.6 

(I) Rounds to zero. 

The following is a summary of information regarding stock options and SARs outstanding and exercisable at 
December 31, 2011: 

Outstanding Exercisable 

Weighted 
Average Weighted Weighted 

Remaining Average Aggregate Average Aggregate 
Number Contractual Exercise Intrinsic Number Exercise Intrinsic 

Range ofExerdse Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Price Value. Exercisable Price Value 

SO.OO-Si0.00 .s .1 $ 8.94 $ 18.3 .5 $ 8.94 $ 18.3 

I 0.00-20.00 S.6 J.7 16.12 146.5 5.6 16.12 146.S 

20.00-30.00 .2 5.6 24.54 3.6 .z 14.57 3.3 

30.00-40.00 8.4 . 4.9 32.89 77.9 6.8 33.06 62.5 

40.00-50.00 4.7 4.5 43.24 4.7 43.24 

50.00-60.00 . 6.9 4.6 50.51 6.9 . 50.51 

$0.0Q.$60.00 26.3 4.0 $ 35.18 s 246.3 24.7 s 35.38 $ 230.6 
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The fair value of RSUs and PSUs are based on the market price of our common stock on the date of grant. 
Begi1U1ing in 2010, we granted MSUs to certain employees. We estimate the fair value of MSUs using a Monte 
Carlo simulation. MSUs granted in 2011·and2010 had a weighted average per share fair value of$38.79 and 
$33.85, respectively, using the assumptions noted in the following table: 

2011 2010 

Dividend yield 1.6% .1% 

Historical volatility 36.5% 58.7% 

Risk-free ioterest rate .6% .9% 

Initial price 
. ,,.,,_.,~ 

$ 36.87 $ 29.20 

The annualized volatility of the price of our common stock over the 22 month and two-year periods preceding the 
grant date was used at December 31, 2011and2010, respectively. The risk-free interest rate for periods within 
the expected life of the MSUs are based on a 22 month interpolated and two-year U.S. Treasury rate in effect on 
the date of grant for the the MSUs granted during 2011 and 2010, respectively. The dividend yield assumption 
for 2011 was based on our expected 2011 annual dividend payout and the 2010 dividend yield assumption was 
based on our historical dividends· declared. 

RSU, MSU and PSU transactions in 201l,2010 and 2009 were as follows (number of units in millions): 

2011 

Weighted 
RS Us, Average 
MS Us Grant Date 

and PSUs 

RSUs, MSUs and PSUs at beginning of year <1> 5.0 $ 

Granted 3.9 

Vested (1.3) 

Forfeited (.9) 

RSUs, MSUs and PSUs at end of year 6.7 s 

(I) There were no MSU transactions prior to February 2010. 
<2J Rounds to zeto. 

Fair Value 

31.16 

37.43 

33.34 

33.65 

33.62 

2010 

Weighted 
RS Us, Average 
MS Us Grant Date 

and PSUs Fair Value 

3.1 $ 34.60 

3.8 29.22 

(1.3) 34.22 

. (.6) 34.78 

5.0 $ 31.16 

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, the following activity occurred under the Plans: 

(Millions) 

Cash received from stock option exercises 

Intrinsic value of options/SARs exercised and stock units vested 

Tax benefits realized for the tax deductions from stock options and SARs exercised and stock units vested 

Fair value of stock options, SARs and stock units vested •1J 

$ 

2009 

· Weighted 
Average 

. RSUs, Grant Date 
and PSUs Fair Value 

2.4 $ 42.98 

1.8 30.27 

(I.I) 45.11 
(1) 

38.56 

3.1. $ 34.60 

2011 2010 2009 

125.S $ 43.2 $ 14.9 

280.7 140.3 80.9 

98.2 49:1 27.6 

98.S 105.7. 98.7 

<•> The fair value represents the total dollar value of the stock options, SARs and stock units as of the grant date. 

We settle our stock options, SARs and stock units with newly-issued common stock and generally utilize the 
proceeds from stock options to repurchase our common stock in the open market in the s~e period. 

In 2011, 2010 and 2009 we recorded share-based compensation expense of $141 million, $110 million and $91 
million, respectively, in general and administrative expenses. We also recorded related tax benefits of$47 million, 
$30 m.illlon and $32 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. At December 31, 2011, $93 million of total 
unrecognized compensation costS related to stock options, SARs and stock units is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 1.3 years. 
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13. Income Tax~s 

The components of our income tax provision in 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Current uixes: 
Federal s 93S.8 $ 555.9 $ 657.4 

State 101.0 22.8 61.2 

Total curreo.t taxes 1,036.8 578.7 718.6 

Deferred tax.es.(benefits): t.;,r.~ - ~~.;~ ... 
Federal 50.0 288.3 (81.1) 

State 5.3 10.4 (12.8) 

Total deferred income ta.ices 55.3 298.7 (93.9) 

Total income taxes s 1,092.1 $ 877.4 $ 624.7 

Income taxes were different from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income 
before.income taxes as follows: 

(Millions) 2011. 2010 2009 

Income before income taxes s 3,077.8 $ 2,644.2 $ -·1,901.2 

Tax rate 35% 35% 35% 

Application of the tax rate 1,077.2 925.5 665.4 

Tax. effect of: 

Valuation allowance (36.6) (19.4) 

Other, net 14.9 (11.5) (21.3) 

Income taxes s 1,092.l $ 877.4 $ 624.7 

The significant co.mponents of our net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 

(Millions) 2011 2010 

Deferred tax assets: 
Reserve for ~ticipated future losses on discontinued products s 160.6 $ . 201.0 

Employee and postretirement benefits 550.4 488.8 

lnvestmeot~. oet 102.4 133.8 

Deferred policy acquisition costs 40.6 41.9 

lnsurance reserves 139.8 107.2 

Net operating losses 46.8 33.2 

Severance and facilities 48.5 19.3 

Other 83.1 71.0 

Gross deferred tax. assets 1,172.2 1,096.2 

Less: Valuaiion allowance 35.7 33.0 

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 1,136.5 1,063.2 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Unrealized gains on investment securities 333.J 227.7 

Goodwill and other acquired intangible assetS 396.1 267.0 

Cumulative depreciation and amor:tization 228.7 211.6 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 958.1 706.3 

Net deferred tax assets<•> $ 178.4 $ 356.9 

<
1
> Includes $387.2 million and $327.0 million classified as current assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

Includes $208.8 million classified as long-term liabilities and $29.9 million cl.assified as long-term ~sets at December 311 

iOll and 2010, respectively. · 
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Valuation allowances are provided when we estimate that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not 
be rc:ll iicd. A valuation allowance has been established on certain federal and state net operating losses and 
acquired credits. We base our estimates of the future realization of deferred tax assets on historic and anticipated 
taxable income. However, the amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable could be adjusted in the future 
if we revise o\ir estimates of anticipated taxable income. . 

We participate in the Compliance~ssurance_Process (the "CAP") with the IRS.,Urider the CAP, the IRS undertakes 
audit procedures during the tax year and as the return is prepared for filing. The IRS has concluded its CAP audit of 
our 2010 ~ return as well as ail the pri.9r. years:. We expect the IRS . .will ~nclude. its CAP ~udit of our 2011 tax 
return in 2012. · . · · · · 

We are also subject to audits by state taxing authorities for tax years from 2000 through 20 I 0. Our 2011 income tax 
provision reflects a non-recuiTI.rig provision related to a legacy state tax matter. We believe we carry appropriate 
reserves for any e·xposiire to state tax issues. 

At December 31, 2011 and 20 I 0, we did not have m·aterial uncertain tax positions reflected in ow· consolidated . 
balance sheets. 

We paid net income taxes of$899 million, $674 million and $634 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

14. Debt 

The carrying value of our long-term debt at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows: 

(Millions) 

Senior notes, S.75%, due 2011 <1
> 

Senior notes, 7.875%, due 2011 111 

Senior notes, 6.0%, due. 2016 

Senior notes, 6.5%, due 2018 · 

Senior notes, 3.95%, due 2020 

Senior notes, 4.125%, due 202 i 
Senior notes, 6.625%, due 2036 

Senior notes, 6. 75%, due 2037 

Total long:tenn debt ..... 

$ 

s 

201J 

748.0 

499.1 

742.6 

493.4 

798.7 

695.9 

3,977.7 

20IO 

$ 450.0 

449.9 

747.6 

498.9 

741.7 

798.7 
' 695.7 

$ · . 4,382.5 

'(I) The S.75% senior notes and the 7.875.% senior notes were repaid in June 2011 and March 2011, respectively. These were ·~'lassified as 
current in the consolidated balance sheet as o_f December 31, 20 I 0. 

In 2011, we entered into two interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional value of $250 million. We designated 
these swaps as cash flow hedges against interest rate exposure related to the forecasted future issuance of fixed-rate 
debt. At December 31, 2011, these interest rate swaps had an aggregate fair value loss of $6 million~ which was 
reflected ~:accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

In May 2011, we issued $500 million of 4.125% senior notes due 2021 (the "2011 senior notes") in anticipation of 
the scheduled maturity of our 5.75% senior· notes due June 2011. In the first halfof 2011, prior to issuing the 2011 
senior notes, we entered into two interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional value of $250 million and 
designated those interest raie swaps as a 'hedge against interest rate exposiire related tb the forecast 'issuance of that . 
fix ed-rate debt. We terminated the swaps concurrently with issuing the 2011 senior notes and upon termination of 
the swaps, paid $9 million to.the swap counterparty. The related $9 million loss is recorded in accumulated other · 
comprehensive income and is being amortized as interest expense over the ten-year life of the 2011 senior notes. 
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In August 2010, we issued $750 million of 3.95% senior notes due 2020 (the "2010 senior notes'') in anticipation of 
the 2011 scheduled maturity of certain of our senior notes. In connection with this debt issuance, we terminated 
five forward-starting interest rate swaps (with an aggregate notional value of $500 ·million) that we held ~ a hedge 
against interest rate expos.ire in anticipation of this issuance. Upon tennination of the swaps, we paid $38 million 
to our cow1terparties, which was recorded in other comprehensive income and is being amortized as an increase to 
interest expense over the life of the 2010 senior notes. 

. . 
At December 31, 2011, we had approximately $426 million of commercial paper outstanding with.a weighted 

_ . · .. ~:~:: average intere£t rate.of .38%. At December 31, 2010, we did not have any coµun~rP._ial paper. outstanding. 
. ...~ . . ' ~ 

We paid $254 million, $243 million and $244 million in interest in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

At December 31, 201 I, we had an unsecured $1.5 billion revolving credit agreement (the "Facility") with several 
financial institutions which terminates in March 2013. The Facility provides for the issuance of up to $200 million 
ofletters of credit at our request, which count as usage of the available commitments under the Facility. Upon.our 
agreement with one or more financial institutions, we may expand the aggregate commitments under the Facility to 
a maximum of $2.0 billion. Various interest rate options are available under the Facility. Any revolving borrowings 
mature on the termination date of the Facility. We pay (acility fees on the Facility ranging from .045% to .175% per 
annum, depending upon our long-term senior unsecured debt rating. The facility fee was .06% at December 31, 
201 l. The Facility contains a financial covenant that requires us to maintain a ratio of total debt to consolidated 
capitalization as of the end of each fiscal quarter at or below .5 to 1.0. For this purpose, consolidated capitalization 
equals the sum of tot.al shareholders' equity, excluding any overfunded or underfunded status of our pension and 
OPEB plans and _any net umealized capital gains and losses, and total debt (as defined in the Facility). We met this 
requirement at December'3 l, ~01 l. There were no amounts outstanding under the Facility at any time during the 
year ended December 31, ·2011. · · · · 

15. Capital Stock 

From time lo time, our Board authorizes us to repurchase our common stock. The activity under Board authorized 
share repurchase pmgrams in'2011, 2010 and 2009 was as follows: 

. . 

Shares Purchased 

20ll 2010 2009 

Purchase 
Notto 

(Millions) · Exc'eed Shares Cost Shares Cost Shares Cost 
Authorization date: 

September 23, JO l I . $ 750.() 1.9 s 327.8 $ $ 

May 20, 2011 750.0 19.3 750.0 

December 3, 2010 750.0 17.9 735.2 .4 14.8 

July 30, 2010 1,000.0 32.9 1,000.0 

February 27, 2009 750.0 19.1 591.2 5.3 158.8 

June 27, 2008 750.0 23.6 614.2 

Total repurchases NIA 45.1 s 1,813.0 52.4 $ 1,606.0 28.9 $ 773.0 

Repurchase <!Uthorizati~n n.~maining ~t DccemQer:3 l ,. . NIA s . 422.2 NIA ·S· . 735.2 ·NIA$ 591.2 . 

In FebruilJ)' 2011, we announced that our Board jncreased our cash dividend to shareholders to $.15 per share and 
moved us to a quarterly dividend payment cycle. On December 2, 2011, we announced that our Board increased 
the _Company's quarterly cash dividend to shareholders to $.175 per share. Prior to February 2011, our policy had 
been to pay an annual dividend of $.04 per share. 

Annual Report- Page 102 



Jn 2011 our Board declared the following cash dividends: 

Date Declared 

February 3, 2011 

May 20, 2011 

Dividend Amount 
Per Share 

$ .15 

.15 

Stockholders or 
Record Date 

April 14, 2011 

July 14, 2011 

Date Paid/ 
To be Paid 

April 29, 2011 

July 29, 2011 

Total Dividends 
(Millions) 

$ 57.0 

55.9 

September 23, 2011.. . IS October 1.3. 2011 October 28, 2011 54.3 

December2, 2011 .175 January 13, 2012 Jan~ary 27, 2012. 61.2 

Declaration and p~yment,of future dividends is at the discretion of o·ur Board and may be adjusted as bus41ess needs 
or market conditions change. 

In addition to the common stock disclosed on our balance sheets, 8 million shares of Class A voting preferred stock, 
$.01 par value per share, have bee:n authorized. At December 31, 2011, there were also 368 million undesignated 
shares that our Board has the power to divide into such classes and series, with such voting rights, designations, 
preferences, limitations and sp·ecial rights as our Board determines. 

16. Dividend Restrictions and Statutory Surplus 

Our business operations are cond.ucted through subsidiaries that principally consist ofHMOs and insurance 
companies. In addition to general state law restrictions on payments of divid~nds and other distributions to 
shareholders applicable to all corporations, HMOs and insurance companies are subject to further regulations that, 
among other things, may require such companies to maintain certain levels of equity and restrict the amount of 
dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent corporations. The additional regulations 
applicable to our HMO and ih~tµ"ance company subsidiaries are not expected to affect our ability to service our 
debt or to pay dividends. 

Under regulatory requirements at December 31, 2011, the amount of dividends that may be paid by our insurance 
and HMO subsidiaries without prior approval by regulatory authorities is approximately $1.6 billion in the 
aggregate. There are no such restrictions on distributions from Aema to its shareholders. During 2011 , our 
insurance and HMO subsidiaries paid approximately $2.5 billion of dividends to the Company. 

. . . 

The combined statutory net income for the years ended and combined statutory capital and smplus at December 
31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 for our insurance and HMO subsidiaries were as follows: 

(Millions) 

Statutory net income 

Statutory capital and swplus 

17. Reinsurance 

2011 

$ 1,871.7 
5,938.6 

2010 2009 
$ 1,779:7 ~ .::· .· l,308.8 

6,179.2 " . . 6,777.1 

Effective October 1, 1998, we reinsured certain policyholder liabilities and obligations related to individual life 
insuranc~ (in ~Cl~i'!:lil~tjon with our former parent company's sale of this business). These. transactions were in the 
fonn of indemnity reinsurance arrangements, whereby the assuming companies contractually assumed certain 
policyholder liabilities and obligations, although we remain directly obligated to policyholders. The liability 
related to our obligation is recorded in future policy benefits and policyholders' funds on our balance sheets. 
Assets related to and supporting these policies were transferred to the assuming companies, and we recorded a 
reinsurance recoverable. 

There is not a material difference between premiums on a ..yritten basis versus an earned basis. Reinsurance 
recoveries were approximately $83 million, $66 million and $56 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
Reinsurance recoverables related to these obligations were approximately $1 billion at December 31, 2011, 2010 
and 2009. At December 31, 2011 reinsurance recoverables with a carrying value of approXimately $906 million 
were associated with three reinsurers. 
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During 20 l O and 2011, we entered into agreements to reinsure certain Health Care insurance policies. We entered 
into contracts to reduce the risk of catastrophic loss which in tum reduces our statutory capital and surplus 
requirements. These contracts did not qualify for reinsurance accounting under GAAP, and consequently are 

accounted for using deposit accow1ting. 

Effective 201 I; we entered into certain three-year reinsurance agreements with unrelated insurers. These 
agreements allow us to reduce our required statutory capital and provide an aggregate of $390 million of 
collateralized excess of loss reinsurance coverage on a portion of Aetna's group Corrimercial Insured Health Care 
business. .... 

18. Commitments and Contingencies 

Guarantees 
We have the following guarantee arrangements at December 31, 2011. 

ASC Claim Funding Accounts - We have arrangements with certain banks for the processing of claim 
payments for our ASC customers. The banks maintain accounts to fund claims of our ASC customers. The 
customer is responsible for funding the amount paid by the bank each day. In these arrangements, we 
guaranke that the banks will not sustain losses if the responsible ASC customer does not properly fund its 
account. The aggregate maximum exposure under these arrangements is $250 million. We can limit our 
exposure to this guarantee by suspending the payment of claims for ASC customers· that have not 
adequately funded the amount paid by the bank. 

Indel1Ulification Agreements - In connection with certain acquisitions and dispositions of assets and/or 
businesses,· our various issuances of long-term debt and our reinsurance relationships with Vitality Re 
Lirnite~ and Vitality Re 11 Limited, we have incurred certain customary indemnification obligations to the 
applicable seller, purchaser, underwriters and/or various other participants. In general, we have agreed to 
indemnify the other party for certain losses relating to the assets or business that we purchased or sold or 
for other matters on terms that are customary for similar transactions. Certain portions of our 
indemnification obligations are capped at the applicable transaction price, while other arrangements are not 
subject to such a limit. At December 31, 2011, we do not believe that our future obligations under any of 
these agreements will be material to our financial position. 

Separate Accounts assets - Certain Separate Accounts assets associated with the Large Case Pensions 
business represent funds maintained as a contractual requirement to fund specific pension annuities that we 
have guaranteed. Minimum contractual obligations underlying the guaranteed benefits in these Separate 
Accounts were $3.9 billion and $3.8 billion at December .31, 2011 and 20 l 0, respectively. Refer to Note 2 
beginning on page 66 for additional information on Separate Accounts. Contract holders assume all 
investment and mortality risk and are required to maintain Separate Accounts balances at or above a 
specified level. The level of required funds is a function of the risk underlying the Separate Accounts' 
investment strategy. If contract holders do not maintain the required level of Separate Accounts assets to 
meet the annuity guarantees, we would establish an additional liability. Contract holders' balances in the 
Separate AcCOWlts at December 31, 2011 exceeded the value of the guaranteed benefit obligation. As a 
result, we were not required to maintain any additional liability for our related guarantees at December 31, 

2011. 

Guaranty Fund Assessments, Market Stabilization and. Other Non-Voluntary Risk Sharing Pools 
Under guaranty fund iaws e~isting in all states, insurers doirig business in those states can be assessed (up to 
prescribe.d limits) for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. The 
health insurance guaranty associations in which we participate that operate under these laws respond to insolvenCies 
of long-term care insurers as well as health insurers. Our assessments generally are based on a formula relating to 
our premiums in the state compared to the premiums of other insurers. Certain states allow assessments to be 
recovered as offsets to premium taxes. Some states have similar laws relating to HM:Os. The Pennsylvania 
Insurance .Commissioner has placed long-term care insurer Penn Treaty Network America Insurance Company and 
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one of its subsidiaries (collecti~ely, "Penn TreatY1
') in rehabilitation, an intennediate action before insolvency, and 

bas petitioned a state court for liquidation. We cannot predict when a decision will be made, although we believe it· 
is likely that the state court will rule within the next twelve months. If Penn Treaty is declared insolvent and placed 
in liquidation, we and other insurers likely would be assessed over a period of years by guaranty associations for the 
payments the guaranty associations are required to make to Penn Treaty policyholders. We are currently unable to 
predict the ultimate outeotne of, or reasonably estimate the loss or range of losses resulting from, this potential 
insolvency because we cannot.predict when the state court will render a decision, the amount of the insolvency, if 
any, the amount and timing of associ;ited guaranty association assessments or the amount or availability of potential 

·, .. .:;. ·,nf.fseL<., such as premium tax offsets. It is reasonably possible that in future reporting'pericids we may record a 
liabilily and expense relating io Penn Treaty or other insolvencies which could have a material adverse effect on our 
operating results, financial position· and cash fldws. While we have 'hist6ncally recovered more. than half of 
guaranty fund assessments thro.ugh statutorily permitted premium tax offsets, significant increases in assessments 
could lead to legislative and/or regulatory actions that may limit future offsets. 

HM:Os in certain states fo which we do business are subjeCt to assessments, including market stabilization and other 
risk-sharing pools, for which we are assessed charges based on incurred cla~ms, dem6graphic membership mix and 
oilier factors. We establish liabilities for these assessments based on applicabie laws and regulations. In certain 
states, the ultimate assessments we pay are dependent upon our experience relative to other entities subject to the 
assessment and the ultimate ·liability is not lqlown at the balance sheet date:' While the ultimate amoWlt of the · 
assessment is dependent upon the experi~nce of all pool participants, we believe we have adequate reserves to cover 
such assessments. 

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings 
Out-of Network Benefit Proceedings 
We are named as a defendant in several purported class actions and individual lawsuits arising out of our practices 
related to the payment of claims f 9r services· rendered to our members by health care providers with whom we do 
not have a contract ("out-of-netWork providers"). Among other things, these lawsuits allege that we paid too little 
to our health plan members and/or providers for these services, among other reasons, because 'of our use of data 
provided by Ingenix., Inc., a subsidiary of one of our competitors ("Ingenix"): Other major health insurers are the 
subject of similar litigation or have settled similar litigation. · 

Various plaintiffs who ¥C health care providers or medical associations seek to represent nationwide classes of out­
of-network providers.who provided services to our members during the period from 2001 to the present. Various 
plaintiffs who are members in our health plans seek to represent nationwide classes of our members' who received 
services from out-of-network providers during the period from 2001 to the present. Taken .togethe_r~~these lawsuits 
allege that we violated state law, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as atnend~d ("ERlSA"), 
the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act and federai antitrust Jaws, either acting alo'tre or in concert 
with our competitors. The purported classes seek reimbursement of ali unpaid benefits, recalculation and 
~epayment of deductible and coinsurance amounts, Wlspecifi.ed damages arid treble damages, statutory penalties, 
injunctive and declaratory relief, plus interest, costs and attorneys' fees, and seek to disqualify us from acting as a 
fiduciary of any benefit plan that is Subject to ERlSA.. Individual lawsuits that generally contain sin1ifar ailegations 
and seek similar relief have been brought by health plan members and out-of-network providers. 

The first class action case was commenced on July 30, 2007. The federal Judici!ll Panel on Multi-District Litigation 
(the ''MDL Panel") has consolidated ·these class action cases in the U.S. District Court for the District ofNew Jersey 
(the "New Jersey District Court") under the caption In re: Aetna VCR Litigation, MDL No. 2020 ("MDL 2020"). 
In addition, the MDL Panel has transferred the in'dividual lawsuits to MDL 2020. On May 9, 2011, the New Jersey 
District Court dismissed the physician plaintiffs from MDL 2020 without prejudice. the New Jersey District 
Court's action followed a ruling by the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida (the "Florida 
District C~urt") that the physician plaintiffs were enjoined from partiCipating in :MDL 2020 due to a priQr settlement 
nnd release. The physician plaintiffs have attempted to appeal the Florida District Court's ruling to the United 
S lnte~ Court of Appeals for the, Eleventh Circuit. 
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Discovery is substantially complete in MDL 2020, several motions are pending, and briefing on class certification 
has been completed. The cow1 has not set a trial date or a timetable for deciding class certification. We intend to 
vigorously defend ourselves against the claims brought in these cases. 

We also have received subpoenas and/or requests for d.ocuments and other infomiation from, and been investigated 
by, attorneys general and other state and/or federal regulators, legislators and agencies relating to our out-of­
network benefit payment practices. It is reasonably possible that others could initiate additional litigation or 
additional regulatory action against us with respect to our out-of-network benefit payment practices. 

CMS Actions 
On June 13, 201 l, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS") lifted the intermediate sanctions it had 
previously imposed on us that required us to suspend the enrollment of and marketing to new members of all Aetna 
Medicare Advantage and Standalone Prescription Drug Plan ("PDP") contracts. The sanctions related to our 
compliance with certain Medicare Part D requirements. We have resumed marketing our Medicare Advantage and 
PDP products and have been enrolling beneficiaries with effective dates on and after July 1, 2011. CMS still .is not 
assigning any new low income subsidy members to our PDPs at this time. However, low income subsidy members 
can make their own choice to enroll in Aetna products. As a result of these sanctions, our 2011 Medicare 
membership and operating results were adversely affected because we did not participate in the arurnal enrollment 
process for 2011. We continue to cooperate fully with CMS to address residual matters identified in connection 
with the sanction review. 

CMS regularly audits our performance to detennine our compliance with CM.S's regulations, our contracts with 
CMS and the quality of services we provide to our Medicare members. CMS uses various payment mechanisms to 
allocate and adjust premium payments to our and other.companies' Medicare plans by considering the applicable 
health status of Medicare members as supported by information maintained and provided by health care 
providers. We collect claim and encounter <;lata from providers and generally rely on providers to appropriately 
code their submissions and document their medical recor·a~: Medicare Advantage plans and PDPs receive increased 
premiums for members who have certain medical conditions identified with specific health condition 
codes. Federal regulators review and audit the providers' medical records and related health condition codes that 
detennine the members' health status and the resulting premium payments to us. CMS has instituted risk 
adjustment data validation ("RADY") audits of various Medicare Advantage plans, including two of Aetna's 
contracts for the 2007 contract year. Although these two audits are ongoing, we do not believe that they will have a 
material impact on our operating results, financial position or cash flows. 

We believe that the Office of the Inspector General (the "OIG") also is auditing risk adjustment data, and we expect 
CMS and the OIG to continue auditing risk adjustment data for the 200_7 contract year and beyond. Aetna and other 
Medicare Advantage organizations have provided cornrnents to CMS in response to CMS's December 2010 
proposed RADY sampling and paym.ent error calculation methodology by which CMS proposes to calculate and 
extrapolate RADY audit payment error rates for, and determine premium refunds payable by, Medicare Advantage 
plans. Our concerns with CMS's proposed methodology include the fact that the proposed methodology does not 
take into account the "error rate" in the original Medicare fee-for-service data that was used to develop the risk 
adjustment system and that retroactive audit and payment adjustments undermine the actuarial soundness of 
Medicare Advantage bids. CMS has indicated that it may make retroactive contract-level premium payment 
acjjustments based ori the results of these RADY audits,. which could occur during 2012. CMS 's premium 
adjustments could be implemented prior to our, or other Medicare Advantage plans, having an opportunity to appeal 
the audit or payment error cakulation results or methodology. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of 
CMS's final RADY au.dit methodology, other audits for the 2007 contract year or subsequent contract years, the 
amounts of any reti:oactive refunds of~ .or prospe_ctive adjµstmen.l:!> to, premium payments made to us, or whethe.r aiff 
audit findings would cause a change to om method of estimating future premium revenue in bid submissions to 
CMS for the current or future contract years or compromise premium assumpti~ms made in our bids for prior 
contract years. Any-premium refunds or adjustments resulting from regulatory audits, including those resulting 
from CMS's. selection of its final RADY audit methodology, whether as a result of RADY or other audits by CMS 
or OJG or otherwise, could be material and could adversely affect our operating results, financial position and cash 
flows. 
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Other Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings 
We are involved in numerous other lawsuits arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course.of our business 
operations, including employment litigation and claims of bad faith, medical malpractice, non-compliance with 
state and federal regulatory regimes, marketing misconduct, failure to timely or appropriately pay medical and/or 
group insurance claims (including post-payment audit and collection practices), rescission of insurance coverage, 
improper disclosure of personal infonnation, patent infringement and other intellectual property litigation and other 
litigation in our Health Care ·and Group Illsuran:ce businesses. Some of these other lawsuits are or are purported to 
be class actions. We intend to ·vigorously defend ourselves ·against-the claims brought in these matters. 

In addition, our operations, current and past business practices, current and past contracts, and accounts and other 
books and records are subject to routine, regµlar and special investigations, audits, examinations and reviews by, 
and from time to time we receive subpoenas and other requests for infonnatioti from, CMS, the U.S. Deparbnent of 
Health and Human Services, various state insurance arid health care regulatory authorities, state attorneys general 
and offices of inspector general, the Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight, the Office of the 
Inspector General, the Office of Persoruiel Management, committees, subcommittees and members of the· U.S. 
Congress, the U.S. Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. attorneys and other state and federal 
gQvemmental authorities. TI:iese gov~mment actions include 4iquiries by, and testimony befQre, certain members, 
committees and subcommittees of the U .S. Congress regarding certain of our current and. past business practices, 
including our overafl claims processing and payment practices, our business practices with respect to our small 
group products, student health products or individual customers (such as market withdrawals, rating information, 

. premium increases and medical benefit ratios), executive compensation matters and travel and entertainment 
expenses, as well as the investigations by, and subpoenas and requests from, attorneys general and others described 
above under "Out-of-Network Benefit Proceedings." There also continues to be heightened review by regulatory 
authorities of and increased litigation regarding the health care and related benefits industry's business and 
reporting practices, including premium rate increases, utilization management, complaint and grievance processing, 
information privacy, provider.network structure (including the use of performance-b_ased networks), delegated 
arrangements, rescission of insurance coverage, limited benefit health products, student health products, pharmacy 
benefit managen;ient practices, sales practices, and claim payment practices (including payments to out-of-network 
providers and payments on life insurance policies). For example, New York is one of over 35 states that are 
investigating life inslirers' claims payment and related escheat practices, and we have received requests for 
information from New York, Connecticut and Minnesota with respect to our life insurance claim payment and 
related escbeat practices. As a leading national health and related benefits company, we regularly are the subject of 
such government actions. These government actions may prevent or delay us from implementing plalUled premium 
rate increases and may result, and have resulted, in restrictions on our business, changes· to or clarifications of our 
business practices, retroactive adjustments to premiums, refunds or other payments to members, be~diciaries or 
states, assessments of damages, civil or criminal fines or penalties, or other sanctions, including the possible loss of 
licensure or suspension or exclusion from participation in government programs, such as the intennediate sanctions 
previously imposed on us by CMS that are described above under "CMS Actions." 

Estimating the probable losses or a range Of probable losses resulting from litigation, government actions and other 
legal proceedings is inherently difficult and requires an extensive degree of judgment, particularly where the 
matters involve indeterminate claims for monetary damages, may involve fines; penalties or punitive damages that 
are discretionary in amount, involve a large number of claimants or regulatory authbrities, represent a change in 
regulatory policy, present novel legal theories, are in.the early stages of the proceedings, are subject to appeal or 
could result in a change in business practices. In addition, because most legal proceedings are .resolved over long 
periods of time, potential losses are subject to change due to, among other things, new developments, changes in 
litigation strategy, the outcome of intermediate procedural and substantive rulings and other: parties' settlement 
post1.1re and their evaluation ·of the strength or weakness of their case against us. Except as specifically noted above 
under "CMS Actions" with respect to the two ongoing RADV audits for the 2007 contract year, we are cuirently 
unable to predict the ultimate outcomi: of; or reasonably estimate the losses· o; a range ~f foss~s resulting froni, the 
matters described above, and it is reasonably possible that their outcome could be material to.us. ·. 
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Other Obligations 
We have operating lea:;es for office space and certain computer and other equipment. Rental expenses for these 
items were $133 million, $152 million and $170 million in 201 l, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The future net 
minimum payments under non-cancelable leases for 2012 through 2016 are estimated to be $131 million, $103 
million, $83 million, $50 million.and $32 million, respectively. 

We also have funding obligations relating to equity limited partnership investments and commercial mortgage 
loans. The funding requirements for equity limited partnership investments and commercial mortgage loans for 
2012 thrqugh 2016 are .estimated to be $13 3 million, $7 5 million, $4 3 million, $25 million and $ J}.!lli!lio_n, 
respectively. · 

19. Segment Information~ 

Our operations are conducted in three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance a.Qd Large Case 
Pensions. Our Corporate Financing segment is not a business segment; it is added to our business segments in 
order to recon~ile io our consolidated results. The Corporate Financing segment includes interest expense on !)ur 
outstanding debt and th.e financing components of our pension and OPEB plan expense (the service cost 
components of this expense are allocated to our business segments). 

Summarized financial information of our segment operations for 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009 were as follows: 

Health Group Large Case Corporate Total 
(Millions) .... Care Insurance Pensions Financing Company 

2011 

Revenue from external customers s 30,793.9 $ 1,715.2 $ 172.0 s $ 32,681.1 

Net investment income 338.2 266.0 326.6 930.8 

Interest expense 246.9 246.9 

Depreciation and am·ortization expense 442.2 5.0 447.2 

Income taxes (benefits) 1,106.6 72.6 1.0 (88.l) _ 1,092.1 

Operating earnings (loss) (1) 1,955.7. 153.0 20.7 (163.7) 1,965.7 

Segment assets 21,697.4 5,392.6 . 11,503.1 38,593.1 

201.0 

Revenue !Tom external customers $ 31,023.9 $ 1,776.1 $ 162.2 $ $ 32,962.2 

Net investment income 418.8 275.I 362.4 1,056.3 

Interest expense 254.6 254.6 

Depreciation and amortization expense 437.5 6.9 444.4 

Income taxes (benefi~) 954.2 53.0 5.0 (134.8) 877.4 

Operating earnings (loss) (tJ 1,650.1 128.0 27.8 (250.5) 1,555.4 

Segment assets 20,881.5 5,039.3 11,818.6 37,739.4 

2009 

Revenue from external custome.-S s 31,631.6 $ 1,827.1 $ 183.8 $ s 33,642.5 

Net investment income 392.5 274.1 369.8 1,036.4 

Interest expense 243.4 243.4 

Depreciation BDd amortization expense 409.1 6 .9 41 6.0 

Income taxes (benefits) 744.9 38.7 8.5 (167.4) 624.7 

Operating earnings (loss) (IJ 1,412.7 103.8 32.2 (310.8) 1,237.9 

Segment assets 20,734.7 4,967.4 12,848.3 38,550.4 

(lj Operatin.g earnings (loss) ~xcludes net realized capitai gains or los~es and .the other items described in the reronciliation on page 109 .. 
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A reconciliation of operatirig earnings 0 > to net income in 2011, 2010 and 2009 was as follows: 

(Millions) 

Operating earnings 

Nc1 realized capital gains 

Volun13ry curly retirement program 

Transacticin-relatcd.costs 

Litigation-related insurance·proceeds 

Severance and facilities charge 

ESI settlement 

Net income 

$ 

s 

2011 

1,965.7 $ 

109.l 

(89.1) 

1,985.7 $ 

2010 

1,555.4 

183.8 

(43.1) 

101.5 

(30.8) 

1,766.8 

$ 

$ 

2009 

1,237.9 

55.0 

24.9 

(60.9) 

19.6 

1,276.5 

<•l In addition to net realized capital gains, the following other items are excluded from operating earnings because we believe they neither 
relate to the ordinary course of our business nor reflect our underlying business perfonnance: . 

In 2011, we announced a voluntary early retirement program. In connection with the voluntary early retirement program, we· 
recorded a one-time charge of$89.i million ($137.0 million pretax) during 201 i. 
In 2010, we recorded .transaction related costs of $43.1 million ($66.2 million pretax). These costs· related to our Phannacy 
Benefit Management Subcontract Agreement with CVS Caremark Corporation and the announced acquisition of Medicity. 
Following a Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruling in June 2009, we recorded litigation-related insurance proceeds of$·10JS 
million (SI 56.3 million' pretax) in 20 I 0 and $24.9 million ($38.2 million pretax) in 2009 from our liability insurers related to 
certain litigation we settled in 2003. · 
In 2010 and 2009, we reci:lrded severance and facilities charges of$30.8 million ($47.4 million pretax) and $60.9 million ($93.7 
million pretax.), respectively. The severance and facilities charges in each year related to actions taken that year or committed to 
be taken in the following year. 
In 2009, we reached an agreement with Express Scripts, Inc. and one of its subsidiaries (collectively "ESI") to settle certain 
litigation in which we were the plaintiff_ Under the applicable settlement, we received approximately $19.6 million ($30.2 
million pretax), net of fees and expenses, in 2009. 

Revenues from external customers by product in 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 

(Millions) . 
Health care premiums 
Health care fees and other revenue 

Group life 

Group disability 

Group long-term care 

Large case pensions .. 

Total revenue from external customers UH2> 

$ 

s 

2011 

. 27,189.2 $ 

3,604.7 

1,036.7 

632.6 

45.9 

172.0 

. 32,681.l $ 

2010 2009 
27,610.6 $ 28,243.8 

3,413.3 3,387.8 
1,084.9 1,095.6 

639.l 663.7 

52.l 67.8 

162.2 183.8 

32,962.2. $ 33,642.5 

(I) All within the U.S., except approximately $590 million, $429 million and $240 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, re~ectively, which 
were derived from foreign customers. 

(2) Revenue from the U.S. federal government was $7.0 billion, $7.5 billion and $7.2 billion in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, in the 
Health Care and Group Insurance .segments. These amounts exceeded 10 percent of our total revenue from external" customers in each of 
2011, 2010 and 2009. : 

The following is a reconciliation of revenue from external cus.tomers to total revenues included in our statements of 
income in 2011, 2010 and 2009: · 

(Millions) 2011 2010 . 2009 
Revenue from external customers $ 32,681.1 $ 32,962.2 $ 33,642.5 

Net invesnnent income 930.8 1,056.3 1,036.4 
ES! settlement c•> 30.2 
Ne1 rc3li 7.cd capital gains 167.9 227.5 55.0 
Total revenue . $. 33,779.8 $. 34,246.0 s 34,7~. J 

(I) In 2009, we reached an agreement with Express Scripts, Inc. and one of its subsidiaries (collectively "ESI''.) to settle certain litigation in 
which we were .the plaintiff. Under the applicable settlement, we received ajlpmx.imatcly $19.6. million ($30.2 million pretax), net of 
fees and expenses, in 2009. 
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Long-lived assets, which are principally within the U.S., were $557 million and $529 million at December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively. 

20. Discontinued Products 

Prior to 1993, we sold single-premium annuities ("SPAs'') and guaranteed in~estri:i·~~t ~~~tr~~-ts~('GICs"), p~imarily · 
to employer sponsored pension plans. In 1993, we discontinued selling these products to Large Case Pensions 
customers, and now we refer to these products as discontinued p1;oduc1$. 

j·. . . .... 

We discontlnue~f selling these products because they were generating losses 'for ~:·and we projected that they 
would continue· to gene rat~ losses over their life (which is currently greater than 30 years for SP As and less than S 
years for GICs); so we established a reserve for anticipated future losses at the time of discontinuance. This reserVe 
represents the present value (at the _risk-free rate of return at the time of discontinuance, consistent with the duration 
of the liabilities) of the difference between the expected cash flows from the assets supporting these products and 
the cash flows e~pected to be required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Because we projected 
anticipated cash shortfalls in our discontinued products, at the time of discontinuance we established a receivable 
from Large Case Pensions• continuin·g products (which is eliminated in consolidation). . 

Key assumptions in setting this reserve include future investment results, paymems to retirees, mortality and 
retirement rates and the cost of asset management and customer service. In 1997, we began the use of a bond 
default assumption to reflect historical default experience. In 1995, we modified the mortality tables used in order 
to reflect a more up-to-date 1994 Uninsured Pensioner's Mortality table. Other than these changes, since 1993 
there have been no significant changes to the assumptions u~derlying the reserve. 

We review the adequacy of this reserve quarterly based on actUal experience. As long as our expectation of future 
losses remains consistent with prior projections, the results of the discontinued productS are applied to the reserve 
and do not affect net income. Howeyer, if actual or expected fµture losses are greater thao·we currently estimate, 
we may increase the reserve, which could adver~ely impact net income .. Ir'actUal or expected future losses are less 
than we currently estimate, we may decrease the reserve, which could favorably impact net income. As a result of 
this review, the reserve at each of December 31, 2011 and 20 JO reflects management's best estimate of anticipated 
future losses, and is included in future policy benefits on our balance sheet. 

The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses. on discontinued products in 2011, 20 I 0 and 2009 was as 
follows (pretax): 

(Millions) 

Reserve, beginning of period 

Operating loss 

· Net realized capital gains (losses) 

Cumulative effect of new accounting standard a.S of April I, 2009<1l 

Reserve, end of period 

s . 

$ 

:WU 

884.8 $ 

(16.9) 

28.4 

896.3 $ 

2010 2009 

789.2 $ 790.4 

(15.4) (34.8) 

111 .0 (8.5) 

42.I 

884.8 $ 789.2 

(I) The adoption .of new accounting guidance from other-than-temporary impairments of debt securities iri 2009 resulted in a cumulative 
effect adjustment at April I, 2009. Refer to Note 2 beginning on page 66 for additional information. This amount is not reflected in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss and retained earnings in our shareholders' equity since the results of discontinued products do not 
impact our ·operatin'g results. · 

In 2011, our discontiitued products reflected net realized capital gains, primarily attributable to gains from the sale 
of debt securities partially offset by losses from derivative transactions. In 2010, our discontinued products 
reflected net realized capital gains, primarily attributable to gains from the sale of debt securities and investment 
real estate. In 2009, discontiriued products reflected net realized capital losses attributable to 'the unfavorable 
investment conditio_ns that existed during the first half of 2009. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, our discontinued 
products also reflected operating losses. We evaluated the operating loss in 20 I I against our expectations of future 
cash.flows_ assumed in estimating the reserve and concluded that no adjustment to the reserve was required at 
December 31, 2011. 
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The anticipated run-off of the discontinued products reserve balance at December 31, 2011 (assuming that assets are 
held until maturity and that the reserve run-off is proportional to the liability run-ofl) is as follows: 

(Millions) 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

Thereafter 

~-i .,; 

Assets and liabilities supporting discontinued products at 2011 and 2010 were as follows: <1> 

(Millions) 

Assets: 

Debt and equity securiti~s available for sale s 
Mortgage loans . 

Other investments 

Total investments 

Other assets 

Collateral received under securities loan agreements 

Current md deferred income taxes 

Receival:le from continuing products (2) 

Total RsselS s 

Liabilities: 

FutW"e policy benefits s 
Policyholders' funds 

Reserve :or anticipated futuie losses on discontinued products 

Collateral payable under securities loan agreements 

Other Ii alilities ()) 

Total liabilities s 

2011 

2,589.7 

_437.1 

619.2 

3,646.0 

130.0 

15.7 

523.2 

4,314.9 

3,005.8 

8.2 

896.3 

404.6 

4,314.9 

CIJ Assets supporting the discontinued products are distinguished from assets supporting continuing products. .. 

s 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

47.9 
47.0 

46.0 

44.9 

"43.6 

666.9 

2010 

2,611.9 

498.8 

601 .6 

3,712.3 

90.4 

35.I 

2().7 

492.4 

4,350.9 

. 3,162.2 

10.2 

884.8 

35.1 

258.6 

4,350.9 

(lJ The re;:eivablc from continuing products is eliminated in consolidation. ·-
Cll Net unrealized capital gains on the available-for-sale debt securities are included in other liabilities and are not ref!ected in consolidated 

shareholders' equity. 

The disccntinued products investment portfolio has changed since inception. Mortgage loans have decreased from 
$5;4 billio·n (37% of the investment portfolio) at December 31, 1993 tO $437 million (12% of the investment 
portfolio) at December 31, 2011 . This was a result of maturities, prepayments and the securitization and sale of 
commercial mortgages. Also, real estate decreased from $500 million (4% of the investment portfolio) at·.December 
31, 1993 to $67 inillion (2% of the investment portfolio) at December 31, 2011, primarily as a result of sales. The 
resulting proceeds were primarily reinvested in debt and equity securities. Over time, the then-existing mortgage 
loan and real estate portfolios and the reinvested proceeds have resulted in greater investment returns than we 
originally assumed in 1993. 
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At December 31, 201 J~ the expected run-off of the SPA and GIC liabilities, including future interest, was as 
follows: 

(Millions) 

2012 $ 423.4 

2013 410.6 

2014 . . 387;0 

2015 369.6 

2016 352.4 

Thereafter ·· ... :-~:·:~. 4,475.5 

The expected run-off of the SPA and GIC liabilities can vary from actual due to several factors, including, among 
other things, contract holders redeeming their contracts prior to· contract maturity or additional amounts received 
from existing contracts. The liability expected at December 31, 1993 and actual liabilitY balances at December 31, 
2011; 2010 and 2009 for the GIC and SPA liabilities were as follows: 

Expected Actual 

(Millions) G.IC SPA GIC 
.2009 $ 19.1 $ ' 3,103.9 $ 12.1 $ 

2010 18.0 2,943.5 10.2 

2011 17.0 2,780.S 8.2 

The GIC balances were lower than expected in each period because several contract holders redeemed their 
contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA balances in each period were higher than expected because of 
additional amounts received under existing contracts. 

SPA 
3,301.0 
3,162.2 
3,005.8 

The distributions on our discontinued products consisted of scheduled contract maturities, settlements and benefit 
payments of$412.0 million, $432.2 million and $447.l million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 
2009, resp~ctively. Participant-directed withdrawal~ from our discontinued products were not significant in' the 
yeaI_'S ended ended December 31, 2011, 2010 or 2009. Cash required to fund these distributions was provided by 
earnings and scheduled payments on, and sales of, invested assets. 

21. Subsequent Events 

In January 2012, we entered into three-year reinsurance agreements with Vitality Re Ill Limited, an unrelated 
insurer. The agreements allow us to reduce our required statutory capital and provide $150 million of collateralized 
excess of loss reinsurance coverage on a portion of Aetna's group Commercial Insured Health Care business. 

On February 24, 2012, our Board declared a cash dividend of $.175 per common share that will be paid on April 27, 
2012, to shareholders ofrecord at the close of business on April· 12, 2012. . 

Also on February 24, 2012, our Board approved a new share repw-chase program that authorizes us to repurchase up 
to $750 million of our common stock. 
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Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting 
("ICOFR"} for the Company. ICOFR is defined as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and ·tlie preparation of financial statementS for exteqlal purposes in accordance 
with GAAP .. 

Our I CO FR process includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
.: · ~- =-:.reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our-.assetS; (ii) provide reasonable 

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of our manag·ement and directors; and (iii} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of\Ulauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our 
consolidated financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitati9ns, I CO FR may not prevent or detect misstatements: Further, projections of any 
evaluation of ef'fectiven~ss to furure periods. are subject to the .risk that controls may become µiadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree ·of. compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. · 

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive an~ Chief Financial 
. Officers, management assessed the effectiveness of our ICOFR at December 31, 201 i. In making this assessment, 
management used the framework set forth by the Conunittee of Sponsoring· Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission in "Inrernal Control - integrated Framework" Based on this assessment, management concluded that 
our TCOFR was effective at December 31, 2011. Our ICOFR as well as our consolidated financial statements have 
been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is 
included on page 114. · 

Management's Responsibility for Financial Statemen~s 
Management is responsible for ·our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 
GAAP. Management believes the consolidated financial statements, and other financial infonnation includ.ed in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects our financial ~osition, results of operations and cash flows as of and for 
the periods presented in this report. 

The financial statements are the product of a number of processes that include the gathering of financial data 
developed from the records ~four day-to-day business transactions. Informed judgments and estimates are used for 
those transactions not yet complete or for which the ultimate effects cannot be measured precisely.uWe emphasize 
the selection and training of personnel who are qualified to perform.these functions. In addition, our personnel are 
subject to rigorous standards of ethical conduct that are widely communicated throughout the organization. 

The Audit Committee of Aetna's Board of Directors engages KPMG LLP, an independent registered public 
accounting firm, to audit our consolidated financial statements and express theil opinion thereon. Members of that 
firm also have the right of full access to each member of management in conducting their audits. The report of 
KPMG LLP on their audit of our consolidated fmancial statements appears on page 114. 

Audit Committee Oversight 
The Audit Committee of Aetna's Board of Directors is comprised solely of independent directors. The Audit 
Committee meets regularly with management, our internal auditors and KPMG LLP to oversee and monitor the 
work of each and to inquire of each as to their assessment of the performance of the others in their work relating to 
our consolidated financial statements and ICOFR. Both KPMG LLP and our internal auditors have, at all times, the 
right of full access to the Audit Committee, without management present, to discuss any matter they beli~ve should 
be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee. 
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KPMG LLP 
One Financial Plaza 
755 Main Street 
Hartford, CT 06103 

Reporf.<!f.Independe~t Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Aetna Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries 
(the "Company") as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the yea.i's in the three-year' period ended 
December 31, 201 l. We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, 
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 
Managemen.t's Repoft on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company's 
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
mi,sstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on 
a test basis, e.vidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing_ the a.ccounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also 
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. · 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable ~surance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generaJJy accepted accounting 
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (I) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable a.5surance that transactions are record~d as necessary to· pennit preparation of 
·financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accor<J~_ce.with authorizations 

llPMG UP is • Oelaw•t• limll•O U.bW!y partn11sl1ip, 
Ille U.S. membor rrm cl KPMG 1n1ema11on•I Coopmuw 
("KPMG llllemOllon.r): a Swiss e(llily. 
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The Board of Directors arid Shareholders 
Aetna Inc. 
Page 2 of2 

of management and directol'S of the company; aJ!~;(3)<provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely dete·ction_ of unauthorized acquisition, use,.or disposition of the company's 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent iimitations, inte~al control over financial reporting may not prevent or 
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls tnay become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with. the policies or procedures may Qeteriorate .. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended 
December 31, 2011, in. confo~ity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in 
our opinion, the Comp.any maintained, in· all material respects, effective inte~al control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
fncegrated Framework issued by COSO. 

February 24, 2012 

.. · 
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Quarterly Data (Unaudited) 

°(Millions, except per share and common stock data) First Second Third Fourth 

2011 

Total revenue s 8,387.8 $ 8,344.4 s 8,475.3 $ 8,572.3 

Income before income taxes s 898.4 s 82J.J. s 751.4 $ 606.9 

Income taXes (312.4) (284.4) (261.0) (234.3) 

Net income ..• $ 586.0 $ 536.7 $ 490.4 $ 372.6 

Net i~come per share - basic <
1> • $ 1.Sl $ 1.42 s 1.33 $ 1.04 

Net income per share ~diluted (I) 1.50 1.39 1.30 1.02 

Dividends declared per share s .IS s .IS $ .IS $ .175 

Common stock prices, high 38.87 45.91 . 45.23 43.73 

·Common stock prices, low 31.04 36.52 34.55 34.33 

20l0 

Total revenue $ 8,621.5 $ 8,545.8 $ 8,538.8 $ 8,539.9 

Income before income tax.es $ 801.0 $ 763.S $ 767.2 $ 312.5 

Income taxes (238.4) (272.5) (269.6) (96.9) 

Net income $ 562.6 $ 491.0. $ 497.6 $ 215.6 

Net income per share - basic Cl> $ 1.30 $ I. 16 $ 1.21 $ .54 

Net income per share - diluted<•> 1.28 1.14 1.19 .53 

Dividends declared per·share $ $ $ .04 $ 

Common stock prices, high 35.38 35.17 31.61 31.99 

Common stock prices, low 28.63 26.38 25.99 29.62 

(I) 
Calculation of net income per share is based on weighted average shares outstanding during each quarter and, accordingly, the sum may 
not equ11I L'ie total for the year. ' · " · 
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Corporate Perf()rmance Graph 

The following graph oompares the cumulative total shareholder return on om ~ommon stock (~ssuming 
reinvestment of dividends) with the _cumulative total return on the published Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index 
("S&P 500';) and the cumulative tot.ii return on the published Morgan Stanley Healthcare Payors Index ("MSHPI") 
froin December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2011. The graph assumes a $100 investment in shares of our 
common stock on. December 31, 2006. 

(I) 

Cumulative Total Return from Oec.~mber ~1, ~006 to.Oec:ember 31", 2011 
. of'Aetraa-Co~on ·stock; s·&p s6o'. and· MS.HPi . . . . .. .. . ... . . " . . . . 

$ .60.00 

$ 40.00 

£ 20.00. 

$ ' 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 
· .~ 0AET $100.00 ........ . ·51'33.79.· S66: 1.6 S73.~9 57J.O~ S9P4 

•'84.05· 96.71 98.76 
•.' .... .~ S&P foo:oo 105:49: 66,4~ 

-6- M$HPli1.!· 100'.00 .t.1~:21 -~-~-Sl ~Q;63' ~2:74 1.2~:~2 

At December 31, 2011, the companies included in the MSHPI were: Aetna Inc., Amerigroup Corporation, Centene 
Corporation, CIGNA Corp~ratiqn, Coventry Health Care, Inc., Health Net, Inc., Humana Inc., Molina Healthcare, Inc., 
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, Wellcare Health Plans, Inc. and Wellpoint, Inc. 

Shareholder returns over the period shown on the corporate performance graph should not be considered indicative 
of future shareholder returns. · 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE SECRETARY 

'Board of Directors 

Fernando Aguirre Barbara Hack~an Franklin 
Chairman, President and President and Chief Executive Officer 
Chief Executi~e Officer Barbara Franklin Enterprises 
Chiquita Brands International, Inc. Former U.S. Secretary of Commerce 

Mark T. Bertolini Jeffrey E. Garten 
.. <;hairman,Chief Executive Officer- and Juan Trippe Professor in the P.r:_~ctic_,'!J.; 

President of International Trade,' Finance and 
Aetna Inc. Business 

Yale Univer$ity 
Frank M. Clark 
Former Ch!lirmqn and Chief Executive Gerald Greenwald"' 
Officer 

' 
Founding Principal 

Commonwe2.lth Edison Company Greenbriar Equity Group 
Retired Chairman and Chief 

Betsy Z. Cohen Executive Officer 
Chief Executive Officer UAL Corporation 
The Bancorp, Inc. 

Ellen M. Hancock 
Molly J. Coye, M.D. Former ~resident 
Chief Innovation Officer Jazz Technologies, Inc. 
UCLA Health System Former Chairman and Chief 

Roger N. Farah 
Executive Officer 
Exodus .Communications, Inc. 

President, Chief Operating Officer and 
Director 
Ralph Lauren Comoration 

Management 

Mark T. Bertolini · . :-rMargaret M. McCarthy 
Chairman. Chief Executive Officer and ExecuUve Vice President, 
President Operations and Technology 

William J. Casazza Frank G. McCauley 
Senio,r Vice President and General 
Counsel· 

Jeff D. Emerson 
Senior Vice President, 
Health Care Management and Regions 

Kristi Ann Matus 
Executive Vice President, 
Gov.ernment Services 

. Corporate Secretary 

Judith H. Jones 
Vice President and Cor orate Secreto 

Executive Vice President, 
Commercial Businesses 

Robert M. Mead 
Senior Vice President, 
Marketing, Product and 
. Communications 

Sandip Patel 
Senior Vice President, 
International Businesses 
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Richard J. Harrington 
Chairman 
The Cue Ball Group 
Former President and Chief Executive 
Officer 
The Thomson Corporation 

Edward J . Ludwig 
Chairman of the Board 
Becton, Dickinson and Company 

Joseph P. Newhouse 
John D. MacArthur Professor of 
Health Policy·and Management 
Harvard University 

* Mr. Greenwald will not stand for 
election at the 2012 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders and will retire frorn 'the 
Board immediately prior t!> the Annual 
Meeting. 

Lonriy Reisman, M.D. 
Senior Vice Presiderit, Chief Medical 
Officer 

Elease E. Wright 
Senior Vice President, 
Human Resources 

Joseph M. Zubretsky 
Senior Executive Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer and Chief 
Enterprise Risk Officer 



SHAREHOLDIR INFORMATION 

Annual Meeting 
The annual meeting of shareholder.i of Aetna Inc. ("Aetna" or the "Company") will be held on Friday, May 18, 2012, 
at the Gaylord Opryland Hotel & Convention Center in Nashville, Tennessee. 

Corporate Headquarters 
J 51 Fanning ton A venue 
Hartford, CT0915§i .. 
Phone:860-273-0123 

Stock Exchange Listing 

i. · ~.. . -! : ·. ~. 

Aetna's common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). The NYSE symbol for the common 
· shares· is AET. As ofJa.nuari 31; 2012·; there· were 8,454 ·record holders ·of Aetiia's· con1mon shares. · · 

Website Access to Aetna's Periodic and Current Reports and Corporate Governance Materials 
Aetna makes available free of charge through its website at www.aetna.com its Annual Reports on Form 
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendmerits to those reports as soon as 
reasonably practicable after Aetna electronically files or furnishes such materials with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Aetna also makes available free of charge through its website the Company's 
Annual Report, Financial Report to Shareholders, Proxy Statements and quarterly financial results. Shareholders 
may request printed copies of these reports free of charge by calling 1-800-237~4273. 

Aetna's Annual Report on Form 10-K provides additional details about the Company's business as well as other 
financial information not induded in this Annual Report, Financial Report to Shatehoider5. To· receive a ·copy·ofthc 
Annual Report ·on Form 10-K without charge, call 1-800-237-4273 or mail a written request to Judith B. Jones, 
Aetna's Corp·orate Secretary, atl51 Farmington Avenue, RW61, Hartford, CT 06156. 

Shareholders may call l-800-237-4273 to listen to the Company's latest quarterly earnings ·release and dividend 
infonnation. 

Also available on Aetna's website at www.aetna.com/governance are the following Aetna corporate governance 
materials: Artic1es oflncotporation and By-Laws; Code of Conduct for Directors, officers arid employees (and 
information regarding any amendments or waivers relating to Aetna's Directors, executive officers and principal 
financial and accounting officers or persons perfonnirig similar functions); Independence Standards 'for Directors; 
Corporate Governance Ouidelines; Boa.rd of Directors; and Charters for the key standing Committees of the Board of 
Directors (Audit Committee, Committee on Compensation and Organi.zation, Executive Committee; Investment and 
Finance Committee, Medical Affairs Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee). 

Section 16 reports are filed with the SEC by Aetna on behalf of Directors and those officers subject to Section 16 of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, to reflect a change in their beneficial ownership of Aetna's 
securities. Such reports are available through Aetna's website at www.aetna.com. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors can be contacted confidentially by those seeking to raise concerns or 
complaints about the Company's accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters by calling AlertLine®, an 
independent toil-free service, at 1-888-891-8910 (available seven days a week, 24 hours a day), or by writing: 

Corporate Compliance 
P.O. Box 370205 
West.Hartford, CT 06137-0205 

Anyone wishing to make their concerns known to Aetna's nonmanagement Directors or the Lead Director or to send a 
communication to the entire Board of Directors may contact Aetna's Lead Director by writing to P.O. Box 370205, 
West Hartford, CT 06137-0205. All communications will be kept confidential and forwarded directly to the Lead 
Director. Aclna's Lead Director, among other things, presides over the independent Directors' sessions. To contact 
Aetna's Chainnari you may write to Chairman at Aetna Inc., 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, CT 06 i.56. 
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Investor Relations 
Securities analysts and institutional investors can contact: 

Thomas F. Cowhey 
Vice President, Investor Relations 
Phone: 860-273-2402 
Fax: 860-273-4191 
e-mail address: CowheyT@aetna.com 

Sharehorder Services 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A. ("Compute.r:sl)a,re.'.:), Aetn~'s. transfer agent and registrar, maintains a telephone 
response center and a website to service registered shareholder accounts. Registered share~olders may contact 
Computershare to inquire about replacement' dividend checks, address changes, stock transfers and other account 
matters. 

Computershare Investment Plan ("C/P'') 
Current shareholders and new investors can purchase Aetna common shares and reinvest cash dividends through.the 
CIP sponsored by Computershare. 
Contacting Computershare by mail: 

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 
P.O. Box 43078 
Providence, RI 02940-3078 

Contacting Compu,ershare by telephone: 
l-800-446-2617 or I-781-575-2725 

Contacting Computershare by Internet: 
www.computershare.com/investor 
Current registered shareholders who have a user ID and password can access account information under 
"Login." New users can dick "Create Login" to set up their user ID and password for the first time. 

New investors in the CJP: 
Click "buy stock direct" and search by ticker symbol "AET" to view or print the plan materials and/or to open a 
new shareholder account completely online; . 

. -~ 

Electronic Delivery of Shareholder Materials 
Shareholders may participate in a program to receive Aetna shareholder meeting materials online, including annual 
reports, notices of annual and· special meetings, proxy statements and proxy cards online. ·To consent to receive annual 
meeting materials and materials for any special shareholder meeting over the internet rather than by mail, visit any one 
of the websites below that applies: · 

Beneficial Shareholder: 
If you hold ymrr stock through a bank or broker, you can enroll if your bank or broker is among the majority that 
participates in this electronic delivery service. You will need your account number. To enroll visit: 
http://enroll.icsdelivery.com/aet 

Registered Shareholder: . 
If your shares are registered directly in your name with Aetna' s transfer agent, Computershare, to enroll visit: 
www.computershare-na.co1J1/green/ 
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Other Shareholder Inquiries 
Office of the Corporate Secretary 
Aetna Inc. 
151 Farmington Avenue, RW61 
Hartford, CT 06156-3215 
Fax: 860-293-1361 
l:-rnai·l adrJress: Sha1·eholderRelations@aetila.com 

Aetna Equity-Based Grant Participants and Aetna Employee Stock Purchase Plan Participants 
;,-;._.., .. Employees with outstanding equity-based grants (stock options, stock appreciationo-rights; market stock units, restricted 

stock units, performance stock units) or who own shares acquired through the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
. ("ESPP") should address all questions to UBS Financial Services, Inc. regarding their accounts, outstanding grants or 
shares received through exercises, market stock unit vesting, restricted stock unit vesting, performance stock unit 

.· ve~ting or ESPP purchases. · ..... 
·UBS Firiandai Seririces,' Inc.· 
Corporate Employee Financial Services 
499 Washington Boulevard; 9th Floor 
Jersey City, NJ 07310.USA 
Phone: 1-888-793-763i' · · 
(TTY for the hearing impaired: l-87'7-352-35'95) 

Online access to UBS. 
www.ubs.com/onesou rce/aet 
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